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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE
STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to
which a higher investment risk may be attached
than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should
make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally
small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to
high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid
market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
annual report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole
or any part of the contents of this annual report.

This annual report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of
Sanbase Corporation Limited (the “Company’) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for
the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company.
The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm
that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information
contained in this annual report is accurate and complete in all
material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this annual report misleading.
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NAEEHR
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ER®E

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors of Sanbase
Corporation Limited (“Sanbase Corporation” or the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), |
hereby present the audited condensed consolidated results of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year”).

Entering the second half of 2023/24, as affected by high
interest rate environment, unstable geopolitical situation and
slower post-pandemic recovery than expectation, the pace
of corporate expansion has been slowed down, resulting in
weak demand for Grade A commercial properties, which had
certain impact on the fit-out service industry in Hong Kong. As
shown in a Knight Frank survey, Hong Kong’s overall Grade A
commercial property vacancy rate was 12.2% in the first quarter
of 2024, representing an increase of 0.7 percentage points from
the fourth quarter of 2023. In order to alleviate the pressure
of high vacancy rates, a part of Grade A commercial buildings
have begun to provide preferential measures to enterprises,
including fit-out subsidies and free supporting facilities, in a bid
to seek more enterprises to relocate to Grade A commercial
buildings.

As a result of uncertain market sentiment, the Group, as a
service provider of the office leasing industry, would inevitably
be affected to a certain extent. With the concerted efforts of its
team, the Group continued to acquire additional projects under
a challenging environment, partially offsetting the unfavourable
impact of the macro environment. Looking at the full-year
performance, the Group’s revenue decreased by 17.3% year-
on-year to HK$428 million.

In short term, the Group will continue to improve its
subcontractor portfolio and actively identify quality
subcontractors with competitive pricing in order to secure
higher profit margins while ensuring construction quality. At
the same time, the Group is developing decoration projects
outside Grade A commercial buildings, including services for
schools and non-governmental organization, etc., with a view
to diversifying its business and thus reducing operational risks.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ER®E

In long term, the Group remains confident in the Grade
A commercial property fit-out industry. As a number of
commercial properties will be completed in the next one to two
years, we believe that the market will regain demand for fit-out
services. In the medium to long run, large-size development
plans including the northern metropolitan area and artificial
islands in the central waters, as well as mainland companies
listing in Hong Kong and family offices settling in Hong Kong,
are believed to provide certain support for the demand for
Grade A commercial properties, thereby promoting the Group’s
result growth.

Lastly, | would like to express my gratitude to our Board
members, staff and shareholders for their support to Sanbase
Corporation. We will continue to uphold the corporate motto
of “To Do Better” to provide customers with the highest quality
services, so as to bring the Group’s development to a new level
and better returns to shareholders.

Chairman of the Board
WONG Sai Chuen

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

BB

Revenue
Gross profit

Gross profit margin

Profit before income tax

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners
of the Company

Basic and diluted (loss)/earnings
per share
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Audited
RER

Year ended 31 March
HZE3A3MBLEE

2024
20245
HKD’000
FET

428,077
25,192

5.9%

1,749

(1,369)

HK cents
B

(0.69)

2023
20234
HKD’000
FET
(Restated)
(seE5)
(Note 2)
(Hti#2)

517,599
33,165

6.4%

4,128

751

HK cents
JEN

0.38

Change in
percentage
BOLLE

-17.3%
-24.0%

-0.5ppt
-0.518H 7 B

-57.6%

N/A
A58 A

N/A



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an interior fit-out solutions provider focusing on
providing services to clients whose offices are predominately
situated in Grade A offices in Hong Kong and the PRC. Our role
in these fit-out projects entails the overall project management,
coordination and implementation of fit-out projects by engaging
subcontractors from different trades for their services and
labour, providing expertise such as controlling the quality
aspects of the projects and carrying out the corresponding
project management.

Our projects can be broadly categorised into (i) bare shell
fit-out which is undertaken in the interior space of a vacant
premise having basic flooring and plastered walls; (ii) restacking
which involves upgrading and re-planning and providing
modification works to existing interior structures of a premise;
(iii) reinstatement which involves demolishing any additional
moveable structure that the existing tenant installed; (iv) design;
(v) churn works; and (vi) maintenance and others which involve
providing minor repairs and general builder’s maintenance work
to the tenant's office facilities, pest control and emergency
call services, project management services and mechanical,
electrical and plumbing (the “MEP”) consultancy services.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded
a decrease in revenue of 17.3% to HKD428.1 million from
HKD517.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2023. The
decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue
from the business of restacking. The Group’s gross profit
decreased to HKD25.2 million for the year ended 31 March
2024 from HKD33.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2023,
representing a decrease of 24.0%.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the loss attributable to
owners of the Company was HKD1.4 million while the profit
attributable to owners of the Company was HKDO0.8 million
for the corresponding period of last year (i.e., the year ended
31 March 2023).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
The Group’s revenue is principally generated from (i) bare shell
fit-out; (i) restacking; (iii) reinstatement; (iv) design; (v) churn

works; and (vi) maintenance and others. For the year ended 31
March 2024, the revenue of the Group was HKD428.1 million,
representing a decrease of 17.3% compared with HKD517.6
million recorded last year. The decrease was mainly attributable
to the decrease in revenue from the restacking.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s
revenue by project types for the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023:

Bt 7 [ R

KA

AEEBMNBRAETERBHELERE: (i) EE:
R:(v)&a: WWEBEIR RVIREREM -HE
2024F3H31BIEFE AL B MK A B428.18 85
T BREFHS17.68 B TR P17.3% ° 2 W AR
FERHREBEEHKARD -

TREHAEEE Z20249F K2023F3A831H IEFE
BRI B A E D AU AR A -

Year ended 31 March
B Z3A31BLEE

2024 2023
20244 20234

HKD’000 % HKD’000 %
FET B FAET B2t

Project type HEEA
Bare shell fit-out ERFEEE 375,240 87.7 345,987 66.8
Restacking B 22,375 5.2 145,647 28.1
Reinstatement 2R - - 4,419 0.9
Design B 5,201 1.2 3,862 0.7
Churn works TRIIE 24,288 5.7 16,860 3.3
Maintenance and others REREM 973 0.2 824 0.2
Total #st 428,077 100.0 517,599 100.0

As shown in table above, our bare shell fit-out contributed to
87.7% and 66.8% of the Group’s total revenue for the year
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, respectively. Revenue from
bare shell fit-out was HKD375.2 million for the year ended 31
March 2024, representing an increase of 8.5% compared with
HKD346.0 million recorded last year.

From 1 April 2023 and up to 31 March 2024, we were newly
awarded a total of 37 bare shell fit-out projects with a total
project sum of HKD268.8 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Cost of sales and direct margin

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised of subcontracting
charges and staff costs. Cost of sales for the year ended
31 March 2024 was HKD402.9 million, representing a decrease
of 16.8% compared with HKD484.4 million recorded last year.
The decrease was in line with the decrease in revenue.

Defined as revenue less subcontracting costs, cleaning
expenses, insurance expenses and security expenses, the
direct margin of the Group indicates the overall project
profitability before taking into account other fixed costs. The
following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s direct
margin by project types for the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023:

Bt 7 BB ()

HERAREZMNE
REBRBEERKATEZERRESBERARE TRA#
F2024F3HABIHEFEMHEEN AN B402.98 B8
TR EFHA484.48 8B TR 2 16.8% ° :ZR 2 B I
AR D=5

AEBEEFNBTEAERARSBRA - BRER -
RBAXRARLTHAT  TIRFT REME TR AR ZEEE
HEAFBER - TR A& B H E20245F K2023F
SH3BHIEFEREBEE RIS S B EE T HAME:

Year ended 31 March
HZEZ3A31BLLEE

2024 2023
2024F 20234

% of % of
HKD’000 revenue HKD’000 revenue
FET LKA ZDE FET KA EGZHE

Project type HEER
Bare shell fit-out ERFEEE 49,213 13.1 41,710 12.1
Restacking - 490 2.2 16,209 11.1
Reinstatement ZEIR - - 4,111 93.0
Design B 3,935 75.7 2,628 68.0
Churn works EWRTIE 6,086 25.1 1,977 11.7
Maintenance and others REREM 653 67.1 215 26.1
Total et 60,377 14.1 66,850 12.9

The Group’s overall direct margin was HKD60.4 million for
the year ended 31 March 2024, representing a decrease of
9.7% compared with HKD66.9 million recorded last year of the
Group. The direct margin ratio for the year ended 31 March
2024 was 14.1%, representing an increase of 1.2 percentage
points compared with 12.9% for the corresponding period of
last year. Such decrease in the direct margin was primarily due
to the decrease of direct margin from restacking.

HE2024F3A31B L FE AEENEREHEEZFE
BEOABEBEIL BWASE XF /6698 BE LD
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Other income

Other income for the current year (i.e., the year ended 31
March 2024) was HKD5,000, representing a decrease of 99.7%
as compared with HKD1.7 million for the corresponding period
of last year. The Group received the government subsidies
from the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region under the Employment Support Scheme and the
Distance Business Programme during the previous year, but no
such subsidies were available during the current year.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses was HKD26.7 million for the current
year, representing a decrease of 7.3% as compared with
HKD28.8 million recorded last year. Such decrease was
primarily attributable to (i) a decrease of HKD1.7 million in
administrative staff costs and (i) a decrease of HKDO.6 million
in depreciation on property, plant and equipment.

Finance costs

Finance costs which comprised mainly the interest on the lease
liabilities was HKDO.1 million for the year ended 31 March 2024
(2023: HKDO.1 million).

Income tax expense
Income tax expense for the current year was HKD1.0 million
while income tax expense for last year was HKD1.5 million.

Profit for the year

Net profit was HKDO.7 million for the year ended 31 March
2024 while net profit of HKD2.6 million was recorded for last
year.

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company was HKD1.4 million
for the year ended 31 March 2024, while profit attributable to
owners of the Company was HKDO.8 million for last year.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of the final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES,

GEARING RATIO AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group financed its
operation by its internal resources. As at 31 March 2024, the
Group had net current assets of HKD116.0 million (31 March
2023: HKD116.8 million), including cash and cash equivalents
of HKD139.6 million (31 March 2023: HKD109.7 million) mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”) and Renminbi
(“RMB”).

The current ratio, being the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was 2.0 times as at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023:
1.6 times). The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March
2024 was 2.9% (31 March 2023: 1.4%). The gearing ratio
is calculated as total debt divided by total equity as at the
respective period end. Total debt includes lease liabilities.

There has been no change in capital structure of the Company
as at 31 March 2024. The equity attributable to owners of the
Company amounted to HKD136.9 million as at 31 March 2024
(81 March 2023: HKD137.2 million).

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policy and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position for the year ended 31 March 2024.
To manage the liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the
Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of
the Group’s assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet
its funding requirements from time to time.

As the revenue and costs of the Group are mainly denominated
in HKD and RMB, the Board considers that the Group has no
significant foreign exchange exposures.

The Group has no exposure to fluctuations in exchange rate
and did not make any foreign exchange related hedges for the
year ended 31 March 2024.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had not pledged
any assets to secure bank facilities or finance lease obligations.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any material
capital commitments (31 March 2023: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED

COMPANIES

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not have
any significant investment held, or material acquisitions or
disposals of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL
INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have
any plans for material investment or acquisition of capital assets
as at the date of this annual report. The Company will make
further announcement in accordance with the GEM Listing
Rules, where applicable, if any investments and acquisition
opportunities materialise.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group provided guarantees of surety
bonds of HKD15.2 million (31 March 2023: HKD14.8 million) in
respect of 4 (31 March 20283: 5) construction contracts in its
ordinary course of business. The surety bonds are expected
to be released in accordance with the terms of the respective
construction contracts.

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 67 (31
March 2023: 75) employees. To ensure that the Group is
able to attract and retain staff capable of attaining the best
performance levels, remuneration packages are reviewed on
a regular basis. In addition, discretionary bonus is offered to
eligible employees by reference to the Group’s results and
individual performance. The total staff cost for the year ended
31 March 2024 amounted to approximately HKD49.3 million (31
March 2023: HKD49.4 million).

The terms of employment of employees conform to normal
commercial practice. The remuneration of the employees,
Directors and senior management of the Group is set and paid
on the basis of the relevant employees’, Director’s and senior
management’s qualifications, competence, work performance,
industry experience, relevant market trend and the Group’s
operating results, etc. Other benefits including share options,
retirement benefits, subsidised medical care, pension funds and
training programmes are offered to eligible employees.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWE DN

OUTLOOK

A report recently released by Knight Frank pointed out that
Hong Kong’s Grade A office market was still affected by
economic uncertainties in the first quarter of 2024, with overall
demand being weak and the office vacancy rate hovering at
a high level. However, as rents in core business districts have
continued to decline in the first quarter, and certain landlords
have taken the initiative to provide tenants with more flexible
leasing plans and preferential measures, it is believed that the
leasing market will gradually stabilize. Cushman & Wakefield
also pointed out that the supply of new Grade A offices
coupled with competitive rental levels will provide more high-
quality options for companies having intention in upgrading
and relocating, especially companies actively seeking to
relocate to commercial properties that meet environmental,
social and governance requirements. Meanwhile, the Hong
Kong government has also formulated a series of measures in
the 2024-25 Budget including allocating funds to promote the
development of artificial intelligence, life and health technology,
new industries, asset and wealth management, intellectual
property, and legal dispute services and other industries. By
then, it is believed that more professional institutions will be
attracted to settle in Hong Kong’s Grade A offices, driving up
demand for local fit-out services.

Looking forward, the Group will strive to gain higher market
share with high-quality services. The Group will also continue
to strengthen cost control, actively improve its sub-contractor
portfolio and strictly control the Group’s expenses to lay a solid
foundation for future profitability.

B2

RO BEMGHNREEL 2024FEEEEEFH
BFEMBRAZILEETHPRAEZTE EBTXE
3 BFELERASUMSEM-AM BEEaFTE&
DEERMNBASKFEFER T NLEBINEEZEH A
MEREFEENHEFENEERERE BEHED
BB IEE-HERTMEL FENRFRETE
HESNASS INHESKTE BAESHRIRED
TtE LEEEGSRIREEFARRE LTFRE
ERMEEMNCE REFSEDEE-RS BT
(2024-25FHHRTEER) EFRMEIE T —RIIEHE -
MBEREDATER EHRERE - HRETE BE
MM EEE NBEE URIEFZRBSTEN
BR ENHACERIEZEERBEFEEFTLAS
T EFAMBEEREE K

REAR AREBENUEERF SRS TS0
5 o 7K S5 O 400 09 AR T - AL 5 KR
HEEARBREEMAY  AAERNENETEE
27 -

HEKEAT 20245EHE 15



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEREHK

Executive Directors

Mr. WONG Sai Chuen (“Mr. Wong”), aged 49, is the Chairman,
Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director of the
Company since 4 January 2018. Mr. Wong was also appointed
as the chairman of the nomination committee on 8 January
2020. Mr. Wong founded the Group in 2009 and was appointed
as a Director on 24 March 2017. Mr. Wong is responsible for
the strategic planning, business development, daily operations
and major decision making of the Group. Mr. Wong is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wong has over 14 years of experience in the interior fit-
out industry. He is also an honorary director of the 57th term
board of directors of the Yan Chai Hospital. Mr. Wong is the
spouse of Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, an executive Director of
the Company.

The disclosable interests of Mr. Wong in the shares and
underlying shares under the provisions of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”) are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short Positions
in the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company or any Associated Corporations” under the Directors’
Report of this annual report.

Ms. HUI Man Yee, Maggie (“Ms. Hui”), aged 47, is an
executive Director of the Company since 4 January 2018.
Ms. Hui joined the Group in April 2015 and was appointed
as a Director on 6 July 2017. Ms. Hui is responsible for daily
operations, business development, human resources and
administrative management of the Group. Ms. Hui is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Prior to joining the Group, Ms. Hui has over 10 years of
experience in the hotel industry. Ms. Hui graduated from
Sheffield Hallam University in the United Kingdom with a
bachelor’s degree of science in hotel and tourism management
in June 1998. Ms. Hui then obtained a master’s degree in
business administration from University of Birmingham in the
United Kingdom in December 2011. Ms. Hui is the spouse
of Mr. Wong, the Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and an
executive Director of the Company.

The disclosable interests of Ms. Hui in the shares and
underlying shares under the provisions of Part XV of the
SFO are set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive’s Interests and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the Company or any
Associated Corporations” under the Directors’ Report of this
annual report.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEREHK

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 56, is an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the audit
committee, and a member of the nomination committee and
the remuneration committee of the Company since 21 January
2020, and was re-designated as the chairman of the
remuneration committee on 28 January 2022. Mr. Cheung has
over 20 years of experience in financial management, treasury,
and company secretarial matters.

Mr. Cheung was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Prosper Construction Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6816), since August 2017. From April 2015 to June
2020, Mr. Cheung served as an independent non-executive
director of GSN Corporations Limited (formerly known as New
Western Group Limited), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8242) and he was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Lamtex Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 1041), from August 2020 to October 2020.

Mr. Cheung holds a master’s degree in commerce from The
University of New South Wales, Australia and a bachelor’s
degree in mechanical engineering from Imperial College,
London, the United Kingdom. Mr. Cheung is a fellow member of
The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a
certified tax adviser of The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong.

Mr. Law Chun Yat (“Mr. Law”), aged 36, is an independent
non-executive Director, a member of each of the audit
committee, the nomination committee, and the remuneration
committee of the Company since 25 February 2022. Mr. Law
has over 9 years of experience in accounting, auditing,
and taxation matters. Mr. Law holds a bachelor’s degree of
Commerce (Honours) in Accountancy from The Hong Kong
Baptist University. Mr. Law is a member and Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.

BIUFHITES

RAEXLE ([REE]) - 565 BH2020%F1 H21H #
HERRFRBYHFATES ERZECTEIRF RS
ZEgNENTFMHEE K E  WK2022F1H28H
XA WZESER - RAERVBERE BEFX K
NEIMEEEFAEEB20F LR -

H2017F8 AR RELEEZTARBERZERERA
B —RRBRATERETH AR (KR :6816)
BB IEHITE F - §2015F4 8 £2020F6 7 K4k
A 1 £ GSN Corporations Limited ( Al 8 & & H7 18 &= [F
BRAG) —RRBRFIGEM Em AR A (RH R
5% :8242) M S IEITE S - K 202048 A £2020
F10R HEZTAMELRBRBERAR — KRB
FTER EMMAE (BRHARSE 1041 B IERITE
$o

RELEBARMNTEHRBA L ASRHEELEUNRE
MATEEREEM TIEELEM - REERBTEGS
MAEBERGBRBERBEGEMBHE -

ERBREE ([BRE]) 365 B2022F2H25H 8
HERARBBUFATES ERZETKE RA
ZEENERFNEEEKE -BAER S Tl
BT AEEAIF KR BrEERBETaRE
BRETEREL (KB)BM -BLE AT BT
REGERMEZEAD-

HEEEARA 20245EHE 17



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS

EEREHK

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. SIU Chi Wai (“Mr. Siu”), aged 43, is an independent non-
executive Director, a member of each of the audit committee,
the nomination committee, and the remuneration committee of
the Company since 9 November 2023.

Mr. Siu has over 15 years of experience in valuation consulting,
financial risk management and investment management. Since
August 2022, he has been serving as an independent director
of Magic Empire Global Limited, a company listed on Nasdaq
Capital Market (stock code: MEGL) principally engaged in
the provision of corporate financial advisory services. Since
February 2019, Mr. Siu has also been serving as the chief
executive officer of GCA Professional Services Group. From
January 2016 to January 2019, Mr. Siu served as the chief
executive officer of Yemaigu Internet Financial Services Ltd.,
a Shenzhen-based peer-to-peer online investment platform.
Prior to these positions, Mr. Siu served in companies such as
UBS AG and Daiwa Capital Markets with a focus on corporate
finance advisory services. Mr. Siu received a bachelor’'s degree
in business administration from the University of Toronto,
Canada in June 2005. Mr. Siu is a Chartered Financial Analyst
and a Certified Public Accountant of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRS

The Directors are pleased to present their report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
Group is principally engaged in the provision of interior fit-out
solutions in Hong Kong and the PRC. Details of the principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set
out in the note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by an
operating segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2024 which includes an analysis of the Group’s
performance using financial key performance indicators and a
discussion on the Group’s likely future business development,
important events affecting the Company that have occurred
since the end of the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company’s
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Company, the relationships between
the Company and its key stakeholders including its employees,
customers and suppliers, and a description of the principal risks
and uncertainties that the Group may be facing are provided in the
paragraphs headed “Financial Highlights”, “Outlook”, “Events after
the Reporting Period”, “Compliance with Laws and Regulations”,
“Relationship with Customers, Suppliers, Employees and
Shareholders” and “Principal Risks and Uncertainties”, respectively
of this annual report. Such discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES
The business operations and results of the Group may be
affected by various factors, some of which are external causes
and some are inherent to the business. The Board is aware that
the Group is exposed to various risks and the principal risks
and uncertainties are summarized below:

° the Group’s business and operation may be affected by
the pandemic or public health incident, which may slow
down the progress of projects;

° we depend on our subcontractors to carry out various
trades of work and bear the risks associated with
fluctuations in subcontracting costs, substandard
performance and instability of their operations;
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRS

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(Continued)

° the Group’s business is project-based. Fee collection and
profit margin depend on the terms of the work contract
and may not be regular;

° most of the revenue is derived from contracts awarded
through competitive tendering and the contracts are non-
recurring in nature. The Group’s business depends on its
success on project tenders;

° we determine the tender price based on our estimation of
the time and costs involved, which may not be accurate;
and

° our liquidity and financial position may be adversely
affected if we cannot receive progress payments or
retention money in full in time or at all.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to minimizing its carbon footprint and
consumption of natural resources in all possible aspects of
business operations. Our environmental strategy is to achieve
a balance between the quality and efficiency of our services
and the minimization of greenhouse gas emissions and
environmental degradation. Accordingly, the Group promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to the employees
and has taken a proactive approach to affect internal and
external communications by means of telephone, emails and
conferences or such other communication means which are
efficient yet environmentally friendly. Also, the Group is able to
minimize physical travelling and printing.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES

The employees of the Group are one of the most important
assets and stakeholders of the Group, their contribution
and support are valuable to the Group at all times. The
Group regularly reviews compensation and benefits policies
accordingly to industry benchmark as well as the individual
performance of employees. Other fringe benefits include but
are not limited to discretionary bonus, are provided to retain
loyal employees with the aim to form a professional staff and
management team that can bring the Group to different levels
of success.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRS

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS, EMPLOYEES AND
SHAREHOLDERS

The success of the Group also depends on the support from
key parties which comprise customers, suppliers, employees
and shareholders. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the
Group has maintained good relationships with the customers
and suppliers and there was no material dispute between the
Group and the customers or the suppliers.

Regarding the employees, the Group focuses on the talents
of our employees as our most valuable asset and provides a
harmonious and professional working environment. During the
year ended 31 March 2024, we have provided competitive
remuneration packages to our employees to recognise their
contribution to the Group.

The principal goal of the Group is to maximize the return to
the Shareholders. The Group will focus on our core business
for achieving sustainable profit growth and rewarding the
Shareholders with dividend payouts while taking into account
the business development needs and financial health of the
Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Act Cap 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and
revised) of the Cayman Islands, the GEM Listing Rules and the
SFO relating to, among other things, the information disclosure
and corporate governance. For more information about the
measures adopted by the Group for environmental protection
and regulatory compliance during this financial year, please
refer to the environmental, social and governance report of this
annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 117 to 118 of this annual
report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS (continued)

Dividend Policy

The Company is committed to sharing its development and
achievements with Shareholders through proactive, stable
and sustainable dividend policy. The Board would strive to
strike a balance between meeting Shareholder’'s expectations
and managing funds prudently. The Company has adopted a
dividend policy which comprehensively consider the macro-
economic, the competition pattern of the industry and its
own development strategy. Final dividends declared by the
Company shall be subject to Shareholder’s approval. The Board
will review the dividend policy from time to time and it may be
revised as appropriate. There is no assurance that the Company
will be able to declare or distribute any dividend in the amount
set out in any plan by the Board.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend
for the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023: Nil).

As far as the Company is aware, as at 31 March 2024, there
has been no arrangement under which any Shareholder has
waived, or agreed to waive, any dividends proposed to be
distributed for the year ended 31 March 2024.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING
(THE “AGM”)

In order to ascertain the entitlement of Shareholders to
attend and vote at the AGM, the transfer books and register
of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
20 August 2024 to Friday, 23 August 2024 (both days
inclusive), during which no transfer of Shares will be affected. In
order to qualify for attending and voting at the AGM, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor
Services Limited, at 17th Floor, Far East Finance Centre, No. 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday,
19 August 2024.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on page 121 and in note 29(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2024, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to HKD66.4 million (2023: HKD69.3 million).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
year amounted to less than HKDO.1 million (2023: HKD less
than 0.1 million).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements during the year in the property, plant
and equipment of the Group are set out in note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS
Details of movements during the year in the share capital of
the Company is set out in note 22 and 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of movements during the year in the share options is
set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements and
“SHARE OPTION SCHEME” section contained in this Directors’
report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Amended
and Restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the
Company (the “Articles”) and there was no restriction against
such rights under the laws of Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 208 of
this annual report.

DEBENTURES

The Company did not issue any debentures during the year
ended 31 March 2024.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Man Yee, Maggie

Sung Tak Wing, Leo (retired on 18 August 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Cheung Chi Man, Dennis

Chan Charles Cham Chuen (retired on 18 August 2023)
Law Chun Yat

Siu Chi Wai (appointed on 9 November 2023)

In accordance with Articles 109 and 113 of the Articles and
pursuant to Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules, Mr. Cheung
Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Law Chun Yat and Mr. Siu Chi Wai
(collectively, the “Retiring Directors”) will retire as Directors
by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, have agreed to offer
themselves for re-election at the AGM. Further particulars of the
Retiring Directors are set out in the circular to the shareholders
sent together with this annual report. All other existing Directors
shall continue in office.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS AND
CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN
RELATION TO THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance
in relation to the Group’s business, to which the Company, its
holding company, any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party or in which a Director or an entity connected
with the Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at anytime during
the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
Other than the Directors’ service agreements and appointment
letters, no contract concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Group was entered into or in existence as at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2024.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Brief biographical details of Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 16 to 18 of this
annual report.

EMOLUMENTS OF THE DIRECTORS, CHIEF
EXECUTIVE AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of the Directors’ emoluments and of the five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 30(a) and 9 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

The Directors’ remunerations are subject to Shareholders’
approval at general meetings. Other emoluments are
determined by the remuneration committee of the Board (the
‘Remuneration Committee”) with reference to Directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO), which would have to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interest or short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which
were required to be recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the
securities transactions by the directors were as follows:

(A) Long Position in the Ordinary Shares and
Underlying Shares of the Company

Name of Directors/
chief executive

Capacity/
nature of interest

EERESTRAEBREQFHEMHA
BEERG HEROREZVESERK

NP
RTB

MR2024F3A31H A RREERZESITHRABRAE
AREEFEMAEEE (EERBBEMFESTER
FREEKRAIEXVI) MY BERDRESTE
ERBEELARPEEAEXVIEFETRSD B AHNE KR
RAIRBMRINEZERAR (BEREESRBEK
PIMBEBIEXFESEWRAKNEFRENERRAR) -
KIRBEELELR P EEN FI525BELAARRTFE
ZELMANEZRARSIBBEEBESETESR
SHGEM FHIRBIE5.4655.67IKB FARBITME AR
DNEIRBRTMER AR T

A) REQRBAEBRBROREBRONGT R

Number of
issued ordinary
Shares held/
interested in

Percentage
of the issued
share capital

/I EEREN HE BT
EZ/BETHRABHSE B/ ERMtE BERTEBREE BAED
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen Interest in a controlled 112,500,000 (Note 1) 56.25%

corporation

FTHEFEE XA E R (Bat1)
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie Interest of spouse 112,500,000 (Note 2) 56.25%
Fehrt e B & (His2)
Notes: Bt -
1. Shares in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is interested in 1. FHEFEEHREEERZORMDEEHEFRAR (—

consist of 112,500,000 Shares held by Madison Square
International Investment Limited, a company wholly owned
by him, in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is deemed to be
interested under Part XV of the SFO.

2. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, is the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai
Chuen and she was also deemed to be interested in the
112,500,000 Shares, pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS (continued)
(B) Long Position in the Shares of associated
corporations

EERESTRAEBEREQFHEMHAE
BEZERG HEROREZVESERK

NP
KRB (#)

(B) RHEBEERMHER

Number of
Name of Directors/ Name of associated Capacity/ issued shares Percentage of
chief executive corporation nature of interest held/interested in shareholding
i/ REREEN
EE/RETRABRA HELEER S/ ERME ERITROHEA EREOL
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen Madison Square Beneficial owner 37,500 100%
International Investment
Limited (Note 2)
FHFEAE tHEFRAF (Mi2) EXBAA
Ms. Hui Man Yee, Madison Square Interest of spouse 37,500 100%
Maggie (Note 1) International Investment
Limited (Note 2)
FEeBRT (M) e FRRF (fiz2) B
Notes: B

1. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie, the spouse of Mr. Wong Sai
Chuen, is deemed to be interested in Mr. Wong Sai Chuen’s
interest in Madison Square International Investment Limited,
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

2. Under Part XV of the SFO, a holding company of listed
corporation is regarded as an “associated corporation”.
Madison Square International Investment Limited held
56.25% of the Company’s issued share capital and thus
was the Company’s associated corporation.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company nor their close
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

1. FAERLEIDHIHEFEEENEER REES LY
BEROEXVE HESREEFEERNE=SE
RAFIE PR ER

2. WBEFHFLHEKROIEXVE  EWEEOZR
AR RE B EE] - HEBRARFEAR
BB BT R A M56.25% @ ) A A A 7] # 8B A
ER

B E X EESI  R2024F3A31H  HEARRNFE
ENESTHRABERBE 2 ETHBEARARAIHH
FAEEEZE (& LEFHLBEEH) HEMERGK -
RGO RES T AT AERSOAR -
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, so far as known to the Directors, the
particulars of the corporate or persons (other than a Director
or the chief executive of the Company) which had 5% or more
interests and short positions in the shares and the underlying
shares of the Company as recorded in the register kept
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO were as follows:

Long Position in the Ordinary Shares and
Underlying Share of the Company

FERRRAEMALTRERTRS XA
ERODNERR KR

MR2024F3HA31B " BESZA RIEFESHLEE KA
FEIBHEGFEME LML EER AN QR KRG &IEE
5% XA ERERABREZEXA T (RRAGESE
HEEITHRABRIMN FBFOT:

REAADEBERROREBERONETR

Number of
issued
ordinary
Capacity/ Shares held/ Percentage of
Name of Shareholders nature of interest interested in shareholding
s/ BEEREEN
IR R A B/ EEMHE ERTERRHYE ERESHK
Madison Square International Beneficial owner 112,500,000 56.25%
Investment Limited (Note 1)
tEBRAT (Hit1) EmlEA A
J&J Partner Investment Group Limited Beneficial owner 37,500,000 18.75%
(Note 2)
BEHEBRAT (HiF2) EmlA A
Mr. Wong Kin Kei (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 37,500,000 18.75%
corporation
EEE KL (HiF2) REEEER
Ms. Ho Sin Ying (Note 3) Interest of spouse 37,500,000 18.75%
&+ (K71:23) il (B =
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER PERSONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

(Continued)
Notes:

1. Shares in which Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is interested in consist
of 112,500,000 Shares held by Madison Square International
Investment Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is deemed to be interested under Part XV
of the SFO. Ms. Hui Man Yee, Maggie is the spouse of Mr. Wong
Sai Chuen and she was also deemed to be interested in the
112,500,000 Shares pursuant to Part XV of the SFO.

2. Shares in which Mr. Wong Kin Kei is interested in consist of
37,500,000 Shares held by J&J Partner Investment Group
Limited, a company wholly owned by him, in which Mr. Wong Kin
Kei is deemed to be interested under Part XV of the SFO.

3. Ms. Ho Sin Ying is the spouse of Mr. Wong Kin Kei and she was
also deemed to be interested in the 37,500,000 Shares pursuant
to Part XV of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, the Company
had not been notified by any persons (other than Directors or
chief executive of the Company) who has interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 8 December 2017, the Company adopted the share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), which falls within the
ambit of, and is subject to, the regulations under Chapter 23
of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to attract, retain and motivate employees, Directors
and other participants, and to provide a means of compensating
them through the grant of options for their contribution to the
growth and profits of the Group, and to allow such employees,
Directors and other persons to participate in the growth and
profitability of the Group.

FTERRREMALTAXRTRSD KB
EROPHNEZR AR (&)

g

1., IHHEEABEAEZIOBRMBREHMEESERAF (—
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Qualified participants of the Share Option Scheme include
directors (including executive, non-executive and independent
non-executive Directors) and employees (whether full-time or
part-time) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or any
other person who is in the absolute discretion of the Board has
contributed or will contribute to the Group.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme as
at the beginning and the end of the year ended 31 March 2024
and the date of this annual report was 20,000,000 Shares,
representing 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this annual report.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of the options granted to or to be granted to each
eligible person under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share Option
Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a consideration of
HKD1 by the grantee.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on 8 December 2017 and the options
granted have a 10-year exercise period. Options may be vested
over such period(s) as determined by the Board in its absolute
discretion subject to compliance with the requirements under
any applicable laws, regulations or rules. Accordingly, the
remaining life of the Share Option Scheme as at the date of this
annual report is approximately 3 years.

The exercise price of share options under the Share Option
Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
daily quotation sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets of
the Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share.

No share options has lapsed, or have been granted, exercised
or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption
and up to the date of this annual report, hence there was no
outstanding share option as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 16 October 2018, the Board approved the adoption of
the share award scheme (the “Share Award Scheme”) with
immediate effect, pursuant to which all eligible persons will be
entitled to participate. The purpose of the Share Award Scheme
is to recognize the contributions by certain eligible persons
and provide them with incentives in order to retain them for the
continuing operation and development of the Group, and to
attract suitable personnel for further development of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme was adopted on 16 October 2018
and shall be valid and effective for a term of 10 years until 15
October 2028 unless early terminated by the Board.

Under the rules relating to the Share Award Scheme, the Board
may from time to time select employees, director or officer
of any member of the Group or any of its affiliates whom the
Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their sole discretion, to
have contributed or will contribute to the Group to participate
in the Share Award Scheme. The vesting period, criteria and
conditions of any award granted are determined by the Board
or its delegate(s) in accordance with the terms of the Share
Award Scheme and the GEM Listing Rules. Unless otherwise
specified in the award letter, no payment is payable by the
grantee upon acceptance of the award granted. The Company
shall not make any further grant of award which will result in
the aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants made
pursuant to the Share Award Scheme (excluding forfeited
awards) to exceed 16,000,000 Shares, representing 8% of the
total number of Shares in issue as at the date of adoption of
the Share Award Scheme (i.e., 16 October 2018). There is no
service provider sublimit under the Share Award Scheme.

Pursuant to Rule 23.03D(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, unless
approved by independent shareholders of the Company in a
general meeting, the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued by the Company in respect of the share awards granted
under the Share Award Scheme to each participant in any
12-month period (up to and including the date of grant) shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

As at the beginning of the year ended 31 March 2024, the total
number of awards available for grant under the Share Award
Scheme was 16,000,000, and the underlying 16,000,000
Shares represent 8% of the Shares in issue as at the date of
adoption of the Share Award Scheme.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

On 22 September 2023, a total of 2,056,000 ordinary shares
(the “Award Shares”) were granted to 38 eligible persons
(“Grantees”) for nil consideration. The purpose of the grant
of the Award Shares to the Grantees is to (i) recognise the
Grantees’ contribution to the business performance and
development of the Group; and (i) encourage and retain the
Grantees to make continual contributions to the long-term
growth and profits of the Group, and therefore the consideration
for the grant was nil. These Award Shares were satisfied by the
then existing Shares held by the trustee of the Share Award
Scheme (the “Trustee”) through acquisition from the open
market by utilising the Company’s internal resources provided
to the Trustee, and therefore no new Shares would be issued
for the purpose of such grant. All of the Award Shares shall vest
in the Grantees on the date of grant. There is no performance
target attached to the Award Shares. The closing price of the
Shares immediately before the date on which the Award Shares
were granted was HKDO0.43 per Share. On 6 March 2024, the
administrative procedures in connection with the despatch of
the share certificates representing the Award Shares to the
respective Grantees had been completed, and as such, the
transfer of the Award Shares from the Trustee to the respective
Grantees had been completed. The 2,056,000 Award Shares
represent the value of approximately HK$884,000, taking into
account the closing price of HK$0.43 per Share as stated in
the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on
the date of grant, and the 2,056,000 Award Shares represented
approximately 1.08% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of grant. The Award Shares represent
a fair value of approximately HK$873,800, taking into account
the market price of the Shares upon transfer of the Award
Shares which was HK$0.425 per Share. Save for one Grantee
who was a director and substantial shareholder of a subsidiary
of the Company and therefore a connected person of the
Company at the subsidiary level, all Grantees were employees
of the Group. For details, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 16 October 2018, 22 September 2023, 3
November 2023, 29 December 2023 and 6 March 2024.

As at the beginning and at the end of the year ended 31 March
2024, there was no unvested share award under the Share
Award Scheme. No share award was cancelled or lapsed during
the year ended 31 March 2024.
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SHARE AWARD SCHEME (continued)

On 6 March 2024, the Board has resolved to the terminate
the Share Award Scheme with effect from 6 March 2024. No
further Award Shares may be granted under the Share Award
Scheme in the future from 6 March 2024. For details, please
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 6 March
2024. Accordingly, there is no share award available for grant
under the Share Award Scheme and no remaining life of the
Share Award Scheme as at 31 March 2024 and the date of this
annual report as the Share Award Scheme was terminated with
effect from 6 March 2024.

The table below sets out details of the Share Awards granted
during the year ended 31 March 2024:

B3 @& )

R2024F3A6H EETgRERILEBRMHERTE 8
20243 F6H A M- B2024F36H L HETH
BIERGEREFEE - PRHEBRG -FEFLH
ANT HEA2024F3A6H R E AL ARG
FEET 21 2 R 2024F3A6H & 1 20243 A31H
MAFRBAE BOREBAETEEATRE FHORG
198 - B IR0 SR ED AT B J1 M T sk A U o

TREFH E2024F3A31H IEFER T H D ZRE

EACE

Number of
Number of unvested
Closing price Number of Number of ~ Award Shares Number of ~ Award Shares
Purchase  of Shares Award Shares  Award Shares cancelled  Award Shares as at the
price of  immediately before Fair value of the granted during  vested during during the year  lapsed during  beginning and
Date of grantof ~ the Award  the date Award Shares at Vesting period of Performance  the year ended the year ended ended the year ended end of
Grantees the Award Shares  Shares of grant* the date of grant** the Award Shares targets 31 March 2024 31 March 2024 31 March 2024 31 March 2024 31 March 2024
HZ0uE  HEAME  HENMEF  HENME  EZAUEF
3AS1AL 3A3AL 3A31AL 3AYAL  3AMNALEYD
RERG BEETEEA RERGRRETAHN EERTH EEERAN EEHHN EEXMM RERAS
ARA RERAEFAE BER BpBmE AnEm RERGBRA UL RERGNEE RERGEE RARGHE XBRGHE REARHHA
38 employees (including 22 September 2023 - HKD0.43 per Share  HKD0.43 per Share All'of the Award No 2,056,000 2,056,000 - - -
ong Grantee who was (The 2,056,000 Award Shares shall vest
a director and substantial Shares represent the in the Grantees on
shareholder of a subsidiary value of approximately the date of grant
of the Company) HK$884,000, taking into (i:6., 22 September
account such Share price) ~ 2029)
BEEE (RF14EA 202359A 228 - BH043ET BRO4SET (3R ERBRAER &
ARA-HMBARE TRERRE - 2,096,000% RFEE
EZFLERFNARA) EBRHNERE (B12023%
#)5684,000% ) 9RNA)5E
FERA

* BIAR QAR E BN ZERRE IR E B HA T
BT E

Being the weighted average closing price of the Company’s
ordinary Shares immediately before the date on which the Award
Shares were vested.

BEETEBBRD
F2(vi)(13) °

AT IR B R R B A R I

> Information on the accounting policy for the Award Shares  **
granted is provided in note 2(vi)(13) to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during or at
the end of the year ended 31 March 2024 was the Company, its
holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
a party to an arrangement that would enable the Directors
or their close associates to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.
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Br AR FEIRETIHE E I B 22024F3A31H IEFER
RZFERNTMER RAR) - HER AR K EA
MMBRANERMNBRARME LM LTHEREE
ERFEBRTHBEABRBARRREMNEAMEELN
D ek EH ML -

HEEEAR 2024FEHE 33



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEEHRS

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
Pursuant to the Articles and subject to the relevant provisions
therein, the Directors, company secretary and other officers
shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets
and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she may
incur in or sustain by the execution of their duties in their
respective offices or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and
senior management of the Company in respect of legal action
against them in the course of execution of their duties in good
faith.

EQUITY-LINKED ARRANGEMENT

Save as disclosed under the section headed “SHARE OPTION
SCHEME” above and note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, no equity-linked agreement was entered into by the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, sales attributable to the
Group’s largest customer accounted for 21.7% of the Group’s
total sales and aggregate sales to the five largest customers of
the Group accounted for 59.0% of the Group’s total sales.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, purchases attributable
to the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 12.2% of the
Group’s total purchases and aggregate purchases attributable
to the five largest suppliers of the Group accounted for 32.2%
of the Group’s total purchases.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
or their respective close associates, or Shareholders owning
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital had any
beneficial interests in any of the Group’s five largest customers
or suppliers.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, except for those disclosed in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statements and the section headed
“SHARE AWARD SCHEME” above, the Group had no
transactions with its related parties.

In relation to those related party transactions, the related party
transaction with a director and substantial shareholder of a
subsidiary of the Company regarding the Share Award Scheme
is regarded as a fully exempt connected transaction as defined
under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. The related party
transactions in respect of the remuneration of key management
personnel (other than Directors) of the Company did not fall
under the definition of connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The related party transactions in respect of
the remuneration of the Directors fall under the definition of
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules but are regarded as a fully exempt
connected transactions.

The Directors conducted a review of the related party
transactions of the Group during the year and were not aware
any transaction requiring disclosure of connected transactions
in accordance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the applicable requirements
in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules in respect of the
abovementioned connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year.

BEBATRBEBRXS
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 40 to 63
of this annual report.

Mr. Wong Sai Chuen is the Chairman, the chief executive
officer, the executive Director and the compliance officer of the
Company respectively, his biographical details are set out on
page 16 of this annual report.

Ms. Cheng Faye is the company secretary of the Company, she
is a Chartered Secretary, a Chartered Governance Professional
and an associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

The environmental, social and governance report which explains
how the Company complies with the environmental, social and
governance reporting guide in Appendix C2 to the GEM Listing
Rules is set out on pages 64 to 106 of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float (i.e. at least
25% of the issued shares were held by the public) as required
by Rule 17.38A of the GEM Listing Rules during the year and
as at the date of this annual report.

INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors and Controlling Shareholders or any of
their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) are engaged in any business that competes or may
compete, directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group
or have any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor are
they aware of any other conflicts of interest with the Group nor
are they aware of any other conflicts of interest which any such
person has or may have with the Group during the year.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

On 8 December 2017, Mr. Wong Sai Chuen, a controlling
shareholder, and Madison Square International Investment
Limited (collectively referred to as the “Covenantors”), and the
Company (for itself and as trustee for each of its subsidiaries)
entered into a deed of non-competition (the “Non-competition
Deed”), pursuant to which each of the Covenantors has
irrevocably, jointly and severally given certain non-competition
undertakings to the Company. Details of the Non-competition
Deed are set out in the section headed “Relationship with
Controlling Shareholders — Deed of Non-competition” in the
Prospectus.

The Covenantors confirmed that they have complied with the
Non-competition Deed for the year ended 31 March 2024. The
independent non-executive Directors have conducted such
review for the year ended 31 March 2024 and also reviewed the
relevant undertakings and are satisfied that the Non-competition
Deed has been fully complied. Save as disclosed herein, no
contracts of significance (including contracts of significance for
the provision of services) satisfied the Company (or any of its
subsidiaries) and any controlling shareholder of the Company (or
any of its subsidiaries) subscribed at the end of the year or at
any time during the year ended 31 March 2024.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Director, an annual confirmation of his independence
as regard to each of the factors referred to in Rule 5.09(1) to
(8) of the GEM Listing Rule. Each of the independent non-
executive Director confirms that (i) they have no post or present
financial or other interest to the business of the Company or its
subsidiaries or any connection with any core connected person
(as defined in the GEM Listing Rules); and (i) there are no other
factors that may affect their independence at the time of their
appointment. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and
recommended by the Remuneration Committee, having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.
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The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
scheme is set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

As required by Hong Kong law, the Group also makes
contributions to the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
(the “MPF Scheme”) for all qualifying employees in Hong
Kong. Both the employer and employee are required to make
contributions to the employee’s individual account in the MPF
Scheme at a specified percentage of the employee’s monthly
income.

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities in the
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC participate in
respective government retirement benefit schemes (the “PRC
Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute
to the PRC Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of the
eligible employees. Contribution made to the PRC Schemes is
calculated based on the certain percentages of the applicable
payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements in the PRC.
The relevant authorities of the PRC are responsible for the
entire pension obligations payable to the retired employees. The
only obligation of the Group with respect to the PRC Schemes
is to pay the ongoing required contribution under the PRC
Schemes.

The MPF Scheme and the Schemes are defined contribution
schemes. The MPF Scheme and the PRC Schemes do not have
an arrangement such that forfeited contributions (by employers
on behalf of employees who leave the MPF Scheme and the
PRC Schemes prior to vesting fully in such contributions)
may be used by the employer to reduce the existing level
of contributions. Therefore there was no amount of forfeited
contributions that could be utilised during the year ended 31
March 2024 nor was there any available to reduce the Group’s
existing level of contributions as at 31 March 2024.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee of the Board
(the “Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference which
are no less exacting terms than those set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the GEM
Listing Rules (the “CG Code”). Currently, the Audit Committee
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, Mr.
Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Law Chun Yat and Mr. Siu Chi
Wai, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, who has
appropriate professional qualifications and experience as
required by the GEM Listing Rules.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company, the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2024, which is of the opinion that such
information has been prepared in accordance with all applicable
accounting standards, the requirements under the Companies
Ordinance and the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 March 2024 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
appointment at the forthcoming AGM. There has been no
change in auditors since the date of the listing of the Company.

PUBLICATION OF 2024 ANNUAL REPORT
The 2024 annual report of the Company containing all
the information required by the GEM Listing Rules will be
dispatched to Shareholders and will also be published on
the website of HKExnews (www.hkexnews.hk) as well as the
website of the Company (www.sclhk.com).

CHANGES TO DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION
There is no change in the information of the Directors pursuant
to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules since the date
of the Company’s interim report 2023, up to the date of this
annual report. Save as disclosed herein, as at the date of this
annual report, the Directors confirm that no information is
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM
Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Directors are not
aware of any significant event requiring disclosure that has
taken place subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date
of this report.

On behalf of the Board
Sanbase Corporation Limited
Wong Sai Chuen
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Company is committed to adopting a high standard of
corporate governance practices and procedures throughout the
Group. The Directors firmly believe that sound and reasonable
corporate governance practices are essential for the steady
growth of the Group and for safeguarding the interests of
Shareholders.

The Company has complied throughout the year ended
31 March 2024 with all the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to
the GEM Listing Rules, except the following deviation:

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Wong, being
the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, has been primarily
responsible for scrutinizing the performance of management in
achieving agreed corporate goals and objectives, monitoring
the Group’s performance reporting, management and business
development, ensuring corporate governance practices and
procedures of the Group and formulating business strategies
and policies of the Group since 2009. As the Board meets
regularly to consider matters relating to business operations of
the Group, all major decisions are made in consultation with
members of the Board and relevant Board committees, and
there are three independent non-executive Directors on the
Board offering independent perspectives, the Board is of the
view that there are adequate safeguards in place to ensure
sufficient balance fo powers and authorities between the
Board and the management of the Company, and the above
arrangement will not impair the balance of power and authority
of the Board and the executive management. The effectiveness
of corporate planning and implementation of corporate
strategies and decisions will generally not be undermined.

To maintain a high standard of corporate governance practice
for the Company, the nomination committee of the Board and
the Board shall nevertheless review the effectiveness of the
structure and composition of the Board from time to time in
light of the prevailing circumstances. The Company will continue
to review and monitor its corporate governance practices to
ensure its compliance with the CG Code.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).
Having made specific enquiry, all Directors have confirmed that
they have fully complied with the required standards set out in
the Required Standard of Dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities and delegation

The overall management of the Group’s business is vested in
the Board, which assumes responsibility for leadership and
control of the Company and oversees the Group’s business,
strategic decisions and performance. The Board is collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors should carry
out their fiduciary duties in good faith, and make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company as a whole.

The Board reserves for its decisions all major matters of the
Company, including the approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk management
and internal control systems, material transactions (in
particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters.

All Directors have timely access to all relevant information as
well as the advice and services of the senior management
and the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”), with a view to ensuring compliance with Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director
may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request made to the Board.

The senior management is delegated the authority and
responsibilities by the Board for the day-to-day management
and operation of the Group. The delegated functions and work
tasks are periodically reviewed. Approval has to be obtained
from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the senior management. The management provides sufficient
explanation and information to the Board to enable it to make
an informed assessment of financial and other information port
before it for approval. The Board has the full support of the
senior management to discharge its responsibilities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board composition

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the
management of the business and affairs of the Group with
the objective of enhancing Shareholders value. The Board
comprises two executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors currently. The members of the Board during
the year and up to the date of this annual report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Wong Sai Chuen (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Hui Man Yee, Maggie

Sung Tak Wing, Leo (retired on 18 August 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Cheung Chi Man, Dennis

Chan Charles Cham Chuen (retired on 18 August 2023)
Law Chun Yat

Siu Chi Wai (appointed on 9 November 2023)

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board has met the
requirements under Rules 5.05 and 5.05A of the GEM Listing
Rules having a minimum of three independent non-executive
Directors with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise and must appoint independent non-
executive Directors representing at least one-third of the Board.

The members of the Board have skills and experience
appropriate for the business requirements and objectives of
the Group. Each executive Director is responsible for different
businesses and functional divisions of the Group in accordance
with his/her expertise. The independent non-executive Directors
bring different businesses and financial expertise, experiences
and independent judgement to the Board and they constitute
the majority of each of the Board committees of the Company.
Through participation in Board meetings and taking the lead in
managing issues involving potential conflicts of interests, the
independent non-executive Directors have made contributions
to the effective direction of the Company and provided
adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of
both the Group and the Shareholders.

42 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BEES®(2)

EEENER

EEe AR EEEAE I REHNNEEINES
REEE-BA EEEHMENTESR 2B
ERTEEEAR - RENRBEACRAN B¢
i T FIAR B A -

HTEE
F U (LERTHER)
SED

KREBE (R202348H18H RITE)

BUFHITES

RAEX

FRE 2 (R2023F8H18H RIT)
E1ER

BEE (R2023F11H9HEZ(F)

REE2024F3A8IHEFERN EEE2 2 EFGEM
ET R A E5.0518 R5.05A G ZET PR =B IE
WITEENHRT MELAR —EBBEIIERTEST
EHEAHEXEERAEHIAEVBEREXAZE
FIEEMB N TESALESFEEL =Nz —-

mn

EFEXKEABAREERHABERBEMERNRKD
HER RRTEETRBEIXNFEEAEENT
FAXBRBESFA-BUFRATEFTREFIREHAD
FMEERMBERNE SRIBLHEIAREE
BRARAEZEE TRZEENAZENE-EH
SHUEEEEERNEEES NEENGEERET LE
TEETITHR BYUFRTESFCHARATLBERT
HEHER AR TARONGEER UREAKE
Ko BECER B9 ) 2 o

\



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

The Company has received an annual confirmation of
independence in writing from each of the independent non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rule and considers them to be independent with reference to
the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, except for Mr. Wong
and Ms. Hui, the Directors have no relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material relationship) between
any members of the Board. Biographies of the Directors are set
out on pages 16 to 18 of this annual report.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

All Directors are appointed for a specific term, subject to
renewal upon expiry of the existing term. The Company has
entered into a director’s service agreement with each of the
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong and Ms. Hui, for a term
of three years.

The Company has issued letters of appointment to each of
the independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cheung
Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Law Chun Yat and Mr. Siu Chi Wai, with
a term of one year commencing from their respective dates of
appointment.

Pursuant to the Articles, one-third of the Directors for the
time being (if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting of the
Company provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any
new Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his/her appointment, whereas any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company. The Directors should be eligible
for re-election at the relevant annual general meeting of the
Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERMSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings and attendance

The Company Secretary shall assist the Chairman and the
executive Directors in establishing the meeting agenda, and
each Director is given an opportunity to include items in the
agenda. The Board conducts regularly scheduled meetings on
a quarterly basis with the active participation of the Directors.
Ad-hoc meetings are convened when circumstances require.
The Board held 4 meetings during the financial year ended 31
March 2024 to consider, among other things, reviewing and
approving the quarterly, interim, annual results and payments of
dividends of the Group.

Notice of at least 14 days are given of a regular board meeting
to give all Directors an opportunity to attend. Adequate
and appropriate information is circulated to the Directors in
advance of Board meetings or such period accepted by them.
For regular Board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
Board papers are sent in full to all Directors in a timely
manner and at least 3 days before the informed date of a
Board or Board committee meeting. Minutes of all Board and
committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary and
are open for inspection by the Directors at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice. Minutes of Board and committee
meetings record in sufficient detail the matters considered and
decisions reached, including any concerns raised by Directors
or dissenting views expressed. Draft and final versions of
minutes of all Board and committee meetings are circulated
to all Directors and committee members for comments and
records within the period accepted by them after each meeting.
The Directors attend meetings in person or via telephone
conference, as permitted under the Articles of Association.

The Company Secretary attends the Board/Board committees
meetings. All Directors have access to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for ensuring that Board/Board committees
procedures are observed and advising the Board/Board
committees on compliance matters.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERMSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board meetings and attendance (Continued)

The attendance record of each Director at Board meetings,
committee meetings, the annual general meeting held on
18 August 2023 (the “2023 AGM”) for the year is set out below:

Board
meetings
Ezg
S
Total Number of Meetings EEDS EE 4
Executive Directors BTES
Wong Sai Chuen Tt 4/4
Hui Man Yee, Maggie itk 4/4
Sung Tak Wing, Leo (retired on %%%QWWmi
18 August 2023) 8F18AR) 2/2
Independent Non-Executive BUEHTES
Directors
Cheung Chi Man Dennis REX 4/4
Chan Charles Cham Chuen RE2 (Ro023F
(retired on 18 August 2025) 8H18HEL) 1/2
Law Chun Yat Bt 4/4
Siu Chi Wai (appointed on BER (Ro023F
9 November 2023) 11796 BZ ) 17

Note: The attendance figure represents actual attendance/the number
of meetings a Director is entitled to attend.
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERH/ EEAE
Audit Remuneration
Committee Committee
meetings meetings
ENZE% ¥Hzsg
- 8%
3 2
N/ATER N/ATER
N/ATNER N/AT 8 A
N/ATE A N/ATiE A
3/3 2/2
1/2 11
3/3 2/2
1/1 N/A R A
Kt : HFE
RES o

Nomination
Committee
meetings
R#zEg
EE

2/2
NATER

NATES

2/2

11
2/2

NATE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERMSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ training and continuous professional
development

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. During the year,
Directors are provided with regular updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a
whole and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition,
all Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development (“CPD”) to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution into the
Board remains informed and relevant.

During the year, all Directors had participated in CPD to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills by reading materials
and/or attending training courses, seminars or workshops
organized by professional bodies on corporate governance or
updated on laws, rules and regulations relating to the roles,
functions and duties of a Director.

The individual records of each Director who received training for
the year is summarised as follows:

Directors =}

Executive Directors BTES

Wong Sai Chuen FtEfF

Hui Man Yee, Maggie FER
Independent Non-executive Directors BYHTES
Cheung Chi Man, Dennis REX

Law Chun Yat g

Siu Chi Wai mEE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERMSE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Corporate governance functions

Pursuant to code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board
is also responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties during the year ended 31 March 2024 as set out below:

° determined and reviewed the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

° reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

° reviewed and monitored the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

° developed, reviewed and monitored the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and

o reviewed the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee, the
nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) and the Remuneration Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board
committees have been established with defined written terms of
reference which are available on the Stock Exchange’s website
and the Company’s website. All the Board committees should
report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations
made.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources
to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expenses. The respective
role, responsibilities and activities of each Board committee are
set out below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with a specific written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. The
committee currently comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Law
Chun Yat and Mr. Siu Chi Wai and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi
Man, Dennis, who has appropriate professional qualifications
and experience as required by Rules 5.05 and 5.28 of the GEM
Listing Rules. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditor.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The main duties of the Audit Committee are (i) reviewing
the quarterly, half-yearly and annual results of the Group
and considering any significant or unusual items raised by
the financial officers of the Group or external auditor before
submission to the Board; (ii) reviewing the relationship with and
the terms of appointment of the external auditor and making
relevant recommendations to the Board; and (iii) reviewing the
Company'’s financial reporting system and the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems.

By invitation of the Audit Committee, other Directors and senior
management may also attend the meetings. The Company
Secretary prepared full minutes of the Audit Committee
meetings with details of discussions and decisions reached.
Sufficient resources are made available to the committee when
independent legal or professional advice is required. The Audit
Committee members meet with the external auditor twice a year.

The following is a summary of the work of the Audit Committee
during the year ended 31 March 2024:

° reviewed the audited consolidated financial statements
and the annual results announcement of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2023;

° reviewed the interim unaudited consolidated financial
statements and the interim results announcement of the
Company for the 6 months ended 30 September 2023;

° reviewed the quarterly unaudited consolidated financial
statements and quarterly results announcement of the
Company for the 3 months ended 30 June 2023;

° reviewed the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the Company’s external auditor;

° reviewed the Group’s financial controls, internal control
and risk management systems, and the effectiveness of
the Company’s internal audit function; and

° reviewed the Group’s accounting principles and practices,
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules and statutes, and
financial reporting matters.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board had no
disagreement with the Audit Committee’s view on the re-
appointment of the Company’s external auditor.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERMSE

BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The committee currently comprised one executive Director,
Mr. Wong, and three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Law Chun Yat and Mr. Siu Chi
Wai, and chaired by Mr. Wong.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to (i)
review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board on a regular basis and
make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposed
changes; (ii) identify qualified and suitable individuals to
become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (iii) assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors; and (iv) make recommendations to
the Board on relevant matters relating to the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer.

Nomination policy

The Company has adopted a nomination policy for the
Nomination Committee to consider and make recommendations
to Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or
appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

Selection criteria

In selecting candidates for the directorship of the Company, the
Nomination Committee may make reference to certain criteria
such as:

° the Company’s needs;

° the diversity on the Board;

o the integrity, experience, skills and professional knowledge
of the candidate; and

° the amount of time and effort that the candidate will
devote to discharge his/her duties and responsibilities.

External recruitment professionals might be engaged to carry
out selection process when necessary.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TRERMSE

BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Board diversity policy

During the year, the Board adopted a Board diversity policy
setting out the approach to achieving diversity on the Board.
The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of the
diversity of Board members. It endeavors to ensure that the
Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Group’s
business. All Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
The implementation and effectiveness of the Board diversity
policy will be reviewed by the Board annually.

The selection of candidates will be based on a range of diverse
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board. The Company will also take into account factors based
on its own business model and specific needs from time to
time. Such policy will be reviewed from time to time to ensure
the appropriateness of determining the optimum composition of
the Board.

The Board has also set measurable objectives to achieve
board diversity, which includes the following: (i) the selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, (i) the Nomination
Committee will discuss and make discussion annually, and,
where necessary, reach consensus on measurable objectives
for achieving board diversity. It will provide its recommendation
to the Board for adoption, which includes at least one of the
Directors having appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise, and at
least one Director having intensive experience of the industry
on which the business of the Group is engaged in, (i) the
Board shall have at least one Director of a different gender.
Such Director shall possess the skills, experience and talent
necessary for the operation of the Company, and (iv) to achieve
and/or maintain gender diversity, the Nomination Committee
will recommend potential candidates for the Board so as to
realise gender diversity. The ultimate decision will be based
on objective criteria, merit and contribution that the selected
candidates will bring to the Board, taking into consideration of
the Company’s corporate strategies and business operation.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERMSE

BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Board diversity policy (Continued)

The following is a summary of the work of the Nomination
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2024

° reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;

° identified individual suitably qualified to become Board
members and made recommendations to the Board on
their appointments;

° assessed the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; and

° reviewed the retirement of Directors by rotation and the
re-appointment of retiring Directors at the 2023 AGM. The
Board considered that the aforementioned measurable
goals have been achieved satisfactorily during the year
ended 31 March 2024. The Nomination Committee has
conducted an annual review of the board diversity policy
and the Nomination Committee is satisfied with the
implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity

policy.

Gender and Workforce Diversity

To achieve and/or maintain diversity (including gender diversity),
the Nomination Committee will identify and recommend
potential candidates to the Board so as to promote and
realise gender diversity. Specifically, when selecting potential
candidates for the Board, the Nomination Committee and the
Board will, inter alia, (i) consider the current ability, diversity and
representation level of different gender in the Board and senior
management when making recommendation on nominees and
the succession plan of the Board and senior management,
and (ii) take reference to the Code of Practice on Employment
published by Hong Kong Equal Opportunities Commission and
other manuals in other applicable jurisdictions from time to
time, so as to consider the standards in promoting diversity.
The Group adheres to the principle of fairness in the recruitment
procedures, and does not implement any restriction on gender,
ethnicity, nationality and territory. The Nomination Committee
adopts the above measures and reviews the profiles of the
potential candidates of Board members against the above
selection criteria in order to develop a pipeline of potential
successors to the Board to achieve gender diversity.
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Gender and Workforce Diversity (Continued)

The gender ratio of male to female in the workforce (including
senior management) for the year ended 31 March 2024 is
39:28. The Company considers that gender diversity is rather
balanced and has been achieved in its workforce generally. The
Group aims to continue maintaining a more balanced gender
diversity in the workforce by promoting such diversity during
recruitment.

For further details of gender ratio, together with the relevant
data, please refer to the disclosure in the “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of the Company which is published on
the same date as this annual report.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
The committee currently comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, Mr. Cheung Chi Man, Dennis, Mr. Law
Chun Yat and Mr. Siu Chi Wai, and chaired by Mr. Cheung Chi
Man, Dennis.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the
Company’s remuneration policy and structure and on the
remuneration packages of Directors and senior management
pursuant to the code provision E.1.2(c)(ii) of the CG Code. The
Remuneration Committee is also responsible for establishing
transparent procedures for developing such remuneration policy
and structure to ensure that no Director or any of his associates
will participate in deciding his own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by the Board with reference to
the performance of the individual and the Company as well as
the prevailing market conditions.

The following is a summary of the work of the Remuneration
Committee during the year ended 31 March 2024:

° reviewed and determined the Group’s policy and structure
for the remuneration of Directors and senior management;

° reviewed and approved matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules, including the
grant of a total of 2,056,000 Award Shares to 38 share
award grantees pursuant to the Share Award Scheme;

° assessed the performance of executive Directors;
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BOARD COMMITTEE (continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

° reviewed and recommended to the Board the terms of
remuneration packages and service contracts of Directors
and senior management; and

° ensured that no director or any of his/her associates are
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2024
and 2023 are set out in note 30(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to the CG Code, the remuneration of the members of
the senior management (other than the Directors) for the year
ended 31 March 2024 by band is set out below:

Remuneration band (in HKD)

FEE (GBr)

2,000,001 to 2,500,000 2,000,0012%2,500,000

Share interest of senior management
As at 31 March 2024, none of the senior management had any
interests in the shares of the Company.

Auditor’s remuneration

The external audit provides an objective assessment of the
financial information presented by the management, and is
considered one of the essential elements to ensure effective
corporate governance. During the year, the fee charged by
PricewaterhouseCoopers for audit service was HKD1.2 million.

There were no fees charged in respect of the non-auditing
services for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit
fees, effectiveness of the audit process, independence and
objectivity of PricewaterhouseCoopers and has recommended
to the Board the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers
as the Company’s external auditor for the ensuring year at the
forthcoming AGM.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibility for maintaining an
integrated and effective risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, which includes the establishment of a
defined management structure with specified limits of authority,
and reviewing their effectiveness. The internal control system
is designed to assist in the achievement of business objectives
of the Group, safeguarding assets against unauthorised use
or disposition, ensuring the proper maintenance of accounting
records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or publication and ensuring compliance with
relevant legislation and regulation. The internal control system
is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather
than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and
achievement of the Group’s objectives. The internal control
system (embedded in the operations of the Company and forms
part of the Company’s culture) includes:

° effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

° capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the
business arising from factors within the Company and
to the change in the business environment; and include
procedures for reporting immediately to appropriate
management levels regarding any significant control
weakness that is identified together with details of
corrective action being undertaken;

° reliability of financial reporting; and
° compliance with applicable rules, laws and regulations.

The key procedures that the Board established to provide
effective internal controls are as follows:
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Organizational Structure

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and
lines of authority.

Authority and Control

The executive Directors and senior management are delegated
with respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate
strategies and policies and related matters formulated by the
Board.

Payment Procedures

Relevant procedures have been established to assess, review
and approve payment in respect of the capital and recurring
expenditures.

Financial Reporting

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group on a going
concern basis, with reasonable and prudent judgement and
estimates as necessary. In preparing the accounts for the three
months ended 30 June 2023, six months ended 30 September
2023, and the year ended 31 March 2024, the Directors
have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently.

The statement of the auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report.

Risk Management

The Board together with senior management responsible
for monitoring and assessing risk annually, boost related
management standards and evaluate investment projects.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Audit

No internal audit team has been set up during the year since
the Group’s size and its structure is small and simple and the
Board is of the opinion that it is more cost effective to appoint
an external independent service provider to carry out internal
audit function for the Group if necessary. However, the Board
will continue to review the need for an internal audit function at
least annually.

Internal Control Review

During the year, the Company has engaged an external service
provider to carry out an annual review of the effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control system including
financial, operational and compliance control, and risk
management functions, and to resolve material internal control
defects. The review adopts a risk-based approach to create
and review the effectiveness of the internal control system and
includes the following works:

(i) to carry out a high level review on the internal control
system on new business/members of the Group under the
principles which cover major control aspects; and

(i)  to interview management and perform focused walk
through tests on the internal control system of members
of the Group on a selective basis.

The Company has adopted a set of internal control policies and
procedures to safeguard the Group’s assets, to ensure proper
maintenance of accounting records and reliability of financial
information, and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

The Directors and senior management of the Company based
on the available information (normally from the news and
periodicals) about local and market’s dynamic movements and
their understanding of the risk assessment is enhanced through
the on-the-job training and regular meetings to discuss cases
of the potential risk.

56 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024

EEEERANIEELE &)

7 B8 A
MRAEERAEREER N REEAEEERRBRNY

ERZBINIBIRBHEFATARERNLEZD
BEEARAME MR FALERT ABBEZE -
R EZTGREEELEBFRIRIABDEZIF

MBS

o2 B 42 T 1
FA-ARAREEF - RIIBREFEEFYRREE
FAMEERRORR(BREAE 2ERAREE

KRR EIRINEE ) 1T E R - X ARR B KA B4R
R -FAERBRRER T A EE MR T AREER

BER - BT IE:

() REBEREXIBER®HBCRA HAEEMES
RERARMAMEZRRRETSEARE &

(i) BEHRZHEEBHIALAREZKERANAR
ERRAGTETERFTARA

ARBICRM - ENBEEBRRLERF WREXRE
BEE NEARSHTCHEZERELMBEHNNAE
- A RAER B ST HRBDAE SRORM -

ARAMEERSAEEBEERNEGRAA LTSI
MAEMER CRFEREME LA THERRFE
VEBEBRBINERRTERN WA BEER R
OIS AMRERE T -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERMSE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)
Internal Control Review (Continued)
Identification, assessment and management:

° the head of each department, such as the Finance
Department and the Board will be informed regarding the
factors that have an impact on the profit and price based
on the nature of business and their own experience.
During the course of execution, the concerned responsible
person of the Company will handle relevant documents
and report to the Directors.

° as for matters as required to be disclosed under the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company Secretary will present the
issues to the Board for review and discussion, and inform
Directors and relevant personnel that dealing in the shares
of the Company is prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

° generally, the Company Secretary will check with the
requirements as prescribed in Chapter 19 and Chapter 20
of the GEM Listing Rules before execution of the proposed
transactions (including continuing connected transactions),
to assess whether the proposed transaction will trigger
the disclosures requirements either in announcements,
circulars and annual reports, and the need to obtain
Shareholders’ approval.

During the year, the external service provider, engaged by
the Company, has presented its review report and made
recommendations to the Audit Committee and the Audit
Committee has discussed with the management and reported
the progress of the work plan and related findings to the Board
at the board meeting.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Internal Control System and Corporate
Governance enhancement

In compliance with the requirements of the GEM Listing Rules
and for the purpose of reinforcing the Group’s internal control
system, the Company has established a strong internal control
framework, put in place a set of stringent policies and code of
conduct to emphasis values on integrity, fairness, transparency
and accountability so as to stand against corruption and fraud.
During the year, the external service provider, engaged by
the Company, has presented its internal control report to the
Audit Committee, who is responsible for reviewing the relevant
policy and system so as to achieve in develop effective control
activities and then mitigate the risks.

The Directors have strengthened corporate governance
practices, including the formalisation of the reporting practice
throughout the Group in monitoring the operation and business
developments of the Company so as to capture potentially
price-sensitive information on an ongoing basis, monitoring the
continuing disclosure obligation.

During the year ended 31 March 2024 and up to the date of
this annual report, the Board has reviewed on an annual basis
(i) the changes in the nature and extent of significant risks and
the Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business and
the external environment; (ii) any significant control failings
or weaknesses which have resulted in unforeseen outcomes
or contingencies that have had, could have had, or may in
the future have, a material impact on the Group’s financial
performance or condition; and (iii) the effectiveness of the
internal control and risk management systems of the Group
to ensure that a sound system is maintained and operated by
the management in compliance with the agreed procedures
and standards. The review covered all material controls,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms, and
management has also confirmed to the Board, that the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are effective
and adequate (including the resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting functions are adequate), in
particular, for financial reporting GEM Listing Rules compliance,
and have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk
management and internal control throughout the year and up to
the date of this annual report.
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TRERMSE

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL

CONTROL (Continued)

Procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

The Group has complied with the relevant applicable
requirements of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the
GEM Listing Rules on the disclosure of inside information. The
Group has disclosed inside information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable and kept strictly confidential before fully
disclosing to the public.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Company does not tolerate any form of bribery, whether
direct or indirect, by, or of, its Directors, officers, employees,
agents or consultants or any persons or companies acting for
it or on its behalf. The Company adopts an anti-corruption
policy in promoting and supporting anti-corruption laws and
regulations, as well as assisting its employees in recognising
circumstances which may lead to or give the appearance of
being involved in corruption or unethical business conduct, so
as to avoid such conduct which is clearly prohibited, and to
promptly seek guidance if necessary.

The anti-corruption policy will be reviewed on a regular
basis, and any convicted cases will be reported to the Audit
Committee or the Board.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company expects and encourages employees of the
Group and those who deal with the Group (e.g., suppliers,
customers, creditors and debtors) to raise concerns to the
Audit Committee, in confidence and anonymity, any suspected
impropriety, misconduct or malpractice concerning the Group.
The Company adopts a whistleblowing policy that provide
(i) reporting channels; (ii) guidance on reporting possible
improprieties; and (iii) reassurances to whistleblowers of the
protection that the Group will extend to them in the formal
system.

The whistleblowing policy will be reviewed on a regular
basis, and any suspected cases will be reported to the Audit
Committee.
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TRERMSE

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary assists the Board by ensuring good
information flow within the Board and the Board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board on governance matters.

With effect from 31 December 2023, Dr. Sung Tak Wing
resigned as a Company Secretary, following Dr. Sung’s
resignation, Ms. Cheng Faye acts as the sole Company
Secretary and is responsible for advising the Board on
corporate governance matters and ensuring that the Board
policy and procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and
regulations are followed.

As at 31 March 2024, the Company Secretary of the Company
was Ms. Cheng Faye. Dr. Sung and Ms. Cheng have undertaken
not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to
update their skills and knowledge during the year pursuant to
Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the
Shareholders as required to be disclosed pursuant to the
mandatory disclosure requirement under paragraph K of the CG
Code.

Convening of extraordinary general meeting on
requisition by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of the Association, it is
stipulated that:

Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened on
the written requisition of any one or more members of the
Company deposited at the principal office of the Company in
Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such
a principal office, the registered office specifying the objects
of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company. The extraordinary general meeting shall be
held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit
of the requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting, the
requisitionist(s) themselves may do so in the same manner,
and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHT (continued)

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
(the “Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the
Company’s principal place of business, 16/F, Loon Kee Building,
267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The request
will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrars and
transfer office in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the Board will be asked to
include the Proposal in the agenda for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the
nature of the Proposal as follows:

a. Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 20 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution or an ordinary
resolution of the Company in the AGM of the Company.

b.  Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

C. Notice in writing of not less than 14 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company
in an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

Procedures for Putting Shareholders enquires to
the Board

Shareholders may send their written enquiries to the
Company, for the attention of Company Secretary, by email:
ir@sanbase.com.hk, fax: (852) 2870 3813, or mail to 16/F, Loon
Kee Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company establishes different communication channels
with Shareholders and investors. Apart from publication of
quarterly, interim and annual reports, press announcement and
release, updated and key information of the Group are available
on the Company’s website at www.sclhk.com. The Company’s
website offers a communication channel between the Company
and its Shareholders and investors. The Company’s registrars
serve the Shareholders in respect of all share registration
matters.

Under the Company’s Shareholders’ communication policy, the
Company will take steps to solicit and understand the views of
its Shareholders and other stakeholders (including employees,
customers, suppliers and investors). Shareholders may direct
questions and communicate their views on various matters
affecting the Company, request for publicly available information
and provide comments and suggestions to the Directors
or management of the Company by mail to 16/F, Loon Kee
Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong or by
email to ir@sanbase.com.hk.

The annual general meetings of the Company provide an
opportunity for Shareholders to communicate directly with
the Directors. Under normal circumstances, the chairman of
the Board and the independent non-executive Directors and
the chairmen of the Board committees will attend the annual
general meetings to answer Shareholders’ questions. The
external auditor of the Company will also attend the annual
general meetings to answer questions about the audit works,
the preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the
accounting policies and the independence of the auditor.

An annual review of the Shareholders’ communication policy
has been conducted by the Company during the year ended
31 March 2024. Several communication channels between
the Company and the Shareholders are there and they have
been working properly. There is no evidence of unsatisfactory
communication between the Company and Shareholders. The
Board is satisfied with the implementation and effectiveness of
the Shareholders’ communication policy.

62 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024

REEBR
AAREBRREREEEERZL TR ZBAMERE B A
ZE -FHEFERE AELFBERIN AEB 2 &
IR EZEMIIRARF 24 B www.sclhk.com FJ & ¢
RARZWERBALRGIRERFEHEEEERBERE
E-ARRZBRMNBFERMAROELETEARRE
R

BREAQRAMNBRREBRE AR HRIUE
BEkETHERELREAFHE(BEREE T
F HEBEEEE)NMER RRAUBATFTE
BEBEEEF267-27T5RELREIEXREH =
ir@sanbase.com.hk ' I E AR QRN SEETIE LR
MRkERER RRARAERKAARARESTHER
ERHERREE-

ARAHMBERBFASABRRREHEZEEFTBAEN
e -E—RBEAT EFEETFERBUFATES
FEFZEETROBLFERRBEFRNE NEERK
R -A2BSNEZBE T HFERRBFAS
DIEEEZTE REZBMRERAT S5 HE
RAZ BB B L1 S RE -

AN B RE E2024F3 8318 1 FE RN AR RBEARK
RENTTFEEH - ARERECENZEERER
HEBER-BEZERBAQCTERE HANER
TEMAE EECHRFEBERENEBRE R



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TERERBSE

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS ERXH

A special resolution has been passed at the annual general ZARNQAIA2022F9A2B RITHRERBEF NS BB
meeting of the Company held on 2 September 2022 to adopt R LARMNE N EEFTRENMEBERE XM
the second amended and restated memorandum of association N ZRZ4HE] - LAFFA GEM i #R 8l -

and articles of association in order to comply with the GEM

Listing Rules.

Pursuant to Rule 17.102 of the GEM Listing Rules, the RIEGEM EMHBIFE17.1021& A Q& E R AT &
Company has published its memorandum of association and AR BB FIEEMABEE XM ELSEMA -
articles of association on the respective websites of the Stock

Exchange and the Company.

HEREAT 204FEHE 3
e



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BE HEREARS

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Report Overview

Sanbase Corporation Limited (“Sanbase” or the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, collectively known as
the “Group”, “We” or “Our”), is pleased to present its
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report” or the “Report”) to stakeholders. This Report
describes the ESG activities, challenges and measures taken by
the Group from 1 April 2023 to 31 March 2024 (the “Reporting
Period”, the “Year” or “2024”).

Reporting Scope

The Group is principally engaged in interior fitting-out services.
The Report mainly covers the Group’s head office in Hong
Kong and its operations in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The reporting boundary is as the same as last year.

Reporting Framework

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 of the
Rules Governing the Listing Securities on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”). During the
preparation for this Report, the Group applied the reporting
principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as follows:

Materiality: A high priority is given to issues important to the
Group and its stakeholders. Throughout the interaction with
internal management, employees and external stakeholders,
the Group has identified various material sustainability issues
that need to be addressed. The preparation of this Report was
based on these material issues. Please refer to the Stakeholder
Engagement and Materiality Assessment sections for further
details.

Quantitative: Quantitative information is provided so that a
measurable target can be set and the ESG performance can be
evaluated objectively. Additional clarifications have been added
to the quantitative data in this Report to explain any standards,
methodologies and conversion factors used in calculating
emissions and energy consumption.

Balance: In this Report, the Group provides an unbiased
picture of its ESG performance by reviewing and disclosing the
achievements, areas for improvement, and plans.
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Consistency: This Report’'s scope and preparation are
substantially consistent with the previous year, and explanations
regarding data with a change in the scope of disclosure and
calculation methodologies are provided.

Forward-looking Statements

This Report contains forward-looking statements based on
the current expectations, estimates, projections, beliefs, and
assumptions of the Group about the businesses and the
markets in which it and its subsidiaries operate. The forward-
looking statement is not a guarantee of future performance and
is subject to market risk, uncertainties, and factors beyond the
control of the Group. Therefore, actual outcomes and returns
may differ from the assumptions and statements in this Report.

Contact Us

We welcome stakeholders to provide opinions and suggestions.
You are welcome to provide valuable feedback on this ESG
Report or our sustainability performance at:

Address: 16/F, Loon Kee Building,
267-275 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong

Email: ir@sanbase.com.hk

Website: www.sclhk.com

— BN ABRENHEEMRERE -FEELA -
YHRETHRELBELFETEZEETNEIEGA -

A BE £ B

AREBEABEMEERE EDERAKREEEH K HKH
BRARKENEBNM S EMBES A& B8 2
SMBR-ABEERE TR RAREENRE LR
mERR TETUENASEEIEHOREMEE -
It - BB A R B (2] 3 7T BE B K 3R 5 BT #R R AR B BR
BER-

Bk A5 2R 1P
BPEOHOEROERNES - BUOB THARE

HEREAREIBMOUFERERTAREEES
B
ok BB
EEE P 267-275%:
B ANE161E
B H - ir@sanbase.com.hk
b www.sclhk.com

HEEEAR 2024FEHE G5



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RE -HERERRSE

BOARD STATEMENT AND ESG

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board Statement

Having a robust ESG governance structure is crucial to
addressing sustainability issues as part of the Group’s corporate
agenda. As part of its efforts to achieve this goal, the Group
has established a top-down governance framework to ensure
that ESG is aligned with its strategic growth objectives for the
integration of ESG into business activities. The chart below
sets forth our governance structure consisting of the Board of
Directors (the “Board”) and the ESG Working Group.
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The Board

The Board holds the ultimate responsibility for ESG matters,
serving as the highest decision-making body, and periodically
reviewing the progress that has been made in achieving these
goals and targets. It is also the responsibility of the ESG-related
policies and strategies, they assess and manage sustainability-
related risks to ensure an effective and efficient sustainability
risk management and internal control system is in place. The
Board conducts regular materiality assessments concerning
the views of different stakeholders, with the help of the ESG
Working Group to better manage the Group’s ESG performance
and identify potential risks.

ESG Working Group

The ESG Working Group, comprised of senior management
members from the Group and core representatives from its
subsidiaries, plays a vital role in facilitating the Board’s oversight
of ESG issues. This cross-functional group brings together
expertise from various levels and divisions of the organization to
support the Board in effectively managing ESG-related matters.

A key role of the ESG Working Group at the operational level is
to review compliance with laws and regulations related to ESG
issues. Management reports periodically to the Board about
ESG-related matters so that the Board can evaluate and revise
the strategies as necessary. The management team works
closely with subsidiaries’ representatives in collecting and
analysing ESG data, monitoring ESG performance, preparing
the ESG report, and finally reporting to the Board. It has been
confirmed by the Board that it has reviewed and approved this
ESG Report. This Report has, to the best of its knowledge,
fairly presented the material issues and Group’s ESG approach.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values the feedback of stakeholders on the Group’s
sustainable development. To enhance communication with
stakeholders, we encourage their active feedback on the
Group’s strategy via different channels. We are committed
to understanding and meeting stakeholders’ ever-changing
expectations to improve ESG performance and continue to
create greater value for the wider community.

FHhESH
AEBEERKNEHAKREATHERROIRESZR -
RIMEREFOENER RMAZBREFBRBTIARE
BEREEBAEENRR HMBNRTERILHE
FOEIHESES(CORE URERE HENE
ATHENEKRR URERZOHERFER/ERE ANE
B

Stakeholders Engagement Channels Expectations
B SHERE HE
Investors and Shareholders ° Annual General Meeting ° Compliant Operation
BREERKRR REBFERE BHEE
o Financial Statements o Information Disclosure
B Sk EEHRE
° Announcements and Circulars ° Financial Performance
NE KB K BRI
o Seminars ° Corporate Governance
et e BEES
Customers ° Company Website ° Quality Services
BP NIRRT BE IR
° Corporate Reports and ° Personal Safety
Announcements EAAZZ
rERERRSE e Business Ethics
e Hotline and Emails BEICEL
AR B e Privacy Protection
B AL R 7
° Seamless Communication
) 2w
Suppliers/Subcontractors o Supplier Meetings and Interviews o Contract Performance
HrER, IR EHE HEm g =L EH CRIE$
o Periodic Assessments ° Business Ethics
T HART fly [EE3EE
° Open Tendering ° Win-win Cooperation
NHRBE ERaE
° Regular Meetings o Information Resources Sharing

EHg=

o Circulars and Manuals
FERNCPSE i)

° Company Website
NSIFER
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Engagement Channels

Expectations

HHE SHERE e
Employees o Employee Opinion Surveys ° Health and Safety
(== BEBR#AL fEEEL P
o Regular Meetings ° Equal Opportunities
EHE® TERE
° Performance Appraisal ° Welfare and Benefits
BHEZ tetE A
° Employee Activities ° Career Development
BEE® BEZRE
o Professional Training ° Legal Rights and Interests
Bl BEER
Government/Regulators ° Corporate Reports and o Taxation Compliance
BT, 8 s Announcements Mg E 38
TERERRE e Employment Growth
e  On-site Inspections MEER
B e Regulatory Compliance
e Field Trips EEAR
i = 5 e Security Operations
e Tax Payments e
AT e  Business Ethics
FEERE

Community and the Media

il MR e

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

As part of its business development strategy and in line with
industry practices, the Group identified 17 ESG issues and

° Community Involvement
ilm 2

° Community Investment Programs
R EE S

o ESG Report
BIR Mg RERBRE

o Community Contributions
= s B

° Environmental Protection
RFERE

° Transparent Information
YNEEEDSY

EEMFFME
FREEBRRER
SECETITERE HEREAHE YREZS

B E)— b0 WIRBITRIEH > K

prepared a questionnaire based on those issues. In relation FERFXAEMES - BHRBERE HSrERZEE

to each of the ESG issues, significant stakeholders and
management and staff were asked to rate their importance. In 175 % °
this Report, material issues refer to those issues that may have
a significant impact on the Group’s business operations or have & FTi% &

BEENRNEREEEARETIORBUEEEME
CTRAREF BEEMNSE
EGEEELBEAVENBERNEELERTEN

B TE A BE T AN R E Y

€ EE °

a direct impact on its stakeholders.
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As a result of the survey, the Group collected the ratings AEBRETTLI O THAEER B MER
and analysed the results. Ultimately, the results of the final NWEZEUHEENFASHE EEHEZTSLSRER
analysis were presented as a materiality matrix. The matrix was EBHTEF UERESEAEEOESKMA 0 I
reviewed by the Board and senior management to ensure its B AR XU -EBARKER BELREERZERH
alignment with the Group’s business and representativeness. It 53| - SFE IR A EBHETEBIE e RELZHE
will guide future strategies, targets, and information disclosure. 2%l 40 LA T~ 7B & :

As a summary of the Group’s material ESG issues during the

Reporting Period, we present the following matrix:

The Group’s Materiality Matrix

AEBMEEMER
e
: %
o
3 o 00 o
Su @
=2
[%2]
Ao
o
28 @ oo ©
|_
o
S o
< o
%e
e
z
Sl
Low IMPACT ON BUSINESS High
{E HEBHTE =
No. Material Issues
EEMBEEFR
1. Climate change 2. Resource usage 3. Emissions
RARE (b & IR1E A e
4.  Environment and natural 5.  Employment practices 6. Labour standards
resources RIEE ) BITIEAE
BRERBAER
7. Health and safety 8. Employee development and 9. Trading facility and site
fREEZTE training management
1 8 3R M g7 R 5 R e N 35 31 E TR
10. Logistics and distribution 11. Technology and innovation 12. Customer satisfaction and privacy
Wi Ko 18 P iy B2 81 ¥ BERmEERETL
13. Brand, advertising, and label 14. Market regulation policies and 15. Promoting green and high-quality
management legal compliance products and services
mhiE BEREHRER MHEEBRMERER RiFrE ke E 8 EmEARE
16. Supply chain management 17. Anti-corruption
e R&ER
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Environmental Targets

In order to continue implementing the green and low-carbon
economic transformation into the Company’s daily operations
and management policies, while simultaneously, making efforts
to cope with global climate change, resolutely achieving “carbon
peak by 2030 and carbon neutrality by 2060”, and facilitating
the evaluation of effectiveness of the Group’s strategies and
measures to mitigate the impact of climate change, the Group
has set environmental targets at all levels, as shown below: It
is targeted to reduce intensity by 2030, with 2023 as the base

year:

Electricity consumption

Non-hazardous waste

RIBERE
REBBZOCERKCEEBAZEINAAAMNATE
EREBRBRY RARNZIEYEIRTRERE N 2
B IR [1£20304F 51 & IR ik £ 1& - 7£20604F 51 & 1 ik
Ml RERNEEREREELCEZENREREEHR
RFE AEBHTTOTERERFRBZ: LA20234F
BEESE S B2030F [FIKRE

Greenhouse gas emission

intensity intensity intensity

HEE BEBREYEE BERBHEMEE
| 5% | 5% | 5%

A. Environmental A. RIE

We actively adopt environmental protection measures
to tackle the environmental impacts generated by our
operations. In line with its commitment to environmental
stewardship, the Group has consistently integrated
environmental protection into its operational and
management practices. By implementing green operations
and enhancing environmental management processes,
the Group aims to mitigate the environmental impact
associated with its development activities. These
efforts have been further reinforced by obtaining the
ISO14001:2015 Environmental Management System
certification, which aligns our environmental management
practices with internationally recognised standards. This
accreditation serves as a testament to our dedication to
responsible environmental practices and sustainability.

BAEGRICRRE R EBHEFELHIRRE
REOFE BRTRETEAR AE£8—EHH
REREMANEENEEERE - BBEHECE
ERMRREEERE AEEEEREEER
EEHIRIENE - BB ES1S014001:20153%
EEEEEARF HMANBREEZTBEARBBEAQ
RHEERF B E—TERLIEEZE HINE
B —REFHTITRMBEIREBEECHRR]T
M FEER-

HEEEARA 20245EHE 7
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Emissions

During this Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with environmental-related
laws and regulations in relation to air and greenhouse
gases (“GHG”), emissions, discharges into water and land
discharges, and the generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Such laws and regulations include but are
not limited to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Waste
Disposal Ordinance, Waste Disposal (Chemical Waste)
(General) Regulation, Environmental Impact Assessment
Ordinance, the Water Pollution Control (General)
Regulations, Buildings Energy Efficiency Ordinance, the
Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, the Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the PRC, and the
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Wastes of the PRC.

Air Emissions

Since the company vehicle has not been utilised since
November 2021, the emissions resulting from the
consumption of diesel and petrol are not applicable during
this Reporting Period.

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG’) Emissions

The primary contributors to the Group’s greenhouse gas
(GHG) emissions are the indirect emissions (Scope 2)
resulting from purchased electricity. To effectively address
GHG emissions, the Group has implemented various
measures focused on optimizing energy usage, as outlined
in the “Energy Management” section below.
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o SRR 4 e B0 e T 2 9 S B
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mERAE ([BERE]) K
AEBEERBHMNIZERRERINBENE
ERRZER (BE2) - SERBREEREH
MEE AEEER T ZEEE EHEBLER
A R TIX[EERER] — &

Indicators' Unit 2024 2023
it BAL 20244 20234
Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) tCO.e - -
ERAEREBHM(HE) YNk s
Indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2) tCO.e 63.63 67.57
MEAEREIHNR (HE2) AW _AtiEE
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1 and Scope 2) tCO.e 63.63 67.57
BAERBHENEE (BEIMEE?2) ARSI E =
Total GHG emission intensity? tCO.e/employee 0.94 0.90

BRERBREERE?
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Notes:

1. Emission data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide
equivalent and is based on, but not limited to, “The
Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and
Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG Report — Appendix
Il Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by
the HKEX, the latest released emission factors of China’s
regional power grid basis and the “2022 Sustainability
Report” published by Hong Kong Electric Investments
Limited.

2. As at 31 March 2024, the total number of full-time
employees under the Reporting Scope of the Group was
67 (as at 31 March 2023: 75). This data is also used for
calculating other intensity data.

Waste Management

Considering the nature of the Group’s business, no
hazardous waste was generated during the Reporting
Period. However, if any hazardous waste were to be
generated in the future, the Group is committed to
engaging qualified waste collectors to handle and dispose
of such waste in accordance with applicable environmental
laws and regulations.

Regarding non-hazardous waste, the Group’s main waste
stream resulting from its business operations is office
paper. To minimise the environmental impact associated
with non-hazardous waste, the Group emphasises proper
waste management practices. This includes implementing
recycling programs and ensuring responsible disposal
methods are in place. By promoting recycling initiatives
and encouraging responsible paper usage, the Group
actively works towards waste reduction and contributes
to sustainable resource management. The usage of office
paper during the Year was below:
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Mat

1. FRBEBIDA-—SMAERESRY LREBEEAR
RERERARARERAIFEERIHIES
gTEN CRERBIATE CESHNBRER
£) BERGATEN (MARRRSR HE
RERBE-ME —  REBREBIERERE
) EHMTNENTHEESEEEELTRE T
NREEENREBR DA TE (202245 7]
SEERME) ©

2. HZE2024F3A31H -AEEFEHEANN R
BEE#E A67 A (B £20235F3A31H :75A) °
ZEBTARGEEME E -

BEEYEE

ENAEBENEBUEEL NREHRABREESE
EEBEEY -AM MRBRELTNEETER
Y AEEAFEEFAERNBERYKRES
RIRHBRBERLERBIEERY -

EEEREEYM I B AEBEBBEELENETE
BEYMRPFAREK - BTHEAREMR O BEEREE
MERBENFE FAEERFALEROBEEYEE
FE-EmBiEERRRGERERRAGEREN
BIEFZE-BAKERNKRGS REEBEEEHE
BAEER AEBRBGBORBLOEEY BRI F
BEAREEMEER AFERLABANFERE
i N

Category of Waste Unit 2024 2023

REE YR v 20244 20234

Total Non-hazardous Waste

BEBRYELEE

° Office Paper tonnes 1.35 1.43
EENE S N

Total Non-hazardous Waste Intensity? tonnes/employee 0.02 0.02

BERRYTEHAE?

NP3 =]
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The Group has designed its offices to facilitate waste
separation and recycling at the source, creating a green
workplace environment. This proactive approach aims to
minimise waste generated during operations by promoting
the principles of reduce, reuse, and recycle, as outlined
in the Environmental Protection Policy. To further enhance
employees’ environmental awareness, the Group displays
environmental messages on office equipment, emphasizing
the importance of environmental issues and encouraging
responsible behavior. By incorporating these initiatives,
the Group strives to foster a culture of sustainability
and contribute to a greener and more environmentally
conscious workspace.

To establish a “paperless” operating environment, the
office has made full use of the online system. Employees
of the Group are encouraged to minimise waste through
the following measures:

o Avoid printing and copying documents as much as
possible;

° Use double-sided printing and photocopying
whenever possible;

o Reuse old envelopes and recycle used paper,
cartons, and folders; and

o Reduce the use of disposable paper products.

Sewage Discharge

Since the Group’s business activities do not consume a
significant quantity of water, the Group does not generate
a substantial amount of sewage during daily operations.
Hence, this disclosure does not apply to the Group.
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Use of Resources

To manage resource usage and minimise the use of non-
essential materials, the Group has implemented the
Environmental Protection Policy and Sustainability Policy.
These policies serve as guiding principles for the Group’s
commitment towards reducing its environmental impact.
Through daily operations, the Group actively seeks ways
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to enhance and improve environmental practices. By YR TEMSEFAFERERROEEERL -
continuously striving for sustainability, the Group aims to
minimise its ecological footprint and contribute to a more

environmentally operation mode in all aspects of its work.
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Energy Management

Electricity consumed in the office is the major type of
energy used in our business, this includes the energy
required to power office equipment, lighting, heating, and
cooling systems. The Group consumed a total of 97.25
MWh during the Reporting Period. The breakdown was as

follows:
Category of Energy Consumption Unit 2024 2023
LR EFERE R EX1v2 20244 20234

Direct Energy Consumption

BEERERER
o Petrol MWh - -
T S EE

Indirect Energy Consumption

BERRIRHE

° Purchased Electricity MWh 97.25 95.47
SNBSS JKELBF

Total Energy Consumption MWh 97.25 95.47

REHERE JK LB

Total Energy Consumption Intensity? MWh/employee 1.45 1.27

BEERHFE R E? KR 1EE
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To address the Group’s significant energy consumption
from electricity, we have implemented rules and measures
to promote electricity savings.

Installation of LED lighting
systems in all our offices
TSR N
LEDIREA Z 4t

Emphasised the
maintenance of electronic
equipment to ensure

Encourage staff to

Our energy-saving turn off office equipment

optimal performance measures when not in use
BB RN LE IRV ER gE 45 e SENE TR EN
DARER S AE EUN

Set a recommended
room temperature range
of 24 to 26 degrees
Celsius to balance comfort
and energy conservation.
%ui: E&IEEZA]-:I:
26BN E 2 - bAFK
JAET i K HfiRE ©

By implementing these energy-saving practices and
continuously reviewing their effectiveness, the Group
is committed to reducing its environmental impact and
working towards a more sustainable future.

Water Management

Due to the inclusion of water usage in the tenancy
fees for the Group’s offices, it is currently not feasible
for the Group to provide specific water consumption
data. As there is no sub-meter in place to record water
usage separately, it becomes challenging to track and
report on water consumption at a detailed level. During
the Reporting Period, we have no difficulty obtaining
suitable water sources due to our office’s geographical
location. Still, the Group strives to reduce unnecessary
water consumption by turning off taps when not in use
and reporting leaking faucets immediately to the estate
management office.
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Use of Packaging Materials

In view of the business nature of the Group, there is no
packaging material used by our Group. The packaging
material is not considered a material ESG issue to the
Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Although the nature of our Group’s business does not have
significant environmental and resource-related impacts, we
maintain a strong focus on monitoring the environmental
footprint associated with our fitting-out services. In
our construction projects, we have implemented an
environmental management system that aligns with the
requirements of 1SO14001:2015. This certification serves
as evidence that our environmental management practices
meet internationally recognised standards.

Indoor Air Quality Control

To address potential indoor air quality issues resulting
from construction projects, the Group takes precautionary
measures. One such measure is the construction of a
barrier around the location where odors are present,
isolating it from other parts of the building. This helps
prevent air recirculation from the work area into occupied
areas. Additionally, the Group ensures that dusty
materials, including excavated materials, building debris,
and construction materials, are properly covered with
tarpaulins or through other approved means. This helps
minimise the release of dust particles into the air. To raise
awareness and promote safety, the Group displays dust
respirator safety labels on the construction site. This
ensures that everyone present is aware of the importance
of wearing masks if necessary to protect themselves from
potential airborne contaminants.

By implementing these measures, the Group aims to
mitigate the impact of construction-related pollutants and
contaminants on indoor air quality, creating a safer and
healthier environment for occupants during construction
projects.
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Noise Control

The Group is aware that during its operations, there
may be noise generated, and the construction activities
represent the biggest source of the noise. Any person who
at any place between the hours of 7 p.m. and 7 a.m., or
at any time on a public holiday, uses, or causes or permits
to be used, any powered mechanical equipment for the
purpose of carrying out any construction work other than
percussive piling with which a construction noise permit is
not in force commits an offence. During all constructions,
the Group and its subcontracting partners strictly adhere
to the laws defined by the Environmental Protection
Department.

The Group requires our subcontractors to choose quieter
construction equipment and provide their employees with
earmuffs for working on construction sites. The noise level
of a building should be measured, and when the sound
pressure level exceeds 85 decibels (A), it is required that
a warning label be attached to noisy machines in the
hearing protection zone and a safety sign be displayed
in that area. When any environmental non-compliance is
observed on the construction site, our staff and Registered
Safety Officers will immediately rectify the situation and
implement corrective measures to mitigate the problem
immediately.

Climate Change

The Group recognises the escalating risks and challenges
posed by climate change and global warming, which have
the potential to adversely impact its business operations.
The effects of climate change, such as extreme weather
events, rising sea levels, and changes in temperature
patterns, can have significant implications for various
industries and sectors.

According to the reporting framework developed by the
Task Force on Climate-Related Financial Disclosures
(“TCFD”), climate-related risks are divided into physical
and transition risks. The Group has incorporated climate
change-related risks into its enterprise risk management
process and has identified and mitigated potential risks.
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Physical Risk
EREAR
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In the event of extreme weather events, such as
typhoons, heavy rain and persistent heatwaves, we
may experience delays in our construction works and
physical damage to our construction sites, premises
and employees as a result. The Group’s capacity and
productivity will be reduced under extreme weather
events as the safety of our employees is threatened,
and the operational sites might be damaged, which
leads to a direct negative impact on the Group’s
revenue.

As a precaution against extreme weather events,
the Group has adopted appropriate measures.
Arrangements have been made for working during
typhoons and rainstorms. Aside from this, the Group
had also invested in insurance coverage for its
employees and properties to protect the interests of all
parties involved and reduce the risk of financial loss.

Transition Risks
B E =k
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In response to global carbon neutrality, the
Group anticipates rapid change in the regulatory,
technological and market landscape as a result
of climate change. This change may include the
tightening of national policies and listing rules, as
well as the introduction of environmentally-related
taxes. In some countries, for instance, taxes have
been enacted to encourage companies to reduce
their GHG emissions and energy consumption. There
is a possibility that stricter environmental laws and
regulations may expose companies to a higher risk of
litigation, potentially increasing compliance costs and
negatively impacting the reputation of the Group.

In response to transition risks, we constantly monitor
the updates of environmental regulations and global
trends on climate change to avoid cost increments,
non-compliance fines or reputational risks due to the
violation of laws. In addition, we have been taking
comprehensive environmental protection measures,
including energy saving and GHG emissions reduction.
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Social

Employment

Sanbase recognises that employees are its most valuable
asset and considers them as essential drivers of business
growth and sustainable development. The company
understands that the knowledge, skills, and dedication of
its employees directly contribute to its success and ability
to achieve long-term sustainability. The Group places great
importance on creating a supportive and inclusive work
environment that fosters employee well-being, growth,
and engagement. By prioritizing employee satisfaction and
professional development, the company aims to attract
and retain top talent, enhance productivity, and promote a
positive company culture.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with any relevant laws and
regulations in relation to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare, that would have a significant impact
on the Group. Such laws and regulations include but are
limited to the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Labour Law of the PRC, and the Labour Contract Law of
the PRC.

Recruitment, Promotion and Dismissal

The Group has established specific procedures regarding
recruitment, which are outlined in the Employee
Handbook. These procedures cover various aspects,
including the recruitment application process, the steps
involved in the recruitment process itself, as well as any
prohibitions and responsibilities that applicants and the
Group must adhere to. The Human Resources Department
will recruit through multiple channels, including online
recruitment, job fairs, referrals etc. Shortlisted candidates
will be interviewed by the Human Resources Department
as well as by heads of departments.
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A performance management system has been designated
to identify each employee’s competencies. This system
clarifies the basis for employee promotions and
compensations so as to protect both employees and the
Group. Additionally, appraisal results are also used by
the Group for setting up tailor-made development plans
for employees as well as for setting Group targets for the
year. All employees are required to sign the performance
appraisal form and keep it in their personnel files.
There will be an ongoing review of all documents, and
employees will be updated in order to keep up with any
changes in the Group’s needs and requirements.

The Group maintains a zero-tolerance policy towards
unjustified dismissals of employees. To effectively manage
employee dismissals and transitions, the Group has
implemented the Movement Procedures Policy. This policy
ensures that such processes are executed smoothly and
with minimal impact on overall productivity. A reasonable
dismissal procedure will be followed, and all issues will be
fully communicated before formal dismissal to avoid any
conflicts. In addition, when employees resign, the Human
Resources Department will conduct an exit interview with
the employee to understand the reason for resignation,
the opinions and improvement suggestions for the Group.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 67 full-time
employees during the Reporting Period. The breakdown is

shown below:

Breakdown of Employees

BI&E

Total st

By Gender MR85
Male EERs
Female 7z

By Age RERED
Age 30 or below 30BK3IA T
Age 31 to 50 31E505%
Above 50 5077 A
By Geographical Location BRWBENEE S
PRC ae

Hong Kong BB
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2024 2023
2024 20234
67 75
39 43
28 32
10 17
50 54
7 4
12 14
55 61
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During the Reporting Period, the Group’s overall employee RWERA NEEEBREREMRALAR27% -8
turnover rate was 27%. The breakdown of employees THEBIZRERNAR - FERAR R IEAE 85 W
according to gender group, age group, and geographical N

location are as follows:

Employee Turnover Rate 2024 2023
BERAX 2024F 20234
Overall Feg 27% 25%
By Gender RERE S

Male S 31% 26%
Female pegia 21% 25%
By Age RERED

Age 30 or below 30 AT 50% 29%
Age 31 to 50 31E508% 24% 24%
Above 50 5077 A 14% 25%
By Geographical Location BiENEE S

PRC ae 42% 64%
Hong Kong BB 24% 16%
Compensation and Benefits Fr oW K 45 7

Based on an evaluation of the employee’s performance, AREHEEXRANTH FEEREHEMIHBEE
the Group provides fair and competitive remuneration BEEAFEREHF IO - H T B RIEE
compared with market standards. The remuneration BEATERE BERMANMSEREEHFAE - K&
package shall be adjusted periodically according to the BIETEEMGEREBAT LIEEEES N
individual work performance, contribution, and market EER BIEEEEENRIIUEAERFEREA
environment. The Group has developed comprehensive WEEMHERELATELERHE-

systems to retain talents and strengthen employees’
sense of belonging, including the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes for Hong Kong employees as well as the
Social Security Provident Fund Management Systems for
mainland employees.
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Employees of the Group are not only provided with a basic
salary, but they are also offered comprehensive benefits:

° All qualified employees are entitled to join the
Employees’ Compensation Insurance and Sanbase
Medical Scheme.

° Employees travelling outside of Hong Kong on
business are covered by the Group’s Business Travel
Insurance.

° All overtime work is entitled to meals and
transportation allowances for labour that exceeds
the legal working hours.

° Employees are provided with external training
sponsorship and a discretionary bonus at the end of
the year.

Working Hours and Rest Periods

In the Employee Handbook and Employment Agreement,
the Group stipulates the working days and rest time
for employees in accordance with the provisions of the
Labour Law of the PRC and the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance.

In addition, the Group has effectively protected its
employees’ legal rights to rest and vacation time. All
qualified employees are entitled to paid annual leave
following the Employment Agreement. The Group also
provides various types of leave for its employees,
including statutory holidays and other paid holidays
such as maternity leave, paternity leave, birthday leave,
compassionate leave and examination leave.
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-Discrimination

The Group’s recruitment procedures are designed to
uphold principles of fairness, equality, and transparency,
in full compliance with applicable national and local laws
and regulations. To prevent discrimination during the
hiring process, the Group has outlined relevant policies
in the Employee Handbook. These policies ensure that
all candidates are treated fairly and without prejudice,
irrespective of their race, family status, religion, nationality,
disability, age, marital status, gender, pregnancy, sexual
orientation, union membership, or political affiliation.

If any employee experiences intimidation, humiliation,
bullying, or harassment, including sexual harassment, they
have multiple avenues to report such incidents. They can
choose to report the matter to their supervisors or directly
file complaints with the Department Head. The Group
is committed to providing a safe and respectful work
environment, and these reporting channels are in place to
ensure that any such misconduct is promptly addressed,
and appropriate actions are taken. It is important for
employees to feel empowered to come forward and
report any incidents of mistreatment, as the Group takes
such matters seriously and is dedicated to fostering a
workplace free from harassment and discrimination.

Employee Communication Channels

The Group’s management actively fosters employee
engagement through various management mechanisms
and communication channels, such as emails,
questionnaires, and meetings. In accordance with
the guidelines outlined in the Employee Handbook,
employees are encouraged to report any irregularities
they come across to their supervisors or directly to the
Human Resources Department. The Group places great
importance on addressing such reports and ensures
that all cases are handled confidentially. Investigations
are conducted to gather relevant information and take
appropriate actions to address the reported irregularities.
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Health and Safety

The Group adheres to the principle of people-centred
management and is committed to ensuring that its
employees are working in a safe, comfortable environment,
reducing potential workplace health and safety hazards,
and implementing safety management at workspace.

The Group has achieved zero work-related fatalities for
three consecutive years (including the Reporting Period).
During the Reporting Period, the Group has not lost any
working days due to work injury. The Group was also not
aware of any material non-compliance with employment-
related laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations include
but are not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC and
the Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases
Law of the PRC.

Health & Safety Indicators Unit
ERERET2ER Etiva
Work-related fatalities Numbers
ITHESETER B
Fatality rate %
T

Lost days due to work injury Days
IEBEARRE RER
Work-related injury Cases
I% =M

Promoting Healthy Lifestyle

The Group has long supported a work-life balance
culture by organizing a variety of employee activities
from time to time, including birthday parties, physical
training programmes, annual dinners, boat trips, and
Christmas parties for employees to enhance their overall
well-being. In addition, we provide our employees with
a range of leave options, including maternity leave,
paternity leave, jury leave, compensation leave, as well as
study and examination leave. This is to ensure that our
employees can balance their professional and personal
responsibilities.
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Occupational Health and Safety

Providing a safe working environment for all employees
is one of the Group’s top priorities. The Group strictly
complies with applicable laws and regulations on
occupational health and safety in jurisdictions where it
operates. A comprehensive set of internal policies and
procedures has been developed for assessing, monitoring,
and minimising occupational health and safety risks
within the organization. The Health and Safety Plan
details information regarding different aspects, such as
the responsibilities of individuals working with a safety
organisation, the health and safety training, the personal
protection programme, inspection of a hazardous
condition, incident investigation, emergency preparedness
etc. For those employees travelling abroad on Company
business, the Company will arrange travel insurance.
Employees are expected to contact Human Resources
Department in advance for arrangement of business travel
insurance.

Occupational health and safety management systems
have been implemented in our construction sites and were
certified to follow the requirements of 1SO45001:2018
standards (provision of renovation and fitting out works).
Suitable procedures and drills will be implemented
by Sanbase in the event of an emergency. Drills will
be conducted every six months. The foreseeable
emergencies would include but are not limited to fire,
rainstorms, typhoons, landslides, hazardous substance
spillage etc. Additionally, the Group has prepared self-
learning pamphlets and booklets for employees and its
subcontractors and vendors, describing the work duties,
the general instructions, and the preventive measures,
such as Guidelines on Site Safety Measures for Working
in Hot Weather and Guidelines for Work-Above-Ground
Safety.
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Construction Site Safety

Ensuring safety at construction sites is a top priority for
the Group, considering that a significant portion of its
business operations are conducted on-site. To address
this concern, the Group has established a Site Safety
Committee, led by the Project Manager. The committee
comprises representatives from the management
of the Company, the Registered Safety Officer, the
supervisor from subcontractors, site supervisors, and
worker representatives. All workers working on the site
are required to obtain a valid Construction Industry
Mandatory Basic Safety Training Certificate (‘“MBSTC”)
and construction workers’ registered cards. To ensure a
safe working environment at all project sites, we provide
appropriate and adequate protective equipment to
our construction site workers, such as safety helmets,
goggles, safety shoes, earplugs, and dust masks.

According to our in-house safety rules, workers from the
site who repeatedly infringe on our safety requirements
will be suspended from work until the rectification is
made. Visitors are provided with safety helmets and are
accompanied by supervisory staff. Site safety inspections
shall be conducted by the Registered Safety Officer on
a regular basis to identify defects, unsafe conditions and
malpractices, and any breaches of the safety plan. An
accident must be reported in every instance. For serious
accidents reported, construction work shall be ceased
until investigation work has been carried out. The Group
complies with relevant laws and regulations, including but
not limited to the Factories and Industrial Undertakings
Ordinance (Section 6A & 6B), Construction Sites (Safety)
Regulations, and Factories and Industrial Undertakings
(Dangerous Substances) Regulations of Hong Kong.

Furthermore, the Group actively identifies, evaluates, and
manages potential sources of hazards and occupational
health and safety deficiencies that could lead to accidents
during its operations. This involves the collaborative
effort of the Registered Safety Officer to conduct
risk assessments for upcoming routine activities and
document all pertinent information in the risk assessment
sheet. The risk assessments are periodically reviewed
every six months, and if there are significant changes in
circumstances, a re-assessment is conducted to ensure
the continued effectiveness of the safety measures.
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Development and Training

We offer different training opportunities in a variety of
knowledge and skills based on the needs of employees
and the business. The management of each department
may engage their employees in training activities
when needed, to keep them abreast of industry trends
and developments, and to refresh existing skills. The
management also makes sure that the training activities
attain their intended objectives of continuous learning.

Through diversified trainings, the Group has developed
and improved its internal training system to meet the
different needs of all types of employees. Apart from
induction training, the Group provides other training
sessions covering fire escape instruction, housekeeping
rules, protection against falling objects, electricity safety
and safe use of hand-held power tools.

Safety training plays a vital role in effective accident
prevention and safety awareness enhancement. According
to the Health and Safety Plan, mandatory training
arrangements for site management level and front-line
supervisors will also be included. The training topics cover
the toolbox’s usage during various emergency incidents
and its guidelines related to construction activities. The
training programme shall be reviewed quarterly by the
Registered Safety Officer to suit the actual needs of the
construction activities and to introduce a new training
programme for the next quarter. All the safety and
environmental induction trainings have been recorded and
considered as one evaluation criterion of performance
appraisal.

The Group formulates the following year’s training plan
at the end of each year according to its business needs.
The Group will also make appropriate adjustments to
the training courses according to the training needs and
targets.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved an REmERHE NEEEEIIEH156% (2023
overall training percentage of 156% (2023: 111%), F:111%) - R H271{E /) B (20234 : 20918 )\
providing 271 hours (2023: 209 hours) of training with the B REHN - B2 FIE B F 5 X 894.0418 /)
average training period of approximately 4.04 hours (2023: BF (20234 : 2. 798 /NBF ) B9 BB 3 - 2 M B K (R B
2.79 hours) per employee trained. The breakdown of the BEESZIEERBLT

employees trained by gender and employment category is

as follows:

The composition of employee training by gender and ZHRIREEBENE DN IEBEARBERAT

employment category are as follows:

Composition of Employee Training 2024 2023
ZolfE B AKX 20244 2023%F
By Gender 4B &5

Male B4 57% 65%
Female pegia 43% 35%
By Employment Category BRESERE S

Management == 45% 61%
General Staff —REE 55% 39%
The average number of training hours completed per ZUERMEEREAE D BHREE THHFHE
employee by gender and employment categories are as ARSI T -

follows:

Average Number of Training Hours (hours) 2024 2023
T IR B (/) 2024 % 2023%F
Overall HEFE 4.04 2.79
By Gender &4 B85

Male =X 4.00 4.14
Female 2z 4.11 0.97
By Employment Category RESERE S

Management ERE 3.40 4.43
General Staff —&kEE 4.57 0.91
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Labour Standards
Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group maintains a strong commitment to compliance
with all relevant laws and regulations, prohibiting the use
of child or forced labour in the workplace. To ensure that
candidates meet the legal working age requirements,
the Human Resources Department verifies their identity
documents as part of the recruitment process. By
conducting these identity checks, the Group takes
proactive measures to verify the eligibility of candidates
and uphold its commitment to ethical employment
practices.

Furthermore, the Employment Agreements and job
descriptions clearly outline the working hours, location,
assigned tasks, and primary responsibilities to ensure that
employees are not compelled to perform tasks that fall
outside the scope of their roles. If employees are required
to work beyond their regular working hours, any overtime
work is voluntary and compensated in accordance with
applicable laws and regulations. This practice safeguards
against forced overtime and upholds the rights and well-
being of the employees.

The Group also prohibits any punishments and behaviours
involving verbal abuse, physical punishment, physical
abuse, oppression, sexual harassment (including
inappropriate language, postures and physical contact),
etc., against employees for any reason. If any employee
is discovered that has violated the Group’s regulations,
the Group will terminate the probationary period or the
Employment Agreement immediately under Employee
Handbook.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with child and forced labour-
related laws and regulations, that would have a significant
impact on the Group. Such laws and regulations include
but are not limited to the Employment Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Labour Law of the PRC, and the Provisions on
the Prohibition of Using Child Labour of the PRC.
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Supply Chain Management
Supplier Management

Supplier management is an indispensable part of robust
operations. The Group looks forward to long-term
cooperation with suppliers for sustainable and innovative
development. It provides detailed provisions regarding
supplier classification, inspection, management, rights
and interests in the Subcontracting and Procurement
Policy and Code of Ethics. During the Reporting Period,
we coordinated with a total of 407 significant suppliers
located in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Ensuring the quality of products and services provided
by suppliers and subcontractors is crucial for delivering
superior service to customers. To maintain a responsible
and reliable supply chain, a standardised selection
procedure has been established. This procedure evaluates
various dimensions such as service quality, responsiveness
to concerns, qualifications, and company profile. The
most suitable suppliers and subcontractors are selected
and recorded in a qualified list, following a comprehensive
assessment process.

Additionally, periodic evaluations are conducted to ensure
that suppliers and subcontractors meet our requirements.
Besides this, a site environmental inspection is conducted
as part of every project to ensure sustainability. Numerous
factors must be checked by the designated personnel,
including waste management, water conservation,
noise management, energy conservation, chemical
management, etc.

During fitting-out activities, suppliers and subcontractors
are strictly monitored by the Group. If any breach of
contract occurs, we may hire temporary staff or other
approved suppliers, and subcontractors may be assigned
to handle the project and assume responsibility so that
our services run smoothly.
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Green Procurement

The Group is committed to integrating sustainable
development into its business model. To reduce the
carbon footprint associated with the procurement process,
the Group prioritises local sourcing. By relying on suppliers
and subcontractors primarily located in Hong Kong,
the Group minimises greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
resulting from material deliveries and transportation. This
approach not only contributes to mitigating environmental
impact but also supports local economic development.
By sourcing locally, the Group fosters economic
growth and creates employment opportunities for local
communities. It recognises the importance of supporting
the local economy and aims to make a positive social and
economic contribution through its business activities.

The Group places a high priority on environmentally
friendly products and services during the procurement
process. A preference is given to suppliers and
subcontractors who choose products with less packaging,
thus reducing unnecessary waste, and opt to use energy-
efficient equipment, including LEDs, to reduce energy
consumption.

Apart from environmental concerns, the Group will
monitor whether its suppliers and contractors comply with
applicable health, safety, forced labour, and child labour
laws, regulations, and standards. As part of the evaluation
process, the Group will visit suppliers’ operating sites to
ensure they meet all aspects of standards. The Group
aims to reduce environmental and social risks in its supply
chain through the above practices.
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Product Responsibility

Responsible business practices are critical to a
healthy business. The Group believes quality products
and customer service are essential for sustainable
development. To this end, the Group has formulated a
series of relevant policies and guidelines to improve the
quality of its products and services continuously.

During the Reporting Period, there were no sold or
shipped products of the Group that were subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons, and the Group
was not aware of any incidents of non-compliance with
related laws and regulations concerning health and safety,
advertising, labelling, and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress
that would have a significant impact on the Group. Such
laws and regulations include but are not limited to the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong, the
Protection of Consumer Rights and Interests of the PRC,
and the Advertising Law of the PRC.

Quality Services

Our core value is to provide and maintain high-quality
services that satisfy our clients. For this purpose,
we adhere to policies and procedures established in
accordance with 1SO9001:2015 Quality Management
System standards and procedures. To ensure the overall
quality of the fit-out work, a Project Quality Plan has
been implemented in the whole work process, starting
with materials purchase, document submission, sample
submission, construction and installation, inspection and
testing control, mock-up prior to installation, preparation
for handover and quality record management.
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Certain Control Measures

BTEHER

Material Purchased

M FHR B

Document Submission

AR AR

Construction and Installation
BERLE

Inspection and Testing

B Ui BRI =

Upon the arrival of the materials, the site manager/site
supervisor would conduct the materials inspection.
MEEEE THEBAL THEEHETMRRE

Any materials found to be sub-standard or defective would be
rejected and replaced with qualified materials.

EATHARERA RO B HIER XA AR B ZH -

All changes and modifications on any forms of documents,
including letters, drawings and technical literature, shall be
identified, documented, reviewed and approved by the project
manager before implementation.
HAMBROXE 8EE0 ITEREREMTXHBMOMEEER
B EEERABIEEBTEAEBRTE o FSRitE.

The installation procedures shall be in accordance with the
approved Method Statement.
RERBFERNTERENTIERA -

Inspection and testing would be conducted before the handover
of the completed work to the client. All the relevant records shall
be reviewed for compliance with satisfactory results.

U RBE B ERE P BRTKA TEZ RI#ETT - A HB AL
BEEEES UBRERFERTINETARENER-

If there is any non-compliance or failed result, the subject parts
are required to take corrective and preventive actions, and these
items are to be re-inspected.

MEBEFAMIFEERKTEBNER AU BRBARNAYER
b fE WEHZEEBETEN RS

In addition to enhancing the project quality, we prioritise
the safety of our workers and project sites. The Group has
employees who are certified as Registered Safety Officers
by the Labour Department. To maintain safety standards,
weekly safety inspections are carried out using a checklist
developed by the Group. The inspections encompass
various criteria, including valid workers’ permits,
adherence to site safety rules, emergency plans, dust
control measures, noise control, identification of tripping
hazards, and the safety of electrical equipment. By
conducting these inspections, we ensure a comprehensive
approach to safety management and the identification and
resolution of potential hazards.
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Customer Service

To further enhance customer satisfaction, the Group is
dedicated to improving its customer feedback system and
expanding available channels for customers to provide
their opinions and register complaints regarding products
and services. The Group offers multiple channels through
which the public can share their feedback, including
official websites, phone calls, the Group’s hotline, and
in-person meetings. These diverse feedback channels
provide customers with convenient and accessible means
to communicate their thoughts, allowing the Group to
better understand customer needs and address any
concerns or issues promptly. By actively engaging with
customer feedback, the Group aims to continuously
improve its products and services and ensure a high level
of customer satisfaction.

As the project is being executed, we communicate with
customers regularly to ensure that their requirements
are being met. Upon successful project completion,
the customer will receive a maintenance guide which
includes instructions on how to install appliances and
an as-built drawing of the premises. The Group listens
carefully to each feedback received during and after the
service process. Customers have responded positively to
customer satisfaction surveys during the Reporting Period.
During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive
any material product and service-related complaints.

Advertising and Labelling

A proper advertising campaign is crucial, as well as
compliance with media advertising requirements. Online
platforms are used by the Group to advertise its business
activities. The Group has developed relevant policies
and procedures to ensure that advertising information
is accurate, complete, and does not contain false and
misleading information, or false claims, to reduce the risks
associated with advertising. To protect consumers from
being harmed by advertisements, the Group must comply
with laws and regulations pertaining to advertising.
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Privacy Protection

Protecting the rights, privacy, and data of customers is of
paramount importance to the Group. Stringent security
and confidentiality standards have been implemented
to safeguard the privacy of personal data. The Group
ensures compliance with all regulatory requirements
related to data privacy, guaranteeing that customer data
is handled and protected in accordance with applicable
laws and regulations. By maintaining high standards of
data privacy, the Group demonstrates its commitment to
safeguarding customer information and upholding their
rights and privacy.

To ensure that computer systems are used exclusively
for business purposes, the Group has established the
General Information Technology Policy. Unless permitted
or required by law, the Group will not disclose the
collected personal data to any third parties without the
personnel’s prior consent. The Group also requires former
employees to hand over information and documents such
as customer information, projects, contents and progress
of various tasks in conjunction with pending tasks to
the responsible department. In addition, the Group will
not disclose personal data to anyone for promotional
purposes. Whenever sensitive information needs to
be exchanged, a Non-Disclosure Agreement (NDA) is
mandatory as part of the contract.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

Group employees are encouraged to innovate and comply
with applicable laws and regulations regarding intellectual
property protection in the places where they operate. The
Group maintains and protects intellectual property rights
and encourages its employees to keep up to date with the
latest technological breakthroughs.

According to the General Information Technology Policy,
employees are forbidden from disclosing confidential
information to any third party, including but not limited
to Group strategies, business interests, know-how,
inventions, and intellectual property, whether during
employment or after the termination of employment.
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Anti-corruption

Corporate governance is integral to the growth and
development of the Group. Towards the development
of an ethical, open, and transparent corporate culture,
the Group has formulated a Code of Ethics Policy and
Anti-Corruption Policy to govern business practices and
protect stakeholders’ interests. The Company takes a
zero-tolerance approach towards all forms of bribery and
corruption. Moreover, the Group explicitly specifies that
employees must be honest, loyal to their duties, and not
abuse their official status to obtain improper benefits.

Training and briefings on anti-corruption are provided
to all employees and directors of the Board in a regular
manner by the Group. Group directors were trained for
3 hours on the latest anti-corruption regulations during
the Reporting Period, while employees were trained for 3
hours. The training materials highlight the importance of
embedding integrity in the workplace, provide guidance on
adhering to business ethics, and provide industry-specific
examples to facilitate the understanding of anti-corruption
by employees.

During the Reporting Period, there were no concluded
legal cases regarding any forms of fraud raised by the
Group or its employees. The Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations of bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering. Such laws and regulations include but are not
limited to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC, the
Criminal Law of the PRC, and the Company Law of the
PRC and the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the PRC.
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Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group has also established a transparent Whistle-
blowing Policy to detect and deter misconduct,
malpractice, or unethical acts. The Group’s Whistle-
blowing Policy is regularly reviewed by the Audit
Committee to encourage staff and stakeholders to expose
corruption and strengthen the effectiveness of anti-
corruption control. Employees who become aware of any
actual or suspected violations of this Policy are required to
report them under the reporting channels and procedures
outlined in the Policy, which provides an avenue for
employees and others dealing with the Group to express
concerns about suspected impropriety, misconduct, or
malpractice. They could raise their concerns to the Board
by e-mail to whistleblower@sanbase.com.hk or mail to
the Group’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
The Chief Executive Officer or the Audit Committee will
review the concern and complaint, make the appropriate
investigation arrangement and report the findings to
the Board. All reports under this Policy will be treated
in a strictly confidential and fair manner by the Group.
The identity of the employee or external party making
the report and complaint will not be disclosed without
such employee’s or external party’s consent, unless the
Group is legally obliged to reveal such information. There
will be no unfair dismissal or unjustified discipline of the
whistleblower, and the whistleblower’s other legal rights
will be protected.
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Community Investment

The Group recognises its role as a responsible corporate
citizen and actively monitors the needs of the communities
in which it operates. Through various channels, the Group
gives back to the community, aiming to promote social
harmony and sustainable development while fulfilling its
corporate social responsibility. In another effort to help
cultivate employees’ sense of social responsibility, the
Group has always encouraged employees to participate
in social welfare activities during their working day and
in their spare time to make a greater contribution to
society. The focus area of the Group is health. During the
Reporting Period, the Group’s total community investment
amount was approximately HKD11,400. Below are the
sections where we have made public donations:

° the Group has donated HK$2,000 to the Hong Kong
Cancer Fund to support those affected by cancer.

o the Group has contributed HK$1,000 directly to
Yan Chai Hospital for providing quality healthcare
services to the community.

° the Group has donated HK$8,400 to Po Lin Yuen
Vegetarian Food and organized a volunteer food
distribution event to support the community’s
nutritional needs.
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT EEBAEXZMERQLARE HER
INDEX OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF EaHREESI &S

HONG KONG LIMITED

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TESR -EE —REK

ERBAEENER fut =301

Aspect A1: Emissions

EBEA1:HEBRY

General Disclosure Information on: Emissions

(@) the policies; and

(o) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to Exhaust Gas
and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

— PR ER FHBERRAERBHENR MAKR TS EERBEEEEY  BEKX
WEEER:
(a) EE: K
b) BEFHBTAFEAZENHEBZERAMNER -
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Emissions -
Air Emissions
B3R 4B B R AL HE R 1 H8 B B PR - HEP — BE R BER
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas Emissions —
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate intensity GHG Emissions
B ERIEIRAL.2 HE(SHE)RERAZ (BE2) A=REBHME (AMEAE) R FRIRERBHER
(WnsE )& -
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity Emissions -
Waste Management
B8 48 B TR A3 FEXEEEEYESE (UBHE)REE- M —EEWER
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and intensity Emissions —
Waste Management
R ERIERAL4 FEXREEEDESE (UBHE)REE- P —EEDERE
KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken to achieve Emissions —
them. Environmental target
B8 A RUEIRALS B VH R ERERREIGELBFEMEIRN S PH-—RRER
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are Emissions —
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved. Waste Management
B 4§ 48 BUEIRA1.6 HREEEEREEEEYNA L BREEEENEMRERAGKRE HN-—EBEVERE
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RE - HERERRS
Subject Areas,

Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description
FTEHRE BFE- - —RIE
ERBAEENER it

Section/Declaration

2 BH

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

EEA2 : ERER

General Disclosure

— R

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water
and other raw materials.

BRERER (BIEER KEEAMRME) B BER

Use of Resources

BIRE A

KPI A2.1

8 452 48 WUE TR A2,

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and
intensity
AR5

MEER SHEEREEERTE -

Use of Resources —
Energy Management

BRER—ERER

KPI A2.2

BB 4B R 1R A2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity

BREKERTE-

Use of Resources —
Water Management

ERER—BKER

KPI A2.3

P82 48 IR 1R A2.3

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and results
achieved.

Tt B R AP AR SR s 5 B R PR IS AR ©

Use of Resources —
Energy Management

BIRER—EREE

KPI A2.4

R EMIEIRA2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and results achieved

M sKEUE A KR LA B EE - L RBA B KK E R AT
ﬁﬁ%

Use of Resources —
Water Management

BRER-AKER

KPI' A2.5

RS IR IR A2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and with reference to per unit produced
LU o P AR B

BEMBNEE (AME) RBEEEMGE-

Use of Resources —
Use of Packaging
Materials
BIRE A —
i

BEMEHE

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 : BERARER

General Disclosure

—REE

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the
environment and natural resources

BEBETAHREIARERERERTZENBE

The Environment and
Natural Resources

RERRARER

KPI A3.1

B 5248 IR 1R AS. 1

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

BB EDHRARRAE RN EAYERERRERENY
L1TE-

The Environment and
Natural Resources —
Indoor Air Quality
Control, Noise Control
BRERAABER-ENA
EREEEH - RE

R
i
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BE - #H#E8REABHRS

Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs
FTEHE - EHE- —RIE

ENERANER

Description

1

Section/Declaration

BHBH

Aspect A4 : Climate Change

EBHEA4: RIREL

General Disclosure

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate
related issues which have impacted, and those which may
impact, the issuer.

Climate Change

—RIRE BAREHOKRAEEHBITAEETENERRGEBEE SEFZ(
B RER
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have Climate Change -

FA B4R IR IR A4.1

impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

BRI EHETAEEFENEARGHEBEE  RE
H178 -

Physical Risks,
Transition Risks
R —PRER-
3B R B

Aspect B1: Employment

EEB1:EfE

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, antidiscrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.

Employment

—RIRE BRHM LR BELET TERE RY - TEKE Zil. &R
b 48 A Ko B At 155 38 e A8 A A -
(@ HBE: K
(o) BTHETABEAZENHEBZERZLRINES -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and Employment

A B2 48 IR 1R B1.1

geographical region

RIER  BERLY FRANIHEISNESEE-

(]

KPI B1.2

BB IR IRB1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical
region.

BER - FkAR R REDHREERKLL K-

Employment

(A
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General
Disclosures and KPIs
TESER-EE —REK
ERBAEENER

Description

1

Section/Declaration

2 BH

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

EBHEHB2 - @EHEZ2

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

Health and Safety

— PR ER FAREZ2TIHEREAREREEREBEMEEN: ERETE

(a) B &

b) BEFHBTAFEAZENHEBZZERANNER -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities. Health and Safety
B § 48 R 1R B2. 1 EIRT A REE- REEZS
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
BB UEIEB2.2 EIGEXIEAE. EEREZE

KPI B2.3

RS M IE 1R B2.3

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

PR B RRERT 28 A REBERTRERT A

Health and Safety —
Occupational

Health and Safety,
Construction Site Safety
ERETE —BERE
Hes BZETIWMELE

Aspect B3: Development and Training

EEBS : & RIEJ

General Disclosure

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for

Development and

discharging duties at work. Description of training activities. Training

— AR ER FARAEERTIEBRENMAREENBRE - HMIFIES - BRERIFI

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee Development and
category (e.g. senior management, middle management). Training

A4 48 I 1R B3. 1 REFREEEN (WEREEE FREEE)E>NZIEE BREREI

Bkt

KPI B3.2

BB 4E MIE1RB3.2

The average training hours completed per employee by gender
and employee category.

BB REEERNE D BREETKIINFHEEC

Development and
Training
R RIE
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Subject Areas,

Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description
TESER-EE —REK
ERBAEENER it

Section/Declaration

2 BH

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
BEHB4 B ITIEE

General Disclosure Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to preventing child
and forced labour.

Labour Standards —
Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour

—RIRE EEMILEETRESE I : BIRE-HIEET R
(@ BE: XK SR T
(b) BTFUHBTABEAZEZNHEBZZRRANESR -

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid Labour Standards —

child and forced labour.

B 5248 IR 1R B4 fa i T RIS E A A R E T RRGIS T -

Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour
BIFE-IEETR
T

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
[EEB5 : HEHEEE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply  Supply Chain
chain. Management
—RIKE ERHEHNREREERBEBUR - HrEEER
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain
Management
B § 48 IR 1R B5. 1 BB D HEREE - HEEER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of  Supply Chain
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how Management —

they are implemented and monitored.

Supplier Management

B4R 4B IR IR B5.2 M EARBHERNEDN MERTEBEMNNHEMEE A HEEETEE-HERE
REBEANNRITRERGE- it

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social  Supply Chain
risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and Management —
monitored. Green Procurement

B4 48 IR 1R B5.3 MAERABANFEEGERSNRELESRARNEN  ARE HEREE-GERE
BRI RER A

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally Supply Chain
preferable products and services when selecting suppliers, and Management —

how they are implemented and monitored.
B A WIE1RB5.4 R EREHERSEECZARRER RREHNBED - LR EH
BITRERA A

Green Procurement

HEREE-SEXE
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs Description Section/Declaration
TESER-EE —REK
ERBAEENER it 301

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
EBEB6 :EmEE
General Disclosure Information on: Product Responsibility
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have
a significant impact on the issuer relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods of redress.

— PR ER FHAMRHEERNMRBNERERZS2 BES BREAMBEEUALR EmEE
R ER
(a) WE: R
b) BEFHBTAFEAZENHEBZERAMNER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for Product Responsibility
safety and health reasons.
B 3 48 R 1R B6. 1 EERCEXEMBEPTARERREAMARKN A D EmAE
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service-related complaints received and Product Responsibility —
how they are dealt with. Customer Service
B3 5 IR 12 B6.2 BREAREmRRBORFEEUAREH A EmBE-FPR®%
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Product Responsibility —
intellectual property rights. Protection of Intellectual
Property Rights
B B WIE 1R B6.3 frut R E RRFEMNBEEEAAED - EmET-REMHE
]
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Product Responsibility —
Quality Service
B 5 B 12 B6.4 HMEERTAREREmMBYET- EmEE-EBERYS
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and Product Responsibility —
how they are implemented and monitored. Privacy Protection
7§ 48 IR 1R B6.5 S BEERRERLBBER - ARBEARITRER T - EmBEE-LERE
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Subject Areas,
Aspects, General

Disclosures and KPIs
FTEHE - EHE - —RIE

ENERANER

Description

1

Section/Declaration

2 BH

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

BEB7 :R&ES

General Disclosure

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.

Anti-corruption

—RIRE ERAM LR $R RFREEREN: R&5
(a) BUR: &
(b) BITUHETAREAZENHBZZNLRANESR-
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices Anti-corruption

BSR4 IR 1R BT A

brought against the issuer or its employees during the Reporting
Period and the outcomes of the cases.
REEHNEBTALEEERETEELENE THFARHENH
BRFDRER

R&ES

KPI B7.2

FABE AR MR IR B7.2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, and how they are implemented and monitored.

Wl g B RIET N RBEERTRER A

Anti-corruption

R&ES

KPI B7.3

B B2 48 MIE 1R B7.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and
staff.

WAREERREERHORESTHEI -

Anti-corruption

R&ES

Aspect B8: Community Investment

EHEBS : #HERE

General Disclosure

— MR

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs
of the communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its
activities take into consideration the communities’ interests.
FRANMBRSERTBEEMTHERENRREEK D =E
AT [ F 25 B BUK -

Community Investment

HERERE

KPI B8.1

A 52 48 IE 12 B8.1

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

FIEREE (K5 RREH STFER -EE Xt 8BF)-

Community Investment

HEREE

KPI B8.2
BB A5 WUIE 12 B8.2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.
EEIHRMBAER (MEBRER) -

Community Investment

HERE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M % BRD R

=
pwec

To the Shareholders of Sanbase Corporation Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Sanbase Corporation
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 117 to 207, comprise:

° the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2024;

° the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income for the year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the
year then ended;

° the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
comprising material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2024, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BREpARE
EETY TPl
(REIE BB MR T ERA )
=
EMEEEZNAR

HEEERR (LUTHEIEQAR]) REMB AR (MK
THEIBER])INFENENTE207TE MRS M KR
=B

. MR2024F3A31HM LA AR K

s HBEZALFENHRARESRER N

¢ BAMBRENE AEIBEHEE
o BRI E R

ik

8 KA

ERPNWER

EMRE ZEREVERREBREDTEETMAE
((EBETMAE])BHN (BEAETBRE LR
(EBAMBREENDETEMTsSRET ES£H
MR2024F3AB1EMNGE N BMRAREREZALLETF
ERGAEMBRARGEESRE YEEREB (2
KD REBEER T Z RBEE-
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as
follows:

° Recognition of contract revenue

° Impairment assessment of contract assets and trade and
retention receivables
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B % AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
EEEXREE (#)

Key Audit Matter
ERELREE

Recognition of contract revenue
BREHBA

Refer to notes 2(vi)(18), 4(ii) and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

FH2MG A M RER M 5F2(vi)(18) ~ B 5F4(i) K M E5 ©

The Group recorded contract revenue from the services
of bare shell fit-out, restacking and reinstatement for the
year ended 31 March 2024 of approximately HKD397.6
million.

B E2024F3HA31BILFE: ESEEEXRFEE E
KR RRBEEEOWALB76BEE T

Revenue from contracts for the above services
is recognised over the period of the contracts by
measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation on the basis of the actual
costs incurred by the Group up to the year-end date as
a percentage of total estimated costs for each contract.
FRRBEARARENIBRNBBE EXEEHEFHE
HEEEZERKAMEEHNAFTRAKNEANBEDLEE
BROEEMERTHKZHEE -

We focused on this area as significant management’s
judgement is involved to estimate the costs to complete
individual service contract for projects in progress. The
estimated costs to completion are used to determine the
progress towards complete satisfaction of performance
obligation of an individual service contract and to
recognise relevant contract revenue accordingly.
BT MRS TR A TR E R T R RS 418
B RR AR & BRE IR E I - 5T 5 A AR A R0 7 5E
MRBEHABHNEETK 2 ERE W EREMEREBES L
WA e

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ECNNEEREERSE

Our audit procedures in relation to management’s
recognition of contract revenue included:

BHAEHEEEERRBANBANEREFER:

e  Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors involved in the costs
to complete estimation;

o HIRZERMFH T EMIRE MG ET AR R
HinE A RREZAKT  FTETERERNEH R

e  Selected the ongoing contracts on a sample basis and
reviewed the terms and conditions of the contracts to
understand the respective work nature and contractual
relationship with the customers;

e EHMBEEXRERTEETHNSANENSONERRE
T UTHRETELEREEFNEHNBEK:

e Checked the correspondences with selected
customers, including project acceptance documents
or communication evidence to evaluate the
reasonableness of management’s estimates on the
progress towards completion of a project;

s REHETFTEZFHNBEE BEREBEMAXHIBEEFR"
NFHEEREHIEE TR ERRFHAEN:

e Assessed management’s determination of the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the projects through
inquiry with project managers, inspection of project
status summary and other correspondences with
customers and performing site visits;

e MBREBEKEERN REBEMAKETPETHEM
BEVETRSER UMHEEEHER TKEERN
RTE
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
EEEXEE #)

Key Audit Matter
HAREXRSBE
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNERNMEERRBREXSEHE

° Reviewed the latest project budgets and quotations
from subcontractors in assessing management’s
determination of estimated total costs of projects;

e HHEHMEAEERRKAHAFNRE UTHEEEYH
18 B A B R ERTE

e Tested the total costs incurred up to the date of
statement of financial position by checking, on a sample
basis, subcontractors’ invoices and/or quotations; and

s RHMEEEBRBRENFABNBEER IME HE
ZEBARN K B EEENERIETRS D R

e Tested mathematical accuracy of the calculations of
contract revenue and costs.

o AHAAKNKRARKAGTEEREN -

Based on the above, we considered management’s
judgements and assumptions used to estimate total costs
of projects and progress towards complete satisfaction as
at year end date were supportable by the evidence obtained
and procedures performed.

EREMER BRMRABEEEEAFIEE BN AURRE
HETHEENBERMERN AR RBRRODEIZIBEREET
BIIR ST FF o
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B % AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
EEEXREE (#)

Key Audit Matter
ERELREE

Impairment assessment of contract assets and
trade and retention receivables

BREEURESZRRE S EBRNBERT G

Refer to notes 2(vi)(8)(iv), 3.1(ii)(b), 4(iii), 18 and 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

B2 EA TS RERM E2(vi)8)(v) « M 3.1 (b) ~ BT &E
A(jii) ~ M FE18 R FY 5E19 ©

The Group had gross contract assets of approximately
HKD39.2 million and gross trade and retention
receivables of approximately HKD56.6 million as at 31
March 2024.

R2024F3A31H EBHEBENEHNEERLTELNARI.2A
EATURESRRE S EBWNRAELN R66BEBT

Management applied the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measure expected credit losses which uses a lifetime
expected loss allowance for all contract assets and
trade and retention receivables. In developing the loss
allowances of contract assets and trade and retention
receivables, management used judgement in making
the assumptions about the risk of default and expected
credit loss rate.

EREBERAEAEVBRE ENFIRNE A ATEREH
EEEE SMEEHNEAEARES RRESERFKER
SHEREERE -ERTENEEARES LRESE
WRHEREES ERBERAE FLAMEOAR
RIEHEEENRE -

The contract assets and trade and retention receivables
were grouped based on business segments,
geographical locations and credit risk characteristics,
and individually and collectively assessed for likelihood
of recovery, taking into consideration their credit rating,
general industrial default rates and historical credit
loss experience. The expected credit loss rates were
determined based on default rates and were adjusted to
reflect forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors.
BHEENBEGERESBRURBEEBDEA HEBLE
MEERBEEETHE TEBIREXNEETR &
BITEXENRREATEEEBLR @R A KT G
WEE At -BHEEBRXDRBEREOXET UK
ABUARMEBEZESBEREZNAEILEER -

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ECNNEEREERSE

Our audit procedures in relation to impairment assessment
of contract assets and trade and retention receivables
included:
BFREEENEENRE S KR E © B FORE T )&
BRFEE:

e  Assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and
level of other inherent risk factors such as significant
judgements involved in determining collectability of
contract assets and trade and retention receivables and
selecting data for the calculation of loss allowance;

e FBAZRMINIHETURBENEETSNEENURES
NARE S BUGRAI W E S MEZAEBEEENEBIERY
K 8K ) B [E 8 R B B = AR - AP E RS ER
PRt ) &) 5 B

° Understood the key controls over management’s
assessment of expected credit losses of contract
assets and trade and retention receivables including
the evaluations of customers’ credit profiles and their
respective credit risk;

e THEEERIHAENEEURES RRESERNIE
ZIEHEEER (BREIAEPNEEENRKESH
V15 B L BR ) £ A B2 42 I+ e

e Evaluated and tested management’s key controls in
respect of management’s assessment of expected
credit losses of contract assets and trade and retention
receivables, including ageing analysis, review and
regular assessment performed on collectability of the
receivable balances;

s FTFREMAFAEEBHNAEFREGHNEENREZINRES
W FIEREEFEMENBREZES  2E 7 EUER
AR ERE) AT B M ETT B BR B D AT~ IR BT IR BART A

e Assessed the appropriateness of the impairment
methodology in determining the provision for credit loss
allowance;

s MEEEEFEEBERGBRMAERRESEZZAENL:
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B M % BRD R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
EEEXREE (#)

Key Audit Matter
HAREXRSBE

In addition, for receivables related to customers
with known financial difficulties or significant doubt
in collection of receivables, specific provision was
made based on the estimated amount, taking into
consideration of the relationship with customers, credit
history, business performance and financial capability of
those customers and other relevant factors.

AN REMBEMBRENE P H B EEKFERERE
ROEBERRIEMNS DERINEEFPHEER EERFE
S OEBRREZEEPHMRENMEMBERZ R
BAETSEEL ST EE-

We focused on this area given that the inherent risk in
relation to the estimation of expected credit losses of
contract assets and trade and retention receivables is
considered significant and significant judgements are
involved in determining collectability of contract assets
and trade and retention receivables and selecting data
for the calculation of loss allowance.

ERNBEEEHNEERE D LRES EUY AT E T &
EERETEREEBNEERSIREXRAEG  AtHAE
HMeNBEERES RRE®EBWHHNTEREEEEME
HENATRBERBBER HBREMOE TEHE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMNERNMEERRBREXSEHE

Evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment of
the estimation of expected credit losses of contract
assets and trade and retention receivables to assess
the effectiveness of management’s estimation process;
TERATHEMENEERE H RIRE S FE W & TE
EEEBRGAEF &R UTHREEENGETEFZ
R

Assessed the appropriateness of market data used in
the credit loss model in determining the default rates;
AERETRENXEREFEEHEBERA P ERNTSEE
B 2

Challenged management for the use of forward-
looking information in adjusting the credit loss rates by
comparing to external market data or public available
information; and
FBREINETISEIBIAFAIBERETLER HEE
BHEARGEEEBEXNYAELEENNERED T k&
K

Independently assessed the recoverability of a sample
of contract assets and trade and retention receivables
balances, focusing on long overdue balances. We
assessed the collectability of the balances by checking
the supporting evidence, including subsequent
settlements, credit history, business performance and
financial capability of these customers.

DEAR EFREAREERNGHNEERES R
RE & WK B a7 B AT e - R PIE R4 B B
RBEARNATE KR RETHBXKESE BRPRE
H BEFNEERLE KEXENRMBKESN-

25

Based on the procedures performed, we considered that the
risk assessment of the expected credit losses of contract
assets and trade and retention receivables remained
appropriate and the impairment methodology and key data
used by management in the assessment of the expected
credit losses were supported by the available evidence and
procedures performed.

BEMATHRTF BMARREREGNEERESRRES
ERFNEREEEEMENRRTIGDNESE MERE
EFHEHEEFEEREANRER AR ETZEHEESFREA
BELMAITEFN IR



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M % BRD R

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’'s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B M % BRD R

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings,

including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lee Chung Bor.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mER

EH Z22024F3H31H i F/Z

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income

Administrative expenses

Fair value change of a financial asset
at fair value through profit or loss

Reversal of provision/(provision) for
impairment losses on financial assets

Impairment loss on an intangible assets

Operating (loss)/profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Finance income — net

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income, net
of income tax
ltem that may be subsequently
reclassified to profit or l0ss:
— Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operation
ltem that will not be reclassified
to profit or loss:
— Remeasurements of employee
benefit obligations

Total comprehensive income
for the year

@m Rk HAD 2R &SR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

Note
ok
A 5
5 E A 7
EF
Habug A 6
THAX 7

BRARERFABREZ
SRMEENRAABEES 16
SREEMEBEZ
B, (B 3.1(ii)(b)
EREEREEIE 15

ge (BE) EF

B A
BE 5 AR

TSI — 5 8

B BT 15 B4 A0 % R
Fr 8 = 10

FRER
Hit 2 E W ABRAER

HEZAJGEEF 7 E
Ra )R A -

— B E BN
IE i E
TEENGEEEm N

EH
—EMtERERBA
BE

FREZEKEAE

2024 2023
20245 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FiET
(Restated)

(&E5)

(Note 2)

(Hiz2)

428,077 517,599
(402,885) (484,434)
25,192 33,165

5 1,714

(26,651) (28,775)

(437) )

372 (548)

- (2,421)

___________ (1,519) 3,137
3,382 1,094

(114) (103)
____________ 3,268 991
1,749 4,128

(1,030) (1,547)

719 2,581

(293) (359)

515 208

941 2,520
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GeBEERkHME2ERKE R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

B E2024F3H31H 1 FZF
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HKD’000 HKD’'000
iz FET FiET
(Restated)
(&E5)
(Note 2)
(fiez2)
(Loss)/profit for the year EEER (BE) 5F:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company PIN/NESIEF SN (1,369) 751
Non-controlling interests AR A 2,088 1,830
719 2,581
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EEERE2@E (FEE)
for the year attributable to: W45
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIEZ N (1,133) 750
Non-controlling interests FE 12 IR 7 = 2,074 1,770
941 2,520
HK Cents HK Cents
Bl JBEN
(Restated)
(4€EZ))
(Note 2)
(HtiF2)
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable Z&2 T#EE AEG
to owners of the Company R (EFE) BA
Basic and diluted EAXREE 11 (0.69) 0.38

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other  EF#li4R& B R EM 2 EIEEEEN T —HHE -
comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the
accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e R R &
AS AT 31 MARCH 2024
R2024F3H31H
31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
20245 2023%F 20224
3H31H 3H31H 4H1H
Note HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
B &t FET FET FETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&%) (&%)
(Note 2) (Note 2)
(ft&t2) (Hiat2)
Assets EE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment % - &= M & 13 334 790 1,707
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14 4,082 1,941 3,316
Intangible assets mEEE 15 9,544 9,544 11,965
Financial asset at fair value EARBEFABRES
through profit or loss TREE 16 14,202 14,687 14,647
Deposits and prepayments e RIENR 20 484 404 338
Deferred income tax assets RIEATIGTHEE 24 1,121 1,233 1,189
__..._.29,767 28599 33,162
Current assets REBEE
Trade and retention receivables & 5 &R & & & U 5% 18 54,550 88,250 44,673
Contract assets EHEE 19 39,065 105,476 83,581
Deposits, other receivables e EhE R &
and prepayments AR 20 2,732 2,454 3,158
Income tax recoverable EIEEE RN 608 - 2,692
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIReEED 21 139,638 109,702 119,776
______ 236,593 305882 253,880
Total assets WEE 266,360 334,481 287,042
Equity ER
Equity attributable to AAREEAELER
the owners of the Company
Share capital fig A 22(a) 1,653 1,653 1,553
Shares held under share f& 0 48 B &+ 8 T FT %
award scheme &5 22(b) - (2,998) (2,998)
Share premium {17 4 B 57,632 57,632 57,632
Exchange reserve PE 5 % 1 (96) 115 378
Retained earnings R & F 77,836 80,882 79,869
136,925 137,184 136,434
Non-controlling interests IETE IR M = 7,059 6,969 5,199
Total equity 4 143,984 144,153 141,633
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= N
e BB AR &
AS AT 31 MARCH 2024
R2024F3H31H
31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
20244 20234 20224
3HA31H 3A31H 481H
Note HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
k3 FET FAET FAETT
(Restated) (Restated)
(&&E5) (&&E5)
(Note 2) (Note 2)
(Hiat2) (Hiat2)
Liabilities a&E
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 1,449 620 909
Employee benefit obligations EERFAEME 372 644 608
_________ 1,821 1264 1,517
Current liabilities REBAEE
Trade payables =Y ANEN 23 110,562 181,830 124,151
Accruals and other payables JiE &t K2 H Ath JE 1 5K 23 1,920 3,269 2,080
Contract liabilities AHatE 19 5,401 1,716 15,002
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 2,672 1,404 2,659
Income tax payables e TS - 845 -
______ 120,555 189,064 143,892
Total liabilities wmeE 122,376 190,328 145,409
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 266,360 334,481 287,042

The consolidated financial statements on pages 117 to 207 SF117E207E MG A M BREA D EE =S H2024F6
were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of A21BH#ERRETIEEHAUNTESRELZE:
Directors on 21 June 2024 and were signed on its behalf by:

Wong Sai Chuen Hui Man Yee Maggie
FitfF TR
Executive Director Executive Director
HITESE HITESE

The above consolidated statement of financial position should & #it4R & BF#E AR S 3% FE BABE BT BT o — OF BRI & -
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY!

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024

EH Z22024F3H31H i F/Z

At 1 April 2022, as previously reported
Change in accounting policy (note 2(v))

At 1 April 2022, as restated

Profit for the year, as previously reported
Change in accounting policy (note 2(v))

Profit for the year, as restated

Other comprehensive loss for the year:

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operation

Other comprehensive loss for the year,
as previously reported

Remeasurement of employee benefit
obligations

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year, as restated

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year

At 31 March 2028, as restated

At 1 April 2023, as previously reported
Change in accounting policy (note 2(v))

At 1 April 2023, as restated

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year:

Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operation

Remeasurements of employee benefit
obligations

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
for the year
Transactions with owners in their capacity
as owners:
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests
Issuance of shares under share award
scheme (Note 22(b) and 27)

At 31 March 2024

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should

20224 A1R - AT 2R
BHBREY (Mit2y)

R202264A18 (KE5])

EREN 0 2%
SR BREY (M)

FRER (BES)

FREMZERSE:

BREBHEBELRN
B ER

FREMZABE
anEg
ENHERBRAEML

FREMZE (B8) /
i (RE5)

Fr2E(BR) /
B A8

#2023F3A31 R (LE5)

M2023F4 A1 - AT 2
SHBEEY (Hi22)

#2023F4R18 (£EF])

R (51 /F)
ENAEE (5) /
s

BERNEBOES 28

EHEEERTARL

ER2E (BB /
g3t
UEEASBREFART
25!
BRFHEHEERZRE
BT RE BT 2 R iD
(Hiitoom) k27)

A202453A318

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG 2PN
Shares
held under
share award
scheme Non-
Share Share  (Note 22(b) Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium and 27) reserve earnings Subtotal interests  Total equity
R4} 2
HET
[iit=3) 9}
(HizE22(b)
RE B4 % E K1) ERRE RERF Mt FERES BER
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET FET FET FET FET FET FET
1,553 57,632 (2,998) 378 80,293 136,858 5,291 142,149
- - - - (424) (424) (92) (516)
1,563 57,632 (2,998) 378 79,869 136,434 5,199 141,633
- - - - 1,040 1,040 1,875 2,915
- - - - (289) (289) (45) (334)
- - - - 751 751 1,830 2,581
- - - (263) - (263) (96) (359)
- - - (263) - (263) (96) (359)
- - - - 262 262 36 298
- - - (263) 262 (1) (60) (61)
- - - (263) 1,013 750 1,770 2,520
1,553 57,632 (2,998) 115 80,882 137,184 6,969 144,153
1,553 57,632 (2,998) 115 81,333 137,635 7,070 144,705
- - - - (451) (451) (101) (552)
1,553 57,632 (2,998) 115 80,882 137,184 6,969 144,153
- - - - (1,369) (1,369) 2,088 719
- - - (211) - (211) (82) (293)
- - - - 447 447 68 515
- - - (211) (922) (1,133) 2,074 941
- - - - - - (1,984) (1,984)
- - 2,998 - (2,124) 874 - 874
1,553 57,632 - (96) 77,836 136,925 7,059 143,984

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GEREREXR
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2024
EH Z22024F3H31H i F/Z

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from/(used in) operations

Interest received
Income tax (paid)/refunded

Net cash generated from/(used in)
operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for purchase of property,
plant and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Lease payments
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents
Effects of exchange rate changes
on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of the year

Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the year

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read
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in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note
ks

31(a)

31(b)

21

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FETT

33,613 (9,460)

3,382 1,094

(2,424) 1,886
.......s%4s5m17 (6,480)
(78) (173)
R () B (173)
(2,216) (2,889)

(1,984) -
___________ (4,200 (2,889
30,293 (9,542)

(357) (532)

109,702 119,776
139,638 109,702

e ReREREEBENM T —HEE-



CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sanbase Corporation Limited was incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands on 24 March 2017 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Act,
Cap. 22 (Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman lIslands. The address of the Company’s
registered office is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, 103 South
Church Street, P.O. Box 10240, Grand Cayman KY1-1002,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business is 16/F,
Loon Kee Building, 267-275 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries together are principally
engaged in the provision of interior fit-out solutions in
Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The ultimate holding company of the Company
is Madison Square International Investment Limited. The
ultimate controlling party of the Group is Mr. Wong Sai
Chuen.

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) have been
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 4 January 2018.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”), unless otherwise stated. These
consolidated financial statements have been approved
for issue by the board of directors (the “Board”) of the
Company on 21 June 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Compliance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance

The consolidated financial statements of the Group
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”) and
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (‘HKCO”) Cap.622.

HKFRS comprises the following authoritative literature:
o Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
° Hong Kong Accounting Standards

° Interpretations developed by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for
financial asset measured at fair value.

New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

The Group has applied the following new and
amended standards for its annual reporting period
commencing 1 April 2023:

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred tax related to assets
and liabilities arising from
a single transaction

International Tax Reform -
Pillar Two Model Rules

Insurance contracts

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

HKFRS 17

The amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(iv) New and amended standards and

(v)

interpretations not yet adopted

Certain amendments to accounting standards and
interpretation have been published that are not
mandatory for 31 March 2024 reporting period and
have not been early adopted by the Group. These
amendments are not expected to have a material
impact on the Group in the current or future reporting
periods and on foreseeable future transactions.

Change in accounting policies

(@) Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment
scheme in Hong Kong
In June 2022, the Hong Kong Government
enacted the Employment and Retirement
Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement)
(Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) which will be
effective from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition
Date”). Under the Amendment Ordinance, any
accrued benefits attributable to the employer’s
mandatory contributions under mandatory
provident fund scheme (the “MPF Benefits”) of
an entity would no longer be eligible to offset
against its obligations on long service payment
(the “LSP”) for the portion of the LSP accrued
on or after the Transition Date. There is also a
change in the calculation basis of last monthly
wages for the portion of the LSP accrued
before the Transition Date.

Prior to 1 April 2023, the Group applied
practical expedient in HKAS 19 paragraph 93(b)
(the “practical expedient”) to account for the
offsetable MPF Benefits as deemed employee
contributions to reduce the current service
costs in the period in which the related services
were rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(v) Change in accounting policies (Continued)

(a)

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment
scheme in Hong Kong (Continued)

In July 2023, the HKICPA published
“Accounting implications of the abolition of the
MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong”
(the “Guidance”) which provides clarified
and detailed guidance on the accounting
considerations relating to the abolition of the
offsetting mechanism. The Guidance clarified
that following the enactment of the Amendment
Ordinance, LSP is no longer a ‘simple type
of contributory plans’ to which the practical
expedient had been intended to apply.

By following the Guidance, the Group has
therefore changed its accounting policy and
ceased to apply the practical expedient and
reattribute the deemed employee contributions
on a straight-line basis from the date when
services by employees first lead to their benefits
in terms of the LSP legislation in accordance
with HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a). This change
in accounting policy upon the cessation in
applying the practical expedient has resulted in
a catch-up adjustment for past service costs
and a corresponding increase in the Group’s
LSP obligations in the year of enactment of
the Amendment Ordinance (i.e., as at 1 April
2022 and year ended 31 March 2023). The
adjustment is recognised as past service costs
in profit or loss as at 1 April 2022 and for the
year ended 31 March 2023 as the Amendment
Ordinance is not contemplated in the original
LSP legislation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 2. WEEE(#)
(v) Change in accounting policies (Continued) (v) STHEEE (&)
(a) Change in accounting policy on offsetting (a) EFBXSH-EFERHRLESHE
arrangement in long service payment IR R HE (4F)

scheme in Hong Kong (Continued)
This change in accounting policy has been EEFHERMNEHCBPER WK

B H E2023F3 831 H K45 & E

applied retrospectively by restating the
balances as at 31 March 2023 and the results

for the year then ended as summarised below:

EZFENES REWT:

Effect of
As change in
previously accounting As
reported policy restated
B BERMN
PUETE BETE BEY
HKD’'000 HKD'000 HKD 000
FET FET FET
As at 31 March 2023 #®2023F3A31H
Employee benefit obligations REBFAEML - 644 644
Accruals and other payables FERt R HE A ER R 3,361 (92) 3,269
Retained earnings R & 81,333 (451) 80,882
Non-controlling interests IR R 7,070 (101) 6,969
For the year ended 31 March 2023 B £2023F3H31H
LtFE
Cost of sales 5 & AR (484,167) (267) (484,434)
Administrative expenses THRAX (28,708) (67) (28,775)
Remeasurement of employee ENGEESR
benefit obligations BANEMF - 298 2908
Basic and diluted earnings per share BREFMEER
] 0.53 (0.15) 0.38
As at 1 April 2022 M2022F481H
Employee benefit obligations EERAMEL - 608 608
Accruals and other payables Rt R E A B 2,172 (92) 2,080
Retained earnings REAF 80,293 (424) 79,869
Non-controlling interest FEE AR 5,291 (92) 5,199
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(vi) Summary of material accounting policies

1

Consolidation

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power
over the entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases. The Group
applies the acquisition method to account
for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary
is the fair values of the assets transferred, the
liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement.
|dentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business
combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. Intra-group
transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the transferred
asset. When necessary, amounts reported by
subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform
with the Group’s policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

2

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for
at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct
attributable costs of investment. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing on the investments
in subsidiaries is required upon receiving
dividends from these investments if the dividend
exceeds the total comprehensive income of the
subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared
or if the carrying amount of the investment in
the separate financial statement exceeds the
carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets
including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a
manner consistent with the internal reporting
provided to the chief operating decision-maker
(“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has
been identified as the executive directors that
make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are
measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional
currency”’). The Company’s functional
currency is HKD and majority of the
subsidiaries of the Group operate in
Hong Kong and the PRC whereas their
functional currency are HKD and Renminbi
respectively. The consolidated financial
statements are presented in HKD, which
is the Company’s and the Group’s
presentation currency.

2. MEEE #)
(vii EEMNEFTHRBE (&)

2

BYUHEXR

PP 8 1 A B 3R B 3% AR AN H0 BR R (E 5
FR-MABRERBEREKA K
BARARMEETAARAIZD WK ME
Yol BB AR

i BB E AR EIRERE BEE
mWEARE HHBLMBERERRFR
EREEBLGAVBERERATHE
ERNEERE (BERBE)NKEE"
AIZER B BERBRER H%F
ME AR R EETRER -

DEHE

RE P MRAMEIBLEREE (X
ERERRE])RBZ2ABEE X
ZHAEZ2HB - TBRERAKE (KR
RELRBERENAUTEST)AR
DERERMIHREEDR KA -

SHEBmE

() DRERZFE K
AEEASZERZMBHRERT 2
RADREBREBEEMAEL
TE2RERBZERE ([ThEE
MIFE-ARANDEEER
BT ANERB R KD & A A
EEBRTERKLERENREE
DR RETRARE - ZFH
BMIEHRRTIAB T2 8
ARARAEE 2T

AN

J5

° F“uu

HEEEAR 20245EHRE 129



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

4

(i)

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are
translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange
rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported
as part of the fair value gain or loss. For
example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as
equities held at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVPL”) recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain
or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities
classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Foreign currency translation (Continued)

4

(i)

Group companies

The results and financial position of all
the group entities (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy)
that have a functional currency different
from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency
as follows:

(@) assets and liabilities for each
statement of financial position
presented are translated at the
closing rate at the reporting date;

(b) income and expenses for each
statement of profit or loss are
translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not
a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses
are translated at the rate on the
dates of the transactions); and

(c) all resulting currency translation
differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments
arising on the acquisition of a foreign
entity are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation
differences arising from the translation
of any net investment in foreign entities
on consolidation are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

5

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that
is directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate
asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the financial period in
which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
is calculated using the straight-line method to
allocate their costs to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Furniture and 2-5 years
equipment

Leasehold 4 years or over the lease
improvements term, whichever is shorter

Motor vehicles 4 years

The asset’s residual values and useful lives
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. An asset’s
carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2(vi)(7)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined
by comparing the proceeds with the carrying
amount and recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Intangible assets

6

()

Gooadwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of
subsidiaries represents the excess of the
consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net
assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the
cash-generating units (“CGUSs”), or groups
of CGUs, that is expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the
goodwill is allocated represents the lowest
level within the entity at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the
CGU or group of CGUs level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are
undertaken annually or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The
carrying value of the CGU or the group
of CGUs to which goodwill has been
allocated is compared to the recoverable
amount of the unit, which is the higher of
value in use and the fair value less costs
to sell. Any impairment is recognised
immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

6

Intangible assets (Continued)

(i)~ Customer relationship and contracts
Customer relationship and contracts
acquired as part of a business combination
are capitalised at fair value separately
from goodwill at acquisition date and
are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment
losses. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of
the intangible assets over their estimated
useful lives of one to three years.

(i)~ Money lenders licence

Money lenders licence is stated at cost
less any impairment losses. The cost
of a money lenders licence acquired is
the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The money lenders licence will not be
amortised until its useful life is determined
to be finite, but subject to impairment
testing annually.

(iv)  Amortisation methods and periods
The Group amortises intangible assets
with a limited useful life using the straight-
line method over 1 to 3 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for
example goodwill or intangible assets, are not
subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for certain impairment. Assets that are subject
to amortisation are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For
the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other
than goodwill that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment
at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Investments and financial assets

8

()

(i)

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

° those to be measured at amortised
cost; and

° those to be measured subsequently
at fair value (either through other
comprehensive income or through
profit or loss).

The classification depends on the entity’s
business model for managing the financial
assets and the contractual terms of the
cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains
and losses will either be recorded in profit
or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in equity instruments that
are not held for trading, this will depend
on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity
investment at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments
when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of
financial assets are recognised on trade-
date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the assets.
Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Investments and financial assets (Continued)

8

(i)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures
a financial asset at its fair value plus,
in the case of a financial asset not at
FVPL, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of
financial assets carried at FVPL are
expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded
derivatives are considered in their entirety
when determining whether their cash
flows are solely payment of principal and
interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the
asset. There are three measurement
categories into which the Group classified
its debt instruments:

° Amortised cost: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest are measured
at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the
effective interest rate method. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit
or loss. Impairment losses are
presented as separate line item in
the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Investments and financial assets (Continued)
(i) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

8

FVOCI: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash
flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash
flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, are measured
at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other
comprehensive income, except
for the recognition of impairment
gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and
losses which are recognised in profit
or loss. When the financial asset
is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised
in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in profit or loss.
Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented as separate
line item in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

FVPL: Assets that do not meet the
criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI
are measured at FVPL. A gain or
loss on a debt investment that is
subsequently measured at FVPL is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Investments and financial assets (Continued)

8

(i)

(iv)

Measurement (Continued)

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures
all equity investments at fair value.
Where the Group’s management has
elected to present fair value gains and
losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following
the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss when
the Group’s right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial
assets at FVPL are recognised in profit or
loss. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOCI are not reported
separately from other changes in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward
looking basis the expected credit losses
associated with its debt instruments
carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether
there has been a significant increase
in credit risk. For contract assets and
trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition
of the receivables, see Note 3.1(ii)(b) for
further details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

9

10

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and
the net amount reported in the statement
of financial position when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis or realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable
right must not be contingent on future events
and must be enforceable in the normal course
of business and in the event of default,
insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or
the counterparty.

Trade, retention and other receivables

Trade and retention receivables are amounts
due from customers for service performed in
the ordinary course of business. If collection
of trade, retention and other receivables is
expected in one year or less (or in the normal
operating cycle of the business if longer), they
are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current.

Trade, retention and other receivables
are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they
contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The
Group holds the trade, retention and other
receivables with the objective to collect the
contractual cash flows and therefore measures
them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

11

Contract assets and contract liabilities
Upon entering into a contract with a
customer, the Group obtains rights to receive
consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or
provide services to the customer.

The combination of those rights and
performance obligations gives rise to a net
contract asset or a net contract liability
depending on the relationship between
the remaining rights and the performance
obligations. The contract is an asset and
recognised as contract assets if the measure of
the remaining conditional rights to consideration
exceeds the satisfied performance obligations.
Conversely, the contract is a liability and
recognised as contract liabilities if consideration
received (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer exceeds the measure of the
remaining unsatisfied performance obligations.
In the consolidated statement of financial
position, the contract assets mainly consist of
unbilled work in progress and contract liabilities
mainly consist of receipts in advance from
customers.

Contract assets are assessed for impairment
under the same approach adopted for
impairment assessment of trade receivables.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group transfers the goods or services
to the customers and therefore satisfied its
performance obligation.

The incremental costs of obtaining a contract
with a customer are capitalised and presented
as contract related assets, if the Group expects
to recover those costs, and are subsequently
amortised on a systematic basis that is
consistent with the transfer to the customers
of the goods or services to which the assets
relate. The Group recognises an impairment
loss in profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract related assets
recognised exceeds the remaining amounts of
consideration that the Group expects to receive
less the costs that relate directly to providing
those goods or services that have not been
recognised as expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

12

13

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on
hand, deposits held at call with banks and
other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

Pledged bank deposits are not included in cash
and cash equivalents.

Share capital and shares held under share
award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the
issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the
Company’s equity instruments, for example as
the result of a share buy-back or a share-based
payment plan, the consideration paid, including
any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity
attributable to the owners of the Company
until the shares are cancelled or reissued.
Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of
any directly attributable incremental transaction
costs and the related income tax effects, is
included in equity attributable to the owners of
the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

14

15

Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for services
provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. The amounts
are unsecured and are usually paid within one
year or less after recognition. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities
unless payment is not due within 12 months
after the reporting period. They are recognised
initially at fair value and subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.

Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period
is the tax payable on the current period’s
taxable income based on the applicable income
tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to
unused tax losses.

(a)  Current income tax

The current income tax charge is
calculated on the basis of the tax laws
enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Group operates and
generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis
of amounts expected to be paid to the tax
authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

15

(b)

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full,
using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements.
However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of
the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates
(and laws) that have been enacted or
substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred
income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts
will be available to utilize those temporary
differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are
not recognised for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations
where the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that
the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
15 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)
(c) Offsetting

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
offset when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax
balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax
liabilities are offset where the entity has
a legally enforceable right to offset and
intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity, respectively.

16 Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave
are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a
result of services rendered by employees
up to the reporting dates.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and

maternity or paternity leaves are not
recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
16 Employee benefits (Continued)

(i)

(itr)

Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”)
in Hong Kong which is generally
funded through payments to insurance
companies under defined contribution
plan. It pays contributions to administered
pension insurance plans on a mandatory,
contractual or voluntary basis. Moreover,
all the employees of the Group’s entities
incorporated in the PRC participate
in employee social security plans,
including pension, medical, housing and
other welfare benefits, organized and
administered by the local governments.
The Group has no further payment
obligations once these contributions
have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expense
when they are due. Prepaid contributions
are recognised as an asset to the extent
that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.

Provision for bonus plans

Bonus payments to employees are
discretionary to management. Bonus
payments are recognised in profit or
loss in the period when the Group has
formally announced the bonus payments
to employees.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

16

(iv)

Long service payments

The Group’s net obligation in respect
of long service amounts payable on
cessation of employment in certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance is the amount of
future benefit that employees have earned
in return for their service in the current
and prior periods.

The long service payment liabilities are
assessed by using the projected unit
credit method. The cost of providing the
long service payment liabilities is charged
to profit or loss so as to spread the costs
over the service lives of employees.

The long service payment liabilities are
discounted to determine the present
value and reduced by entitlements by
employees accrued under the Group’s
defined contribution retirement scheme
that is attributable to contributions made
by the Group. Actuarial gains and losses
arising from experience adjustments
and changes in actuarial assumptions
are credited or charged to other
comprehensive income in the period in
which they arise, respectively. As a result
of plan amendment, a past service cost,
arising from the change in the present
value of the defined benefit obligation for
employee service in prior periods on the
date of plan amendment, is recognised as
an expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

17

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group
has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
of the amount can be made. Provisions are
not recognised for future operating losses.
Where the Group expects a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised
as a separate asset when the reimbursement is
virtually certain.

Where there are a number of similar obligations,
the likelihood that an outflow will be required
in settlement is determined by considering the
class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow
with respect to any on item included in the
same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value
of the expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Revenue recognition

18

()

Revenue from contracts with customers
Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable
for the sales of goods and services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities.
Revenue is shown, net of discounts and
after eliminating sales with the group
companies. The Group recognises
revenue when the amount of revenue can
be reliably measured; when it is probable
that future economic benefits will flow
to the entity; and when specific criteria
have been met for each of the Group’s
activities, as described below.

Revenues are recognised when or as the
control of the asset is transferred to the
customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the asset may transfer
over time or at a point in time. Control of
the asset is transferred over time if the
Group’s performance:

° provides all of the benefits received
and consumed simultaneously by the
customer; or

° creates and enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

° does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the
Group has an enforce able right to
payment for performance completed
to date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

18

()

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If control of the asset transfers over time,
revenue is recognised over the period of
the contract by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise,
revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the
asset.

The progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation
is measured based on the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the
performance obligation, by reference to
the contract costs incurred up to the end
of reporting period as a percentage of
total estimated costs for each contract.

Revenue is recognised when specific
criteria have been met for the Group’s
activities described below:

(a) provision of bare shell fit-out,
restacking and reinstatement
services
Revenue from the provision of
these services is recognised over
time as the Group’s performance
creates or enhances an asset or
work in progress that the customer
controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. Thus, the Group satisfies
a performance obligation over time,
by reference to the actual costs
incurred as a percentage of the total
estimated costs for each contract.

(b) rendering of churn works, design,
maintenance and other services
Revenue from the provision of these
services is recognised when the
services were rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)
18 Revenue recognition (Continued)
(i) Interest income

Interest income is recognised on a time-
proportion basis using the effective
interest method. When a receivable is
impaired, the Group reduces the carrying
amount to its recoverable amount,
being the estimated future cash flows
discounted at original effective interest
rate of the instrument, and continues
unwinding the discount as interest
income. Interest income on impaired
receivables is recognised using the
original effective interest rate.

(i) Dividend income
Dividends are recognised when the right
to receive payment is established.

19 Leases
Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset
and a corresponding liability at the date at
which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are
initially measured on a present value basis.
Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:

° fixed payments (including in-substance
fixed payments), less any lease incentives
receivable;

o variable lease payment that are based on
an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement
date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the
Group under residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option
if the Group is reasonably certain to
exercise that option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating the

lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
(vi) Summary of material accounting policies
(Continued)

19

20

21

Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate
cannot be readily determined, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the
rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an
asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset
in a similar economic environment with similar
terms, security and conditions.

Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost comprising the amount of the
initial measurement of lease liability, any
lease payments made at or before the
commencement date and restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase
option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases
of car park and offices are recognised on a
straight-line basis as an expense in profit or
loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and
Company'’s financial statements in the period in
which the final dividends are approved by the
Company’s shareholders and interim dividends
are approved by the Board.

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised
at their fair value where there is a reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and the
Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3.
3.1 Financial risk factors

R EER
31 BH¥EKREZR

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including foreign
exchange risk, price risk, cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
Group’s overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board. The directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) identify and evaluates
financial risks in close co-operations with its
operating units. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and investing of excess
liquidity.

(i) Market risk
(a)  Foreign exchange risk

The Group considers the foreign
exchange risk exposure is not significant
as majority of the assets and liabilities
are denominated in HKD or RMB, which
are the functional currencies of the major
operating entities within the Group. The
Group currently does not hedge its foreign
currency exposure.

The foreign currency exchange exposure
on financial asset at FVPL denominated in
US$ is considered to be minimal as HKD
is currently pegged to USS$.

RMB is subject to the rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government. The
Group manages its foreign currency risk
by closely monitoring the movement of the
foreign currency rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

(i)

(b)

(c)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk arising
from the debt investment classified as
financial assets at FVPL. The Group
maintains the debt investment for long-
term strategic purposes.

As at 31 March 2024, if the fair value
of the Group’s financial assets at FVPL
had been 10% higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, profit for
the year would have been approximately
HKD1,420,000 (2023: HK$1,470,000)
higher/lower.

The Group’s investment as at year end
date is not publicly traded. Management
exercises its judgement to determine its
fair value with reference to the Group’s
share of the net asset value provided by
its administrators and discounted cash
flow of its underlying residential and
commercial project.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Interest rate risk relates to the risk that
the fair value or cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Financial
instruments at variable rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk.
Financial instruments at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk.
The Group’s interest rate risk arises mainly
from bank deposits. Other financial assets
and financial liabilities are non-interest-
bearing and are measured at amortised
cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(i) Market risk (Continued)
(c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

(Continued)
At 31 March 2024, it is estimated that
an increase/decrease of 50 basis points
in interest rates on bank deposits, with
all other variables held constant, would
increase/decrease the Group’s pre-
tax profit for the year by approximately
HKD698,000 (2023: HKD548,000).

The above sensitivity analysis has been
determined assuming that the change
in interest rates had occurred at the
reporting date and had been applied
to the interest rate risk exposure of the
financial instruments in existence at
that date. The 50 basis points increase/
decrease represents management’s
assessment of a reasonably possible
change in interest rates over the year until
the next annual reporting date.

(i) Credit risk
Credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, contract assets, trade and
retention receivables, deposits and other
receivables, financial asset at FVPL. The
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the
carrying amounts of these financial assets.

The Group has a credit policy in place and the

exposures to these credit risks are monitored
on an ongoing basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(@)

Risk management

Management considers that the Group
has limited credit risk with its banks which
are leading and reputable with investment
grade credit rating (Moody’s: Baa3 or
above; Standard & Poor’s: BBB- or above;
Fitch: BBB- or above). The Group has
not incurred significant loss from non-
performance by these parties in the past
and management does not expect so in
the future. Therefore, expected credit loss
rate of cash at bank is assessed to be
close to zero and no provision was made
as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

The Group is exposed to concentration
of credit risk as at 31 March 2024 on
trade and retention receivables from
the Group’s customers with the largest
and top five largest gross trade and
retention receivables balance amounting
to approximately HKD7,641,000 (2023:
HKD37,752,000) and HKD33,936,000
respectively (2023: HKD64,676,000),
and accounted for 13.2% (2023: 41.3%)
and 58.7% (2023: 70.8%) respectively
of the total gross trade and retention
receivables balance. The major customers
of the Group are reputable organisations.
Management considers that the credit risk
is limited in this regard.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(@)

Risk management (Continued)

In view of the history of business dealings
with customers and the collection
history of receivables due from them,
management believes that there is
no material credit risk inherent in the
Group’s outstanding receivable balances
due from its customers saved for the
debtor related to the impaired contract
assets, trade and retention receivables
disclosed below. Management makes
periodic assessment on the recoverability
of contract assets, trade and retention
receivables, and deposits and other
receivables based on historical payment
records, the length of the overdue period,
the financial strength of the debtors,
relationship with counterparties, and
whether there are any disputes with the
debtors. The Group'’s historical experience
in collection of contract assets, trade and
retention receivables, and deposits and
other receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the Directors are of
the opinion that adequate provision for
uncollectible receivables has been made
in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has three main types of
financial assets that are subject to the
expected credit loss model:

° contract assets and trade and
retention receivables;

° cash and cash equivalents;

° other financial assets measured at
amortised costs (including deposits
and other receivables); and

° financial asset at FVPL.

Contract _assets and trade and retention
receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade and retention
receivables and contract assets. Contract
assets and trade and retention receivables
are grouped by business segments,
geographical locations and credit risk
characteristics. The Group measures
the expected credit losses of respective
groups on a combination of both individual
basis and collective basis for likelihood of
recovery, taking into consideration their
credit rating, general industrial default
rates and historical credit loss experience.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit losses —
individual basis

To measure the expected credit losses,
the management assessed the credit
risk of listed customers individually with
reference to the credit rating report in
the market and also the default history
of these customers. The loss rates
are further adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the
ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. The Group has identified the
global gross domestic product growth,
consumer price index inflation and
merchandise trade balance to be the
most relevant forward-looking factors,
and accordingly adjusts the default rate
based on expected changes in these
factors. As most of the customers are
classified as investment grade with credit
rating between B3 and Aaa with reference
to the Moody’s credit agency report,
the Directors are of the opinion that the
expected credit losses of these customers
are not significant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Measurement of expected credit losses —
collective basis

To measure the expected credit losses,
the management assessed the credit risk
of non-listed customers collectively with
reference to the general industrial default
risk and also the default history of these
customers. The loss rates are further
adjusted to reflect current and forward-
looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables. The
Group has identified the global gross
domestic product growth, consumer price
index inflation and merchandise trade
balance to be the most relevant forward-
looking factors, and accordingly adjust the
default rate based on expected changes
in these factors.

In addition to the individual and
collective assessment of the listed
and non-listed customers respectively,
receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables
are assessed individually for separate
provision for impairment allowance. As
at 31 March 2024, the gross carrying
amount of separately assessed trade and
retention receivables and contract assets
is HK$5,273,000 (2023: nil) and the
expected credit losses is HK$1,920,000
(2023: nil). The remaining balances of
trade and retention receivables and
contract assets were individually and
collectively assessed based on expected
loss rates up to 2.1% (2023: 11.6%).
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BIEBEBEXRH&ES2.1% (2023
Fo11.6% ) ETEBREEF
e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Credit risk (Continued)
(b) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The movement of loss allowances for
contract assets, trade and retention
receivables as at 31 March 2024 and
2023 are as follows:

Loss allowance as at 1 April 2022

Increase in loss allowance recognised
in profit or loss

Write off of impaired trade receivables

Loss allowance as at 31 March 2023
and 1 April 2024

(Decrease)/increase in loss allowance
recognised in profit or loss

Loss allowance as at 31 March 2024

Trade and retention receivables are
written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include, amongst others,
the failure of a debtor to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group.
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(i) EERK (&)
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73‘62024¢ K2023F3A31H AL
EE - BHRERESERZINEG

%?:%éﬁZ%iMuT :
Trade and
Contract retention
assets receivables
ESREES
EREE FEUW kB
HKD’000 HKD’000
FAEIT FET
MR2022F4 1B Y
&5 18 HE 1 607 4,942
EATE = EP Eﬁ At
&5 18 B 15 12 7Ju 62 486
B 5 e WEORE R R - (3,582)
MR2023F3H31H &
2024%F4 81 H
B 18 # 669 1,846
%= Eatas) ﬁﬁéwﬁl‘])gﬂé
BE Cmd) #m (576) 204
R2024F3H31HH
5 18 B 93 2,050
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2023,
management assessed the collectability
of long-aged trade receivables and
has written off trade receivables in the
aggregate amount of approximately
HKD3,582,000.

Impairment losses on contract assets
and trade and retention receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

Bank deposits and other financial assets
at amortised cost

There is no loss allowance for these
assets at amortised cost as at 31 March
2024 (2023: same).

Financial asset at FVPL

The Group is exposed to credit risk
in relation to debt investment that is
measured at FVPL. As at 31 March 2024,
the maximum exposure of the investment
is the carrying amount of approximately
HKD14,202,000 (2023: HKD14,687,000).

3.

MEERER &)

3.1

MERBREE (&)
FERR (&)

(ii)

(b)

THEERE (&)
HE2023F3A3MBILFEE &
BEOFEERERENE ZEIK
FRHY AT U [ 15 - 3 B 8 A2 FE 4
3,582,000/ 7T HY & 2 FE K

BHEENLE S MRE S B
FEEBENEZ8FMAZ7
ARER R FEE - SRR ME £
MEZRKEELAR—HBF -

KA G E R RTTIZ A RE
& 5 & E

MR2024F3A31H » #% & 1% ¥
MAGFENEEYEBFERE
(20234 : #2[E)) °

BARAEEGA Bz 2 EE
AEEBERZHEZAREBEFTER
HEHt AEHESNEBKRE
BREMNEAER-H 1E2024F3
AB1A KENZARERAKEA
B 714,202,000/ 7T (20234 :
14,687,000/ 7T ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. BXEKRERE &)
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 BKREBEE (&)
(iii) Liquidity risk (iii) ABHERR
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity MEMERERIEEBHUABITURZMNIE
will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations CHEMEREENENEESHE
associated with financial liabilities that are ERHEEARETNRERRE-
settled by delivering cash or other financial
assets.
Prudent liquidity risk management implies FEMNRDMEREBEAITEAN
maintaining sufficient cash and cash RekBReEEBED-
equivalents.
The table below analyses the Group’s financial TERABAEENEHRAGESEEMR
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based B HAENRERNREBRESRD
on the remaining period at the reporting date HAMESREBERO T TR
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts ENSEDNDERAOARUBRERE -
disclosed in the table are based on the BREBEZEITER W+ =EA
contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances NEEAR AE R SR HBREE ©

due within 12 months equal their carrying
balances, as the impact of discounting is not

significant.
On demand From From Total
or less than 1 year to 2 years to contractual Carrying
1 year 2 years 5years cash flows amounts
RERS - HAE AHRER
—FLTF EWE 2R e REE
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2024 2024538310
Trade payables 5 ENR 110,562 - - 110,562 110,562
Accruals and other payables  JExt R E b E (TR 1,401 - - 1,401 1,401
Lease liabilities HEAE 2,793 1,472 - 4,265 4,121
At 31 March 2023 72023534310
Trade payables Y AN 181,830 - - 181,830 181,830
Accruals and other payables JERT R EMERRK 2,941 - - 2,941 2,941
Lease liabilities HERE 1,460 597 35 2,092 2,024
As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s net current MR2024F3A31H  "REBR R EE
asset amounted to HKD116,038,000 (31 March Y18 /116,038,000 7t (202343 A
2023: (Restated) (Note 2) HKD116,818,000). 318 : (&LE5])(M7E2) 116,818,000
BIT) e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. MKXEAKRER 2
(Continued)
3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXER

The Group’s objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for Shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to Shareholders, return capital to Shareholders, issue
new Shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio (calculated at total debt divided by
total equity) of the Group as at 31 March 2024 was
2.9% (2023: 1.4%).

AEENEAERBERAREERELE
BEE N AR IRH I ® R AR D
ERBEMEANEFREERARBURD

RERHAEEARARBE AEETAEK
NFREORESE ARREEEAR &
THRIEEEENRDER -

AKEBR2024F3AIHMEEAGB L
R (BERERAEIERETE) B2.9%
(2023F :1.4%) °

As at 31 March

HA3HA31H
2024 2023
20244 20234
HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FETT
(Restated)
(&&E5)
(Note 2)
(Hiiz2)
Lease liabilities HEAE 4,121 2,024
Total debt BwEE 4,121 2,024
Total equity 1R A 143,984 144,153
Gearing ratio EEAGBHE 2.9% 1.4%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3. BXEKRERE &)
(Continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation 3.3 RAEME

The following financial instrument carried at fair value LTREAABAENEHMIAETHE

is categories based on the level of inputs to valuation DREBEEAAERBRRATEAGERTHOR

techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The different RIEE TRERNEZHAT:

levels have been defined as follows:

e Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets e AREESBELERMSBHME (K
for identical assets or liabilities (level 1); KAAE) (B—/E):

e Inputs other than quoted prices included within e KBRTIFEFBEMNHREIN ZEE
level 1 that are observable for the asset or MaEMABEENEmE A A AR
liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or % (ANpIan(ER) stz (ARBEE)
indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2); (=)

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not e EEHSBBIIHFEEBEITBEEMIGEE
based on observable market data (that is, mE A (BIFERTE R A) (=) -
unobservable inputs) (level 3).

The following table presents the Group’s financial TREANBEFEERI ST AERE

instrument that is measured at fair value at the end WMEHRUAREEFENESMIA-

of the reporting period by level of the fair value

measurement hierarchy.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
%8 -l - %8 it
2024 2023 2024 2023 202 2023 202 2023
2024 023F  2024F 2025 20245 2023F  204F  2003F
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FAT FAT FET FAT FET FAT FET
Unlisted debt investment (Note 16) 3% EEHRE (#:16) - - - - 14,202 14,687 14,202 14,687

Disclosures of the financial asset that is measured
at fair value is set out in Note 16 and is included in
level 3 of the fair value hierarchy for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

There were no transfers of financial assets between

EERAABAEMFENTREEZEESHRN
B 3E1630 20244 K2023F3A31H B
ADREBEBRE=ZERH-

H E2024%F K2023FE3A3IHIEEE  F—

level 1, level 2 and level 3 fair value hierarchy B-F_EHBE-FEALBEHSEZMH
classifications for the year ended 31 March 2024 and WA EEENER-

2023.

The fair values of other financial assets and financial
liabilities measured at amortised cost approximate
their carrying amounts.

There are no other financial instruments that were
measured at fair value as at 31 March 2024 and
2023.

There were no changes in valuation techniques for
the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates concerning the future. The
resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom
equal the related actual results. The estimates and
judgements are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions
to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the critical judgements, apart from these
involving estimations (see below), that the Directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

(i) Construction contracts

The Group reviews and revises the estimates of
contract revenue, contract costs and variation orders
prepared for each interior fit-out solutions services
contract as the contract progresses. Budgeted
construction costs are prepared by management on the
basis of quotations from time to time provided by major
subcontractors, suppliers or vendors involved and
the experience of the management. In order to keep
the budgets accurate and up-to-date, management
conducts periodic reviews of the budgets of contracts
by comparing the budgeted amounts to the actual
amounts incurred. Such significant estimates may have
an impact on the profit recognised in each year.

4.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

B ERT T R A &

et R A S HRFETE LERNBELERNIE
EE(BRERBABERLTHEHRREMHNA
EEH) -

AR AR R AR B B8 2 BEHS R AL T
% ROBABNHERERIAF AR R
B i 5 R 00 - 04 T 3O BT R Y B 4B AT £
SRR AT R R S AT A R
WIS BRI - B RE AT HR0 Rk A
R

B R (RTX)EIN UTHRHAGAE
FERBAASESBRBRETMFLLAS
HEMBBRRNBINEHERNRERZTZE -

(i) BEEY
AEERBAOERERREFUEENA
KEMRNDERBEVEFEHOERA A
MRAARTREEE-BEEEREE
ERAHE HEAKRESD FHEENR
BLREEBZRBRRAEBENLTER B
REEEELEH EEERABKEER
CHEERELSRETLE HAHNRA
BETERESE RFERMAEFAREHRN
EFENBMNELETE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment losses on financial assets

The Group follows the guidance of HKFRS 9 to
determine when contract assets, trade and retention
receivables are impaired. This determination requires
significant judgement and estimation based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. In making this judgement and estimation, the
Group evaluates, among other factors, the duration
of receivables and the financial health and collection
history of individual debtors and expected future
change of credit risks, including the consideration of
factors such as general economy measure, changes
in macroeconomic indicators etc. Details of the
assumptions and inputs used are discussed in Note
3.1(ii)(b).

Valuation of a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss

The Group holds a financial asset that is not traded
or quoted in active markets. The Group uses its
judgement to select the appropriate methods and
make assumptions based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period to
estimate the fair value of such financial instrument
classified under level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
Valuation techniques include net asset values as
provided by fund administrators and discounted
cash flow approach which utilises inputs such
as projected cash flow and discount rate of the
underlying project. Although best estimate is used in
estimating fair values, there are inherent limitations
in any valuation technique. Estimated fair values may
differ from the values that would have been used if a
readily available market existed.

Estimations in goodwill impairment
assessment

The group tests whether goodwill has suffered any
impairment on an annual basis. For the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023, the recoverable amount
of CGUs was determined based on value in use
calculations which require the use of assumptions.
The calculations use cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a
five-year period.

Cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated
in note 15. These growth rates are consistent with
forecasts included in industry reports specific to the
industry in which each CGU operates.
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WA K 2 &

Bare shell fit-out ERFEEE
Restacking R
Reinstatement EIR
Design B

Churn works T
Maintenance and others REREM

The Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023 mainly represents revenue from the provision of
interior fit-out solutions.

Revenue generated from bare shell fit-out, restacking and
reinstatement services were recognised over time while
revenue generated from design, churn works, maintenance
and other services were recognised at a point in time.

The executive directors have been identified as the
CODM who review the Group’s internal reporting in order
to assess performance and allocate resources. The
Group focuses on provision of interior fit-out solutions in
Hong Kong and the PRC for the years ended 31 March
2024 and 2023. Information reported to the CODM, for
the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, focuses on the operating results of the Group
as a whole as the directors regard the Group’s business
as a single operating segment and review consolidated
financial statements accordingly. The Group primarily
operates in Hong Kong and the PRC. Revenue generated
from customers in the PRC is also related to the provision
of interior fit-out solutions and the reported geographical
segment information is presented below.

2024 2023
20245 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
375,240 345,987
22,375 145,647

= 4,419

5,201 3,862
24,288 16,860
973 824
428,077 517,599

NEEH E20244F K2023E3A31 A IFEEH K
AT ELARBEERNEFTRRTERAEHWA -

HERFRE BEMERRBMELNEATS
PEREmMER MAR: THIE RERHE
1t BR 755 T 22 A5 B W A T AR 4 2R B iy ] 38 T e R

NITEEOHERANEBNEIBELRKE
BEEMAEENRNBRE  UTFERRAESE
BJR o B 20244 N2023F3A31H FFE K
EEEIRERERTPEIREERNEEMAFER -
HREEBAEENEBRAE —KESBIL
HEEMGSEVEHRE WHERSE KRBT
HME MEBLERARESROERAERE
EENBEBCLEEE - AEBEITENETERTH
KEEE - KARTREFPHBRATEREZR
HEFAFERR REZFRBESBERTIR
T o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 5. WARDEESR 2
INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information b 32 & R
The geographical location of customers is based on the ERPOMBUENDERRERENMLE -KAEE
location at which the services were provided. The Group’s ZRERANEBUREERFTH - TREH K
operations and workforce are mainly located in Hong Kong SERENBELHBADH -

and the PRC. The following table provides an analysis of
the Group’s revenue from external customers.

2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FAETT FET
Hong Kong BB 412,220 503,021
The PRC H 15,857 14,578
428,077 517,599
Information about major customers FEEXEFEHR
Revenue from customers contributing over 10% of the REMEAEEBRABREI0% K E P AU A S
Group’s total revenue are set out below. BN o
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FET
Customer A EFEA N/A (Note) 85,680
TBRA (KaE)
Customer B =FB 92,963 N/A (Note)
TEA (M)
Customer C EFC 54,146 -
Customer D ZFD 51,693 -
Note: The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% Bat - MHERATBBRAEEBIAZ10% -
of the Group'’s total revenue.
6. OTHER INCOME 6. HMA
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HKD’000 HKD 000
FET FET
Government subsidies (Note) AT RE (M1 aE) - 1,714
Others H A 5 -
Note: The amount represents government grant in respect Bat:  ZARIERIRIES AR AT & BT H# B e R
of the Employment Support Scheme and the Distance BEEEET S AN E BB P At B 8 BT RE o S B
Business Programme received from the Government of WEREKNZIGHSEMIEETEH AEBEL
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. There are EEEZaNEWEMEROERFED-

no unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching
to the grant. The Group did not benefit directly from any
other forms of government assistance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

EMHEESHEX
ANEEH E20244F K2023E3A31 A I EE M %S
FIEHBRIA THEERARITHAL % ST

7. EXPENSES BY NATURE 7.
The Group'’s profit for the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023 are stated after charging the following cost of sales

and administrative expenses:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FiET
(Restated)
(&&E5)
(Note 2)
(Kratz)
Subcontracting charges PBEER 359,663 441,841
Staff costs (Note 9) BINA (A7i29) 49,257 49,425
Cleaning expenses BR2EB R 5,629 5,400
Insurance expenses RER A X 3,032 4,174
Short-term lease payments (Note 14) RMEMENR (HiE14) 1,466 835
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 Bl % B
- Audit service —EBZRB 1,150 1,431
Depreciation on right-of-use FRAEEEZE
assets (Note 14) (BaF14) 2,057 2,621
Depreciation on property, plant and M BELEEZTE
equipment (Note 13) (K7at13) 533 1,089
Legal and professional fees FENEEBER 2,983 3,014
Other expenses EMFEE 3,766 3,379
Total cost of sales and administrative SHE AR KT S 42 ER
expenses 429,536 513,209
Representing: He:
Cost of sales & AR 402,885 484,434
Administrative expenses TR X 26,651 28,775
429,536 513,209
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FINANCE INCOME - NET 8.

IRITIE A B WA
HeEaBzMEMAX
(Bat14)

Interest income from bank deposits
Interest expense on lease
liabilities (Note 14)

STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 9.

EMOLUMENTS

¥ro o JEALORE
VAR (0 /5 B0 0 S A
RARAE T 5K

Salaries, bonuses and allowances
Share-based payments
Retirement benefits contributions

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest
in the Group for the year included two (2023: four)
Directors whose emoluments are reflected in Note 30(a).
The emoluments paid and payable to the remaining three
(2023: one) individual during the year are as follows:

ER % & R
VAR 0 /5 B0 0 32
RARAE F 5K

Basic salaries and bonuses
Share-based payments
Retirement benefits contributions
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A BRI

MBWA—FE

2024 2023
202445 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FETT
3,382 1,094
(114) (103)
3,268 991
ETHRAXA(BEEEMS)

2024 2023
202445 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FET
(Restated)

(g&:5])

(Note 2)

(Bat2)

46,567 47,475
874 -
1,816 1,950
49,257 49,425

EEBRSEMAL

FRAEAESEAFHER 258 AL BHE2%
(20235 : 4% ) B % HH M TE30(a) F Bk -
FARNERN R T3%E (2023F :18) AL 2 FH B

T

2024 2023
202445 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
6,688 2,153
116 -

54 18

6,858 2,171




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10.

e MR MR

STAFF COSTS, INCLUDING DIRECTORS’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
Five highest paid individuals (Continued)
The emoluments fell within the following bands:

MEHE
1,000,001 T &
1,500,000/% 7T
1,500,001 T E
2,000,000 7T
2,000,001 T &
2,500,000/ 7T

Emolument bands
HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000

HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000

HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000

During the year, no emoluments have been paid by the
Group to the five highest paid individuals mentioned above
as performance based bonus, an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of
office (2023: Nil).

9. ETIRAEX (BEEEM=) (&)

EEBEHFMAL (@)
BEEMENMTRATHE:

Number of individuals

A
2024 2023
20244 20234
3 1

FAAEEYEREXAEREERSHEMAL
SEMME  FRERES  MAHIRIMAR
SER 2 B R EBA 2 MHE (20235F : &) -

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. FREBIB X
2024 2023
2024F 2023%F
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FiET

Current income tax BN EAFT 15 15

- Hong Kong profits tax —BBNEH 917 1,602
- PRC enterprise income tax —HEREMRER 11 -
— Under-provision for prior years —TFRETR 25 149
Deferred income tax (Note 24) EIEFTISHE (A7 at24) 77 (104)
1,030 1,547

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”) which introduces the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazette on the following day. Pursuant to
the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HKD2
million of assessable profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and assessable profits above
HKD2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The assessable
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

PR2018%F3A218 BHE L Z2BiE (2017F K
BUEET) (BTG ER) ([REER]) -
S/ AR T 15 B 3 6 E o & B B = R20184F3
FA28HBREX BEE TN BHAZER RIK
MAFESHRREHNE AEREEEENE2A
BB TTIE R H T 15 128.25% B9 R M kA
BOH B U A FE R BRI BR16.5% B9 B R
A EMBAESHRMEFNEERNERER
ZIERBORNAS M E N F16.5% F R — B REF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FRBHFEX (2)

Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of one of group
entities is calculated at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) on the
first HKD2 million (2023: HKD2 million) of the estimated
assessable profits and at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%)
on the estimated assessable profits above HKD2 million
(2023: HKD2 million) for the year.

Under the Law of the PRC on enterprise income tax (the
“EIT”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the
tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% (2023: 25%).

No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has been
made as the Group had no assessable profit in other
jurisdictions during the year (2023: same).

The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using
the tax rates applicable to the respective companies of
the Group as follows:

Wt FRER —HEBEERNEENGHIHIE
HEtERBEF N E2HE BB T (2023F 1 2H &
B IT) LA8.25% (20234 : 8.25% ) W B K51 & -
FBiB2E BB T (2023F 2H BB L) MIFETE
2 M 216.5% (20234 1 16.5% ) 89§ & 51
o

BEFECEMSH ([EEREBHRID ARG E
FrEFEERIGH BB AR ZHEAB25%
(20235 :25% )

AREBERFALEEMBDEER I EDNGERT G
M) 8 4 B EL Al A HE (R B9 TS B AF th 845 (2023
AR -

75 B A BR A A U Pl @9 BT - BN 5E [ 5% 8 AR
AHERMEAENERBEANR #8710
T

2024 2023

20244 20234

HKD’000 HKD’000

FET FET

(Restated)

(&gE75))

(Note 2)

(fst2)

Profit before income tax B 5 B & A 1,749 4,128

Tax calculated at Hong Kong statutory BEABNEEMEGTE

tax rate CORTaE 123 517
Effect of different taxation rates in Hubh AR AR ER

other jurisdictions za 132 119

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AAHFL R X 57 492

Income not subject to income tax AR A (560) (315)

Recognition of other temporary difference WREMEREER - (122)

Tax loss not recognised AR IS E B 1,256 719

Tax concession BB ER (3) (12)

Under-provision in prior years TERETE 25 149

Income tax expense T3 i 2 1,030 1,547
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e MR MR

11. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by
dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the
Company by the weighted average number of Shares
in issue less the total number of Shares held under
share award scheme during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.

1. R (EE) &F
(a) EAX
BRER (BB /BN DEEZE20245F
N2023F3A3BILEFEFEARRAI A AR
15 (E1R) /BABRIUEZETHNEFS &
WD BT TN R BT E -

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
(Restated)
(&E5)
(Note 2)
(HtiF2)
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners KAaHEB AEG
of the Company (HKD’000) (E518) & F
(F4#7) (1,369) 751
Weighted average number of BEITR IS E
Shares in issue less shares held under B B ET &I T
share award scheme (in thousand) Fr¥sitn (F/4R) 198,084 197,944
Basic (loss)/earnings per share BREX (EB) /&F
(HK cents) (&) (0.69) 0.38
(b) Diluted (b) #8

There were no outstanding share options or other
potential dilutive equity instruments in issue as at 31
March 2024 and 20283. Accordingly, diluted (loss)/
earnings per share is equal to basic (loss)/earnings
per share.

12. DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the years ended 31 March 2024 (2023:
same).

20244 & 20283F3A31H - B E M R TTE
CERESEME BT B E N EEES
TE-AM SREF(BBR) /BAFEST
EX(FHE) /&BFHER -

12l Hﬁl%\
EESTEEUE E2024FE3A318 IFEE RN
REAPE B (20234 : JH[E]) ©
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A BRI

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % BMERRKRHE

Furniture and Leasehold Motor
equipment improvements vehicles Total
RMZRE HEXE B At
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2023 BZ2023F3A31B LEE
Net book amount at 1 April 2022 72022F4 81 B/ REFE 1,182 416 109 1,707
Additions RE 57 116 - 173
Depreciation charge (Note 7) WEER (MiE7) (688) (292) (109) (1,089)
Exchange translation difference EXHEEH (1) - - (1)
Net book amount at 202353 A31 B )
31 March 2023 EAFE 550 240 - 790
At 31 March 2023 R2023F3A31H
Cost X A 3,667 2,697 475 6,839
Accumulated depreciation 2FHE (3,117) (2,457) (475) (6,049)
Net book amount Em3E 550 240 - 790
Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ2024F3AALEE
Net book amount at 1 April 2023  72023F4 1B REFE 550 240 = 790
Additions NE 78 - - 78
Depreciation charge (Note 7) WEEBR (Mi7) (297) (236) - (533)
Exchange translation difference EHEEZH (1) - - (1)
Net book amount at R2024F3H318 1
31 March 2024 EmFE 330 4 = 334
At 31 March 2024 H2024%3H31A
Cost XA 3,745 2,697 475 6,917
Accumulated depreciation ZFTHE (3,415) (2,693) (475) (6,583)
Net book amount REFE 330 4 - 334

RE E2024F3H31H IFFE » 4533,0005 7T
(20234 : 1,089,000/ 70 ) MITER L E T A 17T
Bz

Depreciation expenses of approximately HKD533,000
(2023: HKD1,089,000) have been charged to
“administrative expenses” for the year ended 31 March
2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

14. LEASE

This note provides information for leases where the Group
is a lessee.

(i)

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of finance position
shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Office premises MAEYE
Warehouse BE

Office equipment N
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current B EFEf 9
Non-current JEBDER I

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year
ended 31 March 2024 amounted to approximately
HKD4,245,000 (2023: HKD1,274,000).

14. A E

ATREFBAEERAEANEENER -

(i) RZEMBRRREIANSE

g
P

HEMBRARBRATREEFENS

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKD’000 HKD'000
FET FET
3,877 1,500

69 172

136 269
4,082 1,941
2,672 1,404
1,449 620
4,121 2,024

HE2024F3A3IALFERENFEAESE
EE #9 54,245,000 7T (20234F : 1,274,000

ABIT)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

14. LEASE (Continued) 14. *E.%E. (4&)
(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (i) AZEERRERANEE
statement of profit or loss
The consolidated statement of profit or loss shows REERRBERUNTHEEEHEN S

the following amounts relating to leases:

2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
=3 FET FET
Depreciation charge of FRAEEEZHEEA
right-of-use assets
Office premises WRAEYE 1,821 2,393
Warehouse BE 104 96
Office equipment WAERME 132 132
7 2,057 2,621
Interest expense FERT (BREMBEKAA)
(included in finance cost) 8 114 103
Expense relating to short-term EHBEE WX
leases (included in administrative (BRETEAZA)
expenses) 7 1,466 835
The total cash outflow for leases for the year HZEZ2024F3A31IHIEFEMNAER &
ended 31 March 2024 amounted to approximately 7t 42 %8 49 53,682,000/ JT (20234 ¢
HKD3,682,000 (2023: HKD3,724,000). 3,724,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

14. LEASE (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The Group’s leasing activities and how
these are accounted for

The Group leases various offices, warehouse and
equipment. Lease contracts are typically made for
fixed periods of one to five years, but some may
have extension options as described in (iv) below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and
conditions.

There were no variable lease payments for the
leases entered into by the Group for the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

Extension and termination options
Extension and termination options are included in a
number of property and warehouse leases across
the Group. These are used to maximise operational
flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the
Group’s operations. The Group recognises right-of-
use assets with extension and termination options
that are exercisable only by the Group and not by
the respective lessor only if the Group is highly likely
to exercise the options.

14. A& (&)

(iii)

(iv)

REENHEHEEBRAEIRGE

AEEHEZEARAE REEARE-HE
BRBERIESFNEEHR D%
BT X (iv) Pt ey HY & 242 o

i

HEGARDEBHBEER EPEEF
R RO 1R TR R AR A

H E2024F K2023FE3A31BH IEFFE A E
B EREAENRINAEE -

R IEEERE
AEENETOEAREHERSLERR
RIEEEE-FEAREEEEBEZT
ERANEE T AZERTKLEEL L -E
EAKEGAARTEPER KRBT
ERAATHME LEEFRNEHREEE
EEEREREAASREMFESANDHE
ATTE -
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A BRI

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 15. B & E

Customer Money
relationship lenders
Goodwill and contracts licence Total
EFBER
BE G BEAER &t
HKD000 HKD 000 HKD 000 HKD 000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2023 B Z2023F3A31HILEE
Net book amount at 1 April 2022 R2022F4A1EMEEFE 9,544 - 2,421 11,965
Impairment losses REEE - - (2,421) (2,421)
Net book amount at 31 March 2023 7A2023F3A31 EME R FE 9,544 - - 9,544
At 31 March 2023 #2023F3H31H
Cost R 9,544 2,870 2,421 14,835
Accumulated impairment losses i RERE - - (2,421) (2,421)
Accumulated amortisation Rt EH - (2,870) - (2,870)
Net book amount BHETE 9,544 - - 9,544
Year ended 31 March 2024 BZ2024F3A31ALEE
Net book amount at 1 April 2023 R2023F4 18 R
and 31 March 2024 2024F3A31AMIR A FE 9,544 - - 9.544
At 31 March 2024 2024534318
Cost R 9,544 2,870 - 12,414
Accumulated amortisation RET# - (2,870) = (2,870)
Net book amount REFE 9,544 = = 9,544
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=]

% ¥ 2= M &

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(i)

(i)

Impairment assessment for goodwill

The Group’s goodwill of approximately HKD6,470,000
(2023: HKD®6,470,000) and approximately HKD3,074,000
(2023: HKD3,074,000) were arisen from the acquisitions
of Core Group Holding Limited (“Core Group”) and Siwu
Architectural (Guangzhou) Limited (“GZ Siwu”) in prior
years. The Directors consider Core Group and GZ Siwu as
two separate CGUs and allocates goodwill resulting from
the said acquisitions accordingly.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying
amount of a CGU is higher than the recoverable amount
which results in impairment of goodwill. The recoverable
amount of a CGU is determined based on value in use
(*VIU”) calculation. The calculation uses pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budget approved by the
Directors covering a five-year period. Key assumptions
used in the calculation includes pre-tax discount rates
ranging from 19% to 23% (2023: 19% to 22%), revenue
growth rate of 3.0% (2023: 8.0% to 8.5%) and gross profit
margin excluding staff costs ranging from 17% to 35%
(2023: 17% to 35%) for the five-year forecast period. Cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using
the estimated growth rate of 3% (2023: 3%).

Management determined the revenue growth rate and
the gross profit margin based on past performance of the
CGUs and their expectations of the market development.
The discount rates applied by the Group are rates that
reflect current market assessment of the time value of
money and risk specific to each CGU.

As a result of the impairment review, the recoverable
amounts of the CGUs in which goodwill has been allocated
are higher than their carrying amounts as at 31 March 2024
and 2023. As a result, no impairment loss was charged
during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Since the carrying amounts of the Group’s CGUs are not
sensitive to the changes in assumptions, no sensitivity
analysis is disclosed.

Impairment assessment for money lenders licence

The Group’s money lenders licence amounted to
HKD2,421,000 was arisen from the acquisition of Yu Rong
Capital Limited. The license was recorded as an intangible
asset with an indefinite useful life.

Management reviews annually whether the carrying amount
of the money lenders licence is higher than the recoverable
amount which results in impairment.

5, BE&EE (&)

it -

U]

(i)

BEZRERTE

AEEZEELG6,470,000/ T (2023%F -
6,470,000 7T ) I #93,074,000/% 7T (20234 :
3,074,000 L) DRI EE B AEFE A UE
Core Group Holding Limited ([ Core Group ] )
FEMBTAEERFTBRAR ([EMNHFE]) -
EE ¥ Core Group&f)\\ﬁﬁﬂ?ﬁi%ﬁmlﬁﬁﬂ’l
REEEBUWBLSEBE LRWHEEE ZHE-

EEEBESFRIRSELENFEEEZES N
AUECBEUBELRERE - BeEEBEMDN
A cEzEREE((EREBEET -
AT IR € 7% TEOR Y ‘;V”E;‘f;%iﬁ%%ﬁt}&mi@%
AFHENMBRBEEMET TEMRANER
@if&@%ﬁﬁiﬁ,ﬁu,ﬁﬁu?19%i23%(2023¢:
19% E22% ) K FE ATBEIR K~ 3.0% HY YR A I8 R &
(20234 :8.0% £8.5% ) XN F17% £35% H &
KK (2023F 1 17% £35% ) BB FH RS
MERIEKE3% (20234F : 3% ) M HFTIE R K #

st
= o
Ean

ERERRSEABEUZBAERBATSER
FEHEERABREREMNE - REHERMZH
BERDRBBHHSESEREEELRZRE
A B ALK E EL R A AT A o

E;‘@z B 7k 1% 3 3R - 20244 K 202343 A31

CHEEHIEMERSELFUNTRE S E
= E\ H R & - F itk B 220244 £ 202343 A31
AEFETEFERE-

HRAEERSESEN ZRAEL T HR
RZEHELBRRRE M EREGRED T -

BEAEBZBEFG

AEBZ ME )\Hﬁ,m,m%z 421,000 L E A 8
R ERRAR - ZERBE L AERE
AERNEREE-

ERETFRINBEABOREERS SN
AT g [ 2 B8 DA B A ORU(E
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A BRI

15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

Impairment assessment for money lenders licence
(Continued)

The Group has not commenced the money lender business
after the acquisition of the money lenders licence. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group decided not
to commence the money lender business. Accordingly,
the recoverable amount of the money lenders licence is
determined based on the fair value less costs of sales.

Based on the management assessment, no provision/
reversal of impairment loss of intangible assets was
recognised during the year ended 31 March 2024 (2023:
provision of impairment loss of HKD2,421,000).

The money lender licence has been written-off due to the
expiry of licence as at 31 March 2024.

16. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Financial asset measured at FVPL include the following:

15. BILEE (&)
Bt (48)

(i)

BEANERZRER R (F)

PURBE B AR RR TS - AEE W ER R REES -
MR2024F3ANAFEHER AEBRETHAMA
REAER Bt REARRBR UK E S 5ER
HEABEAEQATFERLEXNAMEPINER
EETE-

BiEEREEF G B E2024F3831H ILFER
R EREERERBREENKER (20234F
B 18 B 52,421,000 7T ) °

R2024F3A31H - IEABRT T HEE AN
REZH -

16. BEAREFABENEMEE

7

Non-current assets IRBEE
Unlisted debt investment FLEMEBRE
Opening balance Bi R &

Fair value change N EEE
Exchange translation difference fE R REZE
Closing balance IR &5
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MREFABENEREESBRATSE:

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FAET FET
14,202 14,687
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
14,687 14,647
(437) 2

(48) 38
14,202 14,687
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A BRI

16. FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE 16. RAAEFABEZNEREE (&)

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s unlisted debt
investment represented an investment in an unlisted
private fund with limited liability incorporated in Cayman
Islands with an underlying residential and commercial
project (the “Project”) located in Cambodia (the
“Cambodia Fund”).

The Project accounted for substantially all of the
Cambodia Fund’s net assets and was carried at fair value
as at 31 March 2024 and 20283, accordingly, in the opinion
of the directors, the net asset value of the Cambodia Fund
approximated its fair value.

The Group’s investment in the Cambodia Fund was stated
at fair value with reference to its share of the net asset
value of the Cambodia Fund provided by its administrators
and discounted cash flow of the Project. Key assumptions
used in the valuation of the Project of the Cambodia Fund
are as follows:

PR2024F3A31H  AEBMIIELTEBHILER
ERAEHESAMRINIIELETLABRER
AR RIBENEBEEREEER ([EB])
m—ERE ((REEES]) -

ZEBERBERESNHARB D FEE  WiK2024
FR2023F3A3MAW AR EEIE Hit - &
ERR RERESWNEEFEERANAEBER
?EO

AEBRRBERESHRENAAEBEERRE
SEHEBEARBNEGEEFENNDENA
BMERRER - ARTERBRESEENE
ERZMT:

2024 2023
20244 20234
Adopted unit rate HKAMEMNBEX US$3,400/square meter US$3,500/square meter
3,400% Tt F 5K 3,500% T,/ F ;5 K
Adopted unit rent KAMEMCHES US$25/square meter US$26/square meter
PLE SR S 26% 7T,/ F 75K
Adopted agency fees and HKANREENAES 8% and 11% 8% and 13%
commission 8% M11% 8% FM13%
Pre-tax discount rate T AT AL IR = 10% 10%
Selling price growth rate BFHEERERE:
per annum:
For the 1st year F—F 2.5% 2.5%
For the 2nd year B _F 3.0% 4.0%
For the 3rd year E=F 5.0% 5.0%
For the 4th year Efusies 6.0% 6.0%
The Cambodia Fund was denominated in US$. RIHEHE S UAEITLFE
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

Management considers that the change in the selling
price growth rate of the Project is the most sensitive
factor to the fair value of the Group’s investment in
the Cambodia Fund. If the selling price growth rate
of the Project had increased/decreased by 10% from
the original growth rate with all other variables held
constant, the fair value of the Group’s investments in the
Cambodia Fund would have been increased/decreased by
approximately HKD4,481,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023:
HKD4,661,000).

17. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY
CATEGORY

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

16.

17.

BEAAREFEEESHTABEN
cTHMEE &)

EREBRA IEEE’J%EFWEI“%;E$%
EHRHEESREAABERRENEE -

IEEE’\Jﬁﬁ%f‘;ff%ia§$mEmi-§$igtu/ﬂ
10% - i BT A H 4 2 SR T & BlE £2024
FIABIH AEEBERBEESHRENR A
B & #5108 2 494,481,000 7T (20234 :
4,661,000 7T) °

BEHNESHNEMTA

AEBFELATERITA:

2024 2023
2024F 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Assets as per consolidated statement REMBERRKRFATEE
of financial position
Financial assets at amortised cost REEN AT ENSREE
— Trade and retention receivables (Note 18) —-EZRRESERGK (HiF18) 54,550 88,250
- Deposits and other receivables (Note 20) —%& REMEWGK (Fi20) 2,346 2,084
- Cash and cash equivalents (Note 21) -RekBEEEBY (Hit21) 139,638 109,702
196,534 200,036
Financial assets at FVPL (Note 16) BARBEFEBEEHTA
BENEeRmEE (#it16) 14,202 14,687
Total A&F 210,736 214,723
Liabilities as per consolidated statement MEMBERRAERATEE
of financial position
Financial liabilities measured at amortised costs: Z# K A EN SR EE
- Trade payables (Note 23) —E RN (Hit23) 110,562 181,830
- Accruals and other payables — JEET R H fth & 5K 1,401 2,941
- Lease liabilities (Note 14) —-ME8E (HMit14) 4,121 2,024
Total &t 116,084 186,795
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18. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables
Retention receivables

Less: provision for impairment loss
(Note 3.1(ii)(b))

Trade and retention receivables — net

18. E 5 R iR B & B

2024 2023
2024F 20234

Note HKD’000 HKD’000

oka FET FET

B 5B (a) 53,606 86,765
RE £ & WK (c) 2,994 3,331
56,600 90,096

B ORUE B 1B B

(#1723 1(ii)b) ) (2,050) (1,846)

B RRE® B —F58 54,550 88,250

Trade and retention receivables balances are categorised
as “financial assets measured at amortised cost”. The
maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 March 2024 and
2023 was the carrying value of each class of receivables
mentioned above. The Group did not hold any collateral
as security. The carrying amounts of trade and retention
receivables approximate their fair values. The trade and
retention receivables were mainly denominated in HKD
and RMB.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts
of gross trade and retention receivables approximate
their fair values and were denominated in the following

currencies.
HKD BT
RMB ARME

During the year ended 31 March 2023, impaired trade
receivables of HKD3,582,000 were written off (Note 3.1(ii)(b)).

BHRRESERRHBERDEA [RBHEKA
ENSREE| - 202445 202353 /318 -
IR ERETINESEERRAEREE A
EEVESFBEEAERRMEAER -EH RRE
CRUFRZERMENREQAABEEE - ESER
B BERAETEABTMARBE-

R20244F 22023%3A31H & 5 Kk E h fEF 3K
MEEEDEEARBERAETIZNTERFE:

2024 2023
2024F 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
55,301 88,624
1,299 1,472
56,600 90,096

HE2023F3A3IHIEFERN BEXHENESE
W FORE A3,582,00058 7T (M #E3.1(i)(b) ) °
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A BRI

18. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

The credit terms granted to its customers were
generally 30 days from the invoice date except for
the amount relating to retention money which is
payable after 1 year from the date of completion
of the works. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the
ageing analysis of the trade receivables based on the
invoice date is as follows:

Within 30 days 308 A

31 to 60 days 31£260H
61 to 90 days 61£290H
91 to 180 days 912180H
Over 180 days 180H M £

Impairment assessment on financial
assets subject to expected credit loss
model

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9.
The basis of determining the inputs and assumptions
and the estimation techniques are set out in Note
3.1(ii)(b). Details of impairment assessment on
financial assets subject to expected credit loss
model are set out in Note 3.1(ii)(b).

During the year, the Group provided approximately
HKD204,000 impairment allowance to trade and
retention receivables and reversed approximately
HKD576,000 impairment allowance to contract
assets respectively (2023: provided approximately
HKD486,000 and approximately HKD62,000
impairment allowance to trade and retention
receivables and contract assets respectively).
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18. EG R RESEWRR (&)

(a)

(b)

AEBEERETERFNEES RAERE
AH#£30R - T8FE IR EKBHE1F
2 JERHR B & 708 - 1220244 202343 A
1A EREHZAH2INEZRKRRZE
BT

2024 2023
202445 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FiET
12,630 52,948
17,381 13,051
12,066 7,542
1,389 3,814
10,140 9,410
53,606 86,765

REANFESERENHSREEE
TEERERFGE

AEERBBETEZRUBEMBERELE
AR ENBHMEEER - BTHA
BB A R R R b RE 7 A M R NP AE
31(i)o) - FEHEEEBREATHEREE
B AT 2 7 15 &5 P FE8.1 (i) (o) ©

FAAEEDFEE S RIRE S ERFZOR
ERE#204,0008 TG D EEREBERE
#9576,000/8 7T (20234 : o BI ¥ & 5 MR
& & FE W ER RN & %) & 2 R (8 B 15 49486,000
77T K #762,000/8 7T ) ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

18. TRADE AND RETENTION RECEIVABLES 18. ESZ RARE BN (&)

(Continued)
(c) As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis (c) 720244 K202353H31A KEZHAE
of the retention receivables based on the invoice FIH R E & B GR 2 BREE D AT T

date was as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
F & T FET
31 to 60 days 31£60H 236 621
61 to 90 days 61%£90H 758 518
91 to 180 days 91£180H 588 -
Over 180 days 180H M £ 1,412 2,192
2,994 3,331
Movement on the Group’s provision for impairment of NEBRE S RIRE S U GE L R (E #
trade and retention receivables are detailed in Note 15 /) B 5T & A BT 5E3.1(ii) (D) °
3.1(ii)(b).
19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 19. BN EERAE
2024 2023
20244 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FiET
Contract assets (Note (i) BREE (M) 39,158 106,145
Less: provision for impairment loss OB EE B (WS 10)b))
(Note 3.1(ij|(b)) (93) (669)
39,065 105,476
Contract liabilities (Note (i) GRIBE (HF0)) 5,401 1,716
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

(Continued)
Notes:

20.

U]

(i)

(iv)

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, contract assets related to
interior fit-out solution services consist of unbilled amounts
resulting from interior fit-out solution services when the
revenue recognised exceeds the amount billed to the
customer.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, contract liabilities
recognised represented the progress billings received in
excess of interior fit-out solution services works performed
and the advance payment made by customers.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities

Revenue recognised that was included in the contract
liability balance at the beginning of the year amounted to
approximately HKD1,716,000 (2023: HKD15,002,000).
There was no revenue recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous years during the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

Unsatisfied contracts as at 31 March 2024

Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to
service contracts that are partially or fully unsatisfied as at
31 March 2024 amounted to approximately HKD91,578,000
(2023: HKD183,434,000).

DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
PREPAYMENTS

Deposits b a

Other receivables H A FE WK
Financial assets (Note 17) CREE (MiFE17)
Prepayments TER R

Less: non-current portion of deposits and
prepayments

Current portion
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R e RIANRE
FERNER AR >

BN HA &R >

U]

(i)

(iv)

10. ENEBEERERE (&)

R20244F N202343A31H BB E N EEE R
ERBEEBNANEERSEAETARERRA
RRFERHERNBRABBE RS WEN S M
EAXNAMARZSHE-

F20244F 2202363 A31H EMABH AN AE
THEERECERBBRE TR ZERNEERR
HRRBIEREFANK.

HANBERBNDHEREA

RENGAGHEEHRENEEBRRALS
1,716,000/ 7T (20234 : 15,002,000/ 7T ) ° K
H £2024F N2023F3AIA L FER - # &
BEFECBTBHOEFMERKA -

MR2024FE3A31HAREITALD

MR2024%53A31H  DEZERBEE NI Hk 2
HERBITHR S ERBTEL K91,578,0007 JT
(20234 : 183,434,000 7T ) °

20. #& HtbBWAR KR AN

2024 2023
20244 2023
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FETT
1,610 1,656
736 428
2,346 2,084
870 774
3,216 2,858
(484) (404)
2,732 2,454




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

20. DEPOSITS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 20. & HMEWRRESK &)
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Except for prepayments of HKD870,000 (2023: FR 78T 50I8870,000% 7T (20234 : 774,0004 7T )
HKD774,000), deposits and other receivables are financial IR REMBRZE D EAREHKN A E
assets categorised as those to be measured at amortised NEMEE AEB IS REMERZIN AR
costs. The fair values of the Group’s deposits and other EEERmMERES-

receivables approximate their carrying amounts.

The deposits and other receivables were denominated in Re Rk AMEURRIIIEATEEE:
the following currencies:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
F#ET FET
HKD T 2,022 1,926
RMB AR EE 324 158
Total = 2,346 2,084

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. HELEEEEY
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
F T FET

Cash at bank and on hand RITEHRLFEES

— Cash at bank —RITEE 139,540 109,594
— Cash on hand —FHEERES 98 108
139,638 109,702
Maximum exposure to credit risk ez ERR 139,540 109,594
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

22,

(Continued)

Cash and bank balances are denominated in the following

currencies:

HKD
RMB

Others

Total

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD

UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(a)

Share capital

Authorised share capital:
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023,
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023,
1 April 2023 and 31 March 2024
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(@ BA&

R BN

MR2022%F4 H1H ~2023F3A318 *

2023%F4 A1H &2024F3H31H

BERTREE:

MR2022F4H1H ~2023F3A318 *

2023%F4 A1 H k202443 H31H

1. RERBEEEY (&)

Be MRITHEBRRATEEHE:

2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
128,786 99,286
6,383 7,878
4,469 2,538
139,638 109,702

22. RARKRDRBTE NAERS

Number of
Shares Amount
B EE HE
(in thousand) HKD’000
(FA) FET
5,000,000 39,000
200,000 1,653




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

22. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(Continued)
(b) Share award scheme

22 BARBHBEBTETHRERS (&)

(b) B 7 52 B 5t &

On 16 October 2018, the Board approved the
adoption of the share award scheme (the “Share
Award Scheme”) with immediate effect, pursuant
to which all eligible persons will be entitled to
participate. The purpose of the Share Award Scheme
is to recognise the contributions by certain eligible
persons and provide them with incentives in order
to retain them for the continuing operation and
development of the Group, and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group.

The Share Award Scheme was adopted on 16
October 2018 and shall be valid and effective for a
term of 10 years until 15 October 2028 unless early
terminated by the Board.

Under the rules relating to the Share Award Scheme,
the Board may from time to time select employees,
Director or officer of any member of the Group or
any of its affiliates whom the Board or its delegate(s)
considers, in their sole discretion, to have contributed
or will contribute to the Group to participate in the
Share Award Scheme. The vesting period, criteria
and conditions of any award granted are determined
by the Board or its delegate(s) in accordance with
the terms of the Share Award Scheme and the GEM
Listing Rules. Unless otherwise specified in the award
letter, no payment is payable by the grantee upon
acceptance of the award granted. The Company
shall not make any further grant of award which will
result in the aggregate number of Shares underlying
all grants made pursuant to the Share Award Scheme
(excluding forfeited awards) to exceed 16,000,000
Shares, representing 8% of the total number of Shares
in issue as at the date of adoption of the Share Award
Scheme (i.e., 16 October 2018). There is no service
provider sublimit under the Share Award Scheme.

M2018F10A16B  EES H EFXAK D
HEEHE ((RMDEBTE]) AL
B FTERERALTEEESE -RHE
BBz BN R ETAERALNE
By mEEREER UBEHRSEREN
AREEBNRHELEREE TAAEED
HE—FERERSIABEAE-

A% 1D 2 B 5t 21 72018410 H16 B EH H &
A EA10F HE2028F10A158 1F° &
IFEEDIRATRL -

REBBERHORZBEGEMNRA E520
THEFESTLERRZENBERAY
REBELR RIS BIEL ERMN RS BT
AKX ERRIREAMNBBELARNESE EE
A E2 MR D EEETE - E AR
REpNEER RERKEBRESgRHE
RERBER D EBEIFE 2 ER KR GEM £
RAEBET - BRIELZMEHESERTE  TREK
ANPAEE P 5% SR B B B S R BROA ©
KRB TEBERT M EE SRR
MEBEBHFERENBERBD (TR2ERS
W 428 ) BT Ko Y ik £ 48 2UEE #816,000,000
f&% AR N IR0 12 By 5T &) 2 B 8 (B12018
F10A16H ) BB ITRM B EAI8% < i& 17
RETEE TN EREHEENOREE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

22. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD 2. RARRGEBAETNRERSG (#)

UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(Continued)
(b) Share award scheme (Continued) (b)

RGBS ()

Pursuant to Rule 23.03D(1) of the GEM Listing Rules,
unless approved by independent shareholders of the
Company in a general meeting, the total number of
Shares issued and to be issued by the Company in
respect of the share awards granted under the Share
Award Scheme to each participant in any 12-month
period (up to and including the date of grant) shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue.

As at the beginning of the year ended 31 March
2024, the total number of awards available for grant
under the Share Award Scheme was 16,000,000,
and the underlying 16,000,000 Shares represent 8%
of the Shares in issue as at the date of adoption of
the Share Award Scheme.

On 22 September 2023, a total of 2,056,000
ordinary shares (the “Award Shares”) were
granted to 38 eligible persons (“Grantees”) for nil
consideration. On 6 March 2024, the administrative
procedures in connection with the despatch of the
share certificates representing the Award Shares
to the respective Grantees had been completed,
and as such, the transfer of the Award Shares from
the Trustee to the respective Grantees had been
completed. The Award Shares represent a fair value
of approximately HK$873,800, taking into account
the market price of the Shares upon transfer of
the Award Shares was HK$0.425 per Share. The
2,056,000 Award Shares represented approximately
1.083% of the issued share capital of the Company as
at the date of Grant. Save for one Grantee who was
a director and substantial shareholder of a subsidiary
of the Company was therefore a connected person
of the Company at the subsidiary level, all Grantees
were employees of the Group.
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1B % GEM | 43 B 5523.03D(1) 1§ - B FE &
RAABBIBRERNBERE EHE T A
RAARRAEMI2EA B (EERBER
HHE) BRERDERS BRI EE
BRHBRMDEEmMETERETFEITHRD
BETSHBACSBITRMHMI% -

RE E2024F3A31HIEFEEMBE R
BRhEBMAE T HRET I EDES AR
16,000,00017 X % K 16,000,000/ i% 15 - 14
RGBT 8 2 BB BETRO A
8% °

M2023F9A22H AR Al L ERER38H
AEBAL ([ERA])E A 2,056,000
B @ik ([REBRH]) -1N2024F3H6
B EERASERANRENRRERRGHK
ZNTHREFE =R Bt SR H B8 <
AAEBEZTFSEARANEED TR &5
MEZBERMDEROOTESER0.425
BT BEIIRS MR R B A873,80078 7T ©
2,056,000 AN IR D EE R IEH ABAERAQ
BB BT ARA1.03% < fr — R AR A AKX
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

22. SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARES HELD 2. RARRGEBETNRERS (2
UNDER SHARE AWARD SCHEME

(Continued)
(b) Share award scheme (Continued) (b) BRPEBETE (&)
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 20234 2024 2023%F
Number of Number of
Shares Shares Amount Amount
KBGEE R EE EE E &
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Shares held under share [ a2 E & T
award schemes B % B 1n - 2,056,000 - 2,998
On 6 March 2024, the Board has resolved to the MR2024F3A6H EEFTH AL IR G &R
terminate the Share Award Scheme with effect from BIstEl - 20243 A6 A RN - §20244F
6 March 2024. No further Award Shares may be SHEH R INERER M EEEE — &
granted under the Share Award Scheme in the future i AZED AR 17
from 6 March 2024.
23. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND 23. EZENR EFREMENRRK
OTHER PAYABLES
2024 2023 2022
20244 20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’ 000 HKD’000
FET FET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(&&:75) (&&E5)
(Note 2) (Note 2)
(Kiat2) (Kiat2)
Trade payables =Y ANEN 110,562 181,830 124,151
Accruals and other payables JE T I B Ath FE S 5k 1,920 3,269 2,080
112,482 185,099 126,231
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

23. TRADE PAYABLES, ACCRUALS AND 23. ESENR Bt REMENR 2

OTHER PAYABLES (continued)
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of the
trade payables based on invoice date was as follows:

R2024% 220235 3A31H IRBEZHEZ 7/
EFEMNRZERSTOT

2024 2023

20244 20234

HKD’000 HKD’000

FE T FiET

Within 30 days 30H K 80,011 154,206
31 to 60 days 31260H 2,667 7,219
61 to 90 days 61ZE90H 7,109 3,434
91 to 180 days 91%E180H 10,390 6,812
Over 180 days 1808 M k 10,385 10,159
110,562 181,830

MR20244F 22023 3A31H B Z ER - Bt
MEMEMNFOEREEEQAAREBERES TR

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the carrying amounts of
trade payables, accruals and other payables approximate

their fair values and were denominated in the following ITEEEE:
currencies.
2024 2023 2022
20244 20234 20224
HKD’000 HKD’'000 HKD’000
FET FHET FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(&ES) (&&&E5)
(Note 2) (Note 2)
(Hizt2) (Hiet2)
HKD BT 107,712 178,962 121,610
RMB AR #& 4,770 6,137 4,621
112,482 185,099 126,231
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

24. DEFERRED INCOME TAX 24, IEEFTBH
Deferred income tax is calculated in full on temporary BEFMBHIEBABEEIRERUEEZHEN
differences under the liability method using the tax rate MAROBMERBEDEHRNERBEH 2R EFTE -
enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date.

BEEMEREERBBERAENRARAEE K
BB ARBEE A AN EERAEELTHRE
MR — B R ARRE R IE R T - TR B AR

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes related to the same fiscal authority.

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAETT
Deferred income tax assets REFTERIBEE 1,121 1,233
The net movements in the deferred income tax account EEMSHRIB 2 FE ST
are as follows:
2024 2023
2024 F 2023%F
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET
Opening balance B 4 5 1,233 1,189
(Charged)/credit to profit or loss FRRBzER (NR) FtA
for the year (Note 10) (Fiz10) (77) 104
Exchange translation difference EHRE = (39) (60)
Closing balance HA oK 4 54 1,121 1,233
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

24. DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
The movements in deferred income tax assets and
liabilities (prior to offsetting of balance within the same tax
jurisdiction) during the year are as follows:

24, RIEFRBH (&)
EIEFREAHEERAE (KHA— 7 EEE 2B
BEGBIRENZEHNT

Deferred income tax assets: BIEFTSIHEE
Accelerated tax
depreciation and
amortisation Provisions Tax losses Total
MEHRBREREH B BB &t
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

20245 20235 20244 20235 2024% 2023%F 20245 20235
HKD’000  HKD'000 ~ HKD’000  HKD'000 ~ HKD’'000  HKD'000 — HKD’000  HKD'000
FET TET FET TET FET TR FE&7 THET

Opening balance HEH 88 24 502 345 643 820 1,233 1,189
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss AR B
for the year (Note 10) (M%) /EtA
(FreE10) 37 64 (88) 157 (26) 117) (77) 104
Exchange translation difference ERHREEE - - - - (35) (60) (35) (60)
Closing balance BRER 125 88 414 502 582 643 1,121 1,233

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for deductible
temporary differences to the extent that the realisation
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is
probable.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not recognise
deferred income tax assets of approximately
HKD5,386,000 (2023: HKD4,130,000) in respect of tax
losses of HKD32,642,000 (2023: HKD25,030,000) which
can be carried forward indefinitely.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. A lower withholding tax rate of 5% is applied
to Hong Kong investors as there is a tax treaty between
the PRC and Hong Kong. However, the 5% treaty rate is
not automatically granted. The taxpayer needs to apply
to the relevant tax bureau for an approval for the treaty
rate. The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on
dividends distributed by the subsidiary established in the
PRC. As at 31 March 2024, deferred income tax liabilities
of approximately HKD243,000 (2023: HKD209,000) has
not been recognised for the withholding tax that would be
payable on the remittance of earnings of the PRC subsidiary.
The related unremitted earnings amounted to approximately
HKD2,427,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HKD2,088,000),
and the Group does not intend to remit these unremitted
earnings from the relevant subsidiary to the Company in the
foreseeable future.
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WA A REEBARRERT G N BB AMBAES
AL AR E R EERRREEAEHEE-

MN2024F3A31H  ANEBE L R H A ERH
“EH R EEHE32,642,000/8 T (20234 ¢
25,030, 0008 T ) MRELEHMBGHREE Y
5,386,000/ Jjt (20234 : 4,130,000 L) °

BIEFRCEMGSHE RPBRKZAINE B
RN EETRAR B EMMN10% BT - &
RABEESERNBEHE WPELERE
BREGPESIRBRE AT ZEREEMNH E5%
B -BZ5% W EREWIESHERS WHAF
MEBETENRRBNEZERBHTE - FItL -
KREBMBRRPEKLAKE QR DIREAOKRE
BTN - R2024F3A31H AEBI AR
FEMNEARELHZMNAEAINOEMNHEERD
243,000/ 7T (20234 : 209,000/ 7T ) H iE & AT
BHEAE - RN2024F3A318 HBKELEF
%) /2,427,000 7T (20234 : 2,088,000/ 7T )
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

25. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties are those parties that have the ability
to control, jointly control or exert significant influence
over the other party in making financial or operational
decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they
are subject to common control or joint control. Related
parties may be individuals or other entities.

The following is a summary of the significant transactions
carried out between the Group and its related parties in
the ordinary course of business during the years ended
31 March 2024 and 2023.

Compensation of key management

Key management includes executives of the Group. The
compensation paid or payable to key management for
employee services is shown below:

Salaries, bonuses and allowances
Share-based payments
Retirement benefits contributions

26. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had the following contingent liabilities not
provided for:

Surety bonds & £ IR 7&
As at 31 March 2024, the Group provided guarantees
of surety bonds in respect of 4 (2023: 5) interior fit-out
solution service contracts of the Group in its ordinary
course of business. The surety bonds are expected to be
released in accordance with the terms of the respective
construction contracts.

¥ra o fEALROERR

RARAE T 5K

25. B SR 5
BT EEFL M B REERTERARENEZES
BeaZEt s —THHEELBARENNAL
RARZEHI RS EROALTRRSE B -
BT A REAREMBERS

HH=°

T 3Ot A £ B B E BE B 5 Bl 220244 }2023
FIAGIHIFEAHBEBBERETHNERK
R

TEEEASFMH
TBEEREABBEAKETRAR -5EBRS
ENHENETEEREABNIFMUTHAR:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAETT
8,997 10,150
VAR 19 2 E 1 19 S2 A+t 18 -
49 62
9,064 10,212
26. ABEEE
AEBRERBEENXBEAENT
2024 2023
2024 F 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000
FE T FETT
15,173 14,783

PR2024F3A318 AL BERAEBH BT ED
BIRFR 41D (2023438318 :51)) ERNE & fE
RARBREENIREBLHRFER ZEBLHR
BIEFTHBRIBESBZES DR IGRERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 27. BRESTE

On 8 December 2017, the Company adopted the share
option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”), which
falls within the ambit of, and is subject to, the regulations
under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. The purpose
of the Share Option Scheme is to attract, retain and
motivate employees, Directors and other participants,
and to provide a means of compensating them through
the grant of options for their contribution to the growth
and profits of the Group, and to allow such employees,
Directors and other persons to participate in the growth
and profitability of the Group.

Qualified participants of the Share Option Scheme
include Directors (including executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors) and employees
(whether full-time or part-time) of the Company or any of
its subsidiaries or any other person who is in the absolute
discretion of the Board has contributed or will contribute
to the Group.

The total number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme is 20,000,000 Shares, representing
approximately 10% of the total issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report.

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options granted to or to be granted
to each eligible person under the Share Option Scheme
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in
issue.

The offer of a grant of share options under the Share
Option Scheme may be accepted upon payment of a
consideration of HKD1 by the grantee.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period
of 10 years commencing on 8 December 2017 and the
options granted have a 10-year exercise period. Options
may be vested over such period(s) as determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion subject to compliance with
the requirements under any applicable laws, regulations or
rules.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

27.

28.

e MR MR

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The exercise price of share options under the Share
Option Scheme is determined by the Board, but shall
not be less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheet of the Stock
Exchange on the date of grant, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

No share options has lapsed, or have been granted,
exercised or cancelled under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption and up to the date of this report, hence
no outstanding share option as at 31 March 2024 and
2023.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES

Below table lists the principal subsidiaries of the Group
which, in the opinion of the Directors, principally affect the
results and net assets of the Group. To give full details of
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the Directors, result in
particulars of excessive length. Unless otherwise stated, they
have share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are
held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group.

Place of incorporation,
operation and kind of

27.

28.

Issued and fully paid
share capital/registered

legal entity and paid-up capital
Name of subsidiaries EMAL FEEHEHER  BERARARRE/
WEAR R ERERER EMRAZRE
Indirectly held subsidiaries
BESEMELT
Sanbase Contracting (Engineering) Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HKD10,000

B BRAR 10,0008 7T
Sanbase Interior Contracting Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HKD10,000
FRNEERAF & BRAA 10,000/ 7T

Siwu Architectural (Guangzhou) Limited

BMARRERHARAA

PRC, limited liability
SEERAR

RMB1,500,000
AR 1,500,000

Studio 5 International Limited Hong Kong, limited liability HKD10,000
BRERLA BB BRRA 10,000% 7
Core Group Holding Limited BVI, limited liability US$50,000
RRRRHES ERAT 50,0005 7T
Sanbase Management Limited BV, limited liability US$1
EERNHE BRLA £

BRESTSE 2

BRE BB THRENTEERESEET
EBREBERUT RS E () BAHREL B (KA
AEEB)EBSHAREAROKTE: ()2
EEEAMNEELSEARMER SR A®RE
B R B9 S U T B R (i) AR5 M o

BEREZRMNEEARE S BETME
AR AR 8B AR BT T
85 E I 72024 % &2023F3 A31H I £ (T {7
RITERRERE-

TEMBARIZFE

TRIMWEERR/IBZFEAREXRELFE
ENAEEIZMBLAR -EFA R RENE
REAMEHFEEERRREBRR -REARBI
BAERASEEEFEN T BIRENK  FFE
MMAERGIL O BARBREHNRRERS -

Ownership interest held

by the Group
rEESENRERER
2024 2023 Principal activities
2024 20235 TEED
100% 100% Interior fit-out solutions provider
REZRRERRAE
100% 100% Interior fit-out solutions provider
REZNEERRATZR
65% 65% Design, interior fit-out solutions provider
Fit ERRERRARMAED
60% 60% Design, interior fit-out solutions provider
Rt ERRERATRMERS
60% 60% Investment holding
REBR
100% 100% Purchase, administers and holds

the Company’s Shares for
share award scheme

BE EEREEARARN ZBHE
FrisRi
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

28. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 28. FEMB AR Z2+F1E (&)
SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
(a) Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) (a) FEIERRAER ([FEERER])
Set out below is summarised financial information for AT # P AL B A EKIEEREEANH B
subsidiaries that has non-controlling interests that RElBENBE-MBRAGTEEIRA
are material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for AEE BRI 2R -

subsidiaries are before inter-company eliminations.

Summarised balance sheet GZ Siwu Core Group
BERRRME EME R

2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 20234 2024 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FAETT FET FAET
(Restated)
(&&E5)
(Note 2)
(Bat2)
Current assets MEEE 10,558 10,831 67,268 46,849
Current liabilities mEBAaE (7,239) (8,099) (54,723) (34,166)
Current net assets BARBEE 3,319 2,732 12,545 12,683
Non-current assets ERBEE 879 1,740 2,320 1,612
Non-current liabilities ERBAE - (413) (835) (328)
Non-current net assets EFHRBEE 879 1,327 1,485 1,284
Net assets BEE 4,198 4,059 14,030 13,967
Accumulated NCI RIEIEIE R ER 1,536 1,487 5,523 5,482
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

28. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 28. TEMBARIZFHTE (&)

SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

(a) Non-controlling interest (“NCI”) (Continued) (a) FERER ([FERER]) (£)
Summarised statement of comprehensive income GZ Siwu Core Group
2EHKERME EMNE &

2024 2023 2024 2023
2024 % 20234 2024 20234

HKD’000  HKD'000 =~ HKD’000  HKD’'000
FET T FET TET

(Restated)
(&&ES)
(Note 2)
(fi&t2)
Revenue WA 15,857 14,578 175,515 150,905
Profit and other comprehensive F iz # &2 H b
income for the year 2HEKE 139 69 5,063 4,365
Profit and total comprehensive FARHEMEE
income for the year allocated W o BT IEHE AR
to NCI TRE 2 B g ) 49 25 2,025 1,745
Dividend paid to NCI BT T IS
R ZKRE - - (1,984) -
Summarised cash flows GZ Siwu Core Group
HeRERBE EMEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
20244 20234 20245 20234
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’'000
FET FET FET FET
Cash flows from operating KEEB RS RE
activities (957) 1,221 20,284 4,776
Cash flows from investing KEFSHZRERE
activities - - (74) (154)
Cash flows from financing BMEFH RESTE
activities (534) (574) (5,902) (859)

Net (decrease)/increase in HBHERBELZEY
cash and cash equivalents (RA) /#hm
FER (1,491) 647 14,308 3,763
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 29.

AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE

KRB HBRRARRFEEE D

COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) A2 7 MBEARREK
Company
31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
20244 2023%F 20224
3H31H 3H31H 4H1H
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FET FET
Assets EE
Non-current assets kREBEE
Property, plant and equipment  #7% - BB K& & 50 148 246
Right-of-use assets FREEE - - 482
Interests in a subsidiary R—ENBRRZ
Eam 35,064 38,064 38,064
Financial asset at fair value BARBEAERE
through profit or loss JEREE 14,202 14,687 14,647
Deposits and prepayments e MFBANR - - 102
49,316 52,899 53,541
Current assets REBEE
Deposits, other receivables and &% « Eith fE Uk 2 78
prepayments EN 656 746 881
Amounts due from subsidiaries & UK} & A &) 3K 17,477 13,652 12,838
Cash and cash equivalents RekREEEY 38,455 40,898 43,522
56,588 55,296 57,241
Total assets BmEE 105,904 108,195 110,782
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 29. XATRMBMRRREFHEES (2)
AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

(a) Statement of financial position of the (a) =2BMBERRE (&)
Company (Continued)
31 March 31 March 1 April
2024 2023 2022
20244 20234 20224
3A31H 3A31H 481H
HKD’000 HKD’000 HKD’000
FET FETT FAET
Equity fE=
Equity attributable to the AKATEE AEM
owners of the Company xR
Share capital B& 7 1,553 1,553 1,553
Share premium B9 5 B 29(b) 57,632 57,632 57,632
Other reserve Hfth & 29(b) 34,986 34,986 34,986
Accumulated losses ZEHEE 29(b) (26,263) (23,360) (19,292)
Total equity HRE 67,908 70,811 74,879
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Employee benefit obligations BEERAEME 7 97 93
Liabilities =R
Current liabilities RBEE
Accruals and other payables FEFT B E M FE 1 K 248 1,293 318
Amounts due to subsidiaries DL RENGIE 37,741 35,994 34,992
Lease liabilities HEEE - - 500
37,989 37,287 35810
Total liabilities wmEE 87,996 37,384 35,903
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 105,904 108,195 110,782
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR MR

29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

2. AT BMRRKRRRBEES 2

(b) Movements in the Company’s reserves (b) KXARIRAEESH
Other
Share reserve  Accumulated
premium (Note) losses Total
Hoth i 4
B0 s E (Hit) ZAER &t
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FHET FET FET FET
At 1 April 2022 202254 A1H 57,632 34,986 (19,199) 73,419
Loss for the year FRERE - - (4,064) (4,084)
At 31 March 2023, as previously R2023F3H318
reported MATE 8 57,632 34,986 (23,263) 69,355
Change in accounting policy BHHEED
(note 2(v)) (Hiiton)) - - (97) (97)
At 31 March 2023, as restated R2023F3H31H
(m&5)) 57,632 34,986 (23,360 69,258
Loss for the year FNER - - (2,903) (2,903)
At 31 March 2024 20244 3H3108 57,632 34,986 (26,263) 66,355
Note: Kt

Other reserve of the Company represented the difference
between the consideration payable of HKD10,000 and the
carrying value of the Company’s subsidiary of approximately
HKD34,996,000 acquired during the Group’s reorganisation
before the Company’s listing.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

30. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF 0. EER/A R ER
DIRECTORS
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s (a) EEREBSITHRAEHME
emoluments
The remuneration of each Director and chief RE 220244 K2023F3A31H LFEE - &
executive of the Company for the years ended BEERARAESITHRAE N5 0
31 March 2024 and 2023 are set out below: T
Allowance Employer’s
and  contribution to
Discretionary  benefit in a retirement
Name of Directors Note Fees Salaries bonus kind  benefit scheme Total
BMEEA EERKREA
EEEB ki3 we i WA £ SHEIfR &3t
HKD'000  HKD'000 HKD'000  HKD'000 HKD'000  HKD'000
FET FEx FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2024 HE2024F3ANALEE
Chairman and chief executive officer TERTHREE
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen THREL 240 1,980 2,740 - 18 4,978
Executive directors HTESE
Ms. Hui Man Yee Maggie HEdrr e 240 1,380 670 - 18 2,308
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo RE&EL i - 1,747 - 18 13 1,778
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTEE
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis RELEE 216 - - - - 216
Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen BEELE i) 82 - - - - 82
Mr. Siu Chi Wai BSEEL (i) 57 - - - - 57
Mr. Law Chun Yat Efrk 180 - - - - 180
1,015 5,107 3,410 18 49 9,599
Employer’s
contribution to
Discretionary a retirement
Name of Directors Note Fees Salaries bonus  benefit scheme Total
EEEMKER
ESER Hs# He 2 MERL SRR At
HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FHET FHET FET
Year ended 31 March 2023 HZ2023F3831ALEE
Chairman and chief executive officer TERTHEH
Mr. Wong Sai Chuen TFEE 240 1,980 1,555 18 3,793
Executive directors UTES
Mr, Wong Kin Kei ERHEEL (i) 100 1,700 300 18 2,118
Ms. Hui Man Yee Maggie Ry o 240 1,380 1,405 18 3,043
Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo REHEL i - 2,400 200 18 2,618
Independent non-executive directors BIFHTES
Mr. Cheung Chi Man Dennis REXEE 216 - - - 216
Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen Gz AL i 216 - - - 216
Mr. Law Chun Yat BRBgEE 180 - - - 180
1,192 7,460 3,460 72 12,184

HEEEAR 20245EHRE 203



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

30. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF 0. EEENRER &)
DIRECTORS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s

(@) EERBETRAEME (&)

emoluments (Continued)
Note:

(i) Dr. Sung Tak Wing Leo retired as an executive
director of the Company on 18 August 2023.

(i) Mr. Chan Charles Cham Chuen retired as an
independent non-executive director of the Company
on 18 August 2023.

(iiy  Mr. Siu Chi Wai has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company
on 9 November 2023.

(iv)  Mr. Wong Kin Kei retired as an executive director of
the Company on 2 September 2022.

The executive directors’ and chief executives’
emoluments shown above were mainly for their
services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company and the Group. The
independent non-executive directors’ emoluments
shown above were mainly for their services as
Directors.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the
Directors as an inducement to join, or upon joining
the Group, and no compensation was paid or
receivable by directors or past directors for loss of
office as director of any member of the Group or of
any other office in connection with the management
of the affairs of any member of the Group during
both years.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

30. BENEFITS AND INTEREST OF
DIRECTORS (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

Save as disclosed in Note 30(a), the Directors did
not receive any retirement benefits or termination
benefits during the financial year (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available Directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company
did not pay any consideration to any third party for
making available Directors’ services (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and
other dealings in favour of Directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such Directors

As at 31 March 2024, there are no loans, quasi-loans
or other dealings in favour of Directors, controlled
bodies corporate by and connected entities with
such Directors (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in
transactions, arrangements or contracts
No significant transactions, arrangements and
contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company was a party and in which a
director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year (2023: Nil).

0. EER/ALER (#)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

EERNEBEANRRLEF

BRE(TFESO() TR EE SN EMRFERN - &
FRAWBUE R KR F A2 1IERR F (2023
FoE) -

DERUMEEREQFE=ZSRULNK
=

H E2024F3AMHEFEERN AR A WARFE
ERHEEREMEME=H M HEM
RAB (20234 : &) o

FRUESE RESEFNEZEKRE
EEEAZRANER BUERR
HitXBHER

MR2024F3A31H MEBEUNESE TESHE
SR EERBEEE AT S ANTANER
HMUERKEMRZ S (20234 : £) -

ESRRS RSREGHTNEXRR
&=

RERKFAEAMER X2AH T FE
TRAERAKREXBEMNEARS L5
CERMEFRETEZTAEEKEHENE
Rz (20235 - &) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A BRI

31. CASH FLOWS INFORMATION 1. BERERER
(a) Cash generated from operations (a) EEEL RS
Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash BRETSRAEREEEESE (FTA)ZR
generated from/(used in) operations S FETE
2024 2023
20244 20234
Note HKD’000 HKD’000
bz FET FiET
(Restated)
(&gE75)
(Note 2)
(fieE2)
Profit before income tax B BT 15 74 A& A 1,749 4,128
Adjustments for: P
Depreciation on property, plant WE BEMEEITE
and equipment 7 533 1,089
Depreciation on right-of-use assets FREEEZTE 7 2,057 2,621
Fair value changes of a financial asset BRARBEFAERZ
at FVPL TREENAARER 437 )
Share-based payments LARS 15 7 Bt 9 2 A+ 874 -
(Reversal of provision)/provision for TREEREBEZ#ER
impairment losses on financial assets (B#E) (372) 548
Impairment loss on an intangible asset  #E & E R EE B - 2,421
Finance income — net B 5 Ud A — F 58 8 (3,268) (991)
Provision for employee benefit BRERBMNETZEE
obligations 272 298
Operating profit before working LEESEYHEIZ
capital changes: S 2,282 10,112
Trade and retention receivables 2 5 MR E ¢ WK 33,415 (44,163)
Deposits, other receivables and e Ha U RT3
prepayments (372) 614
Contract assets BHEE 66,891 (22,009)
Trade payables Z 'S0 (70,944) 57,996
Accruals and other payables JEET N H Ath B S 3R (1,362) 1,228
Contract liabilities BHEE 3,703 (13,238)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations &:EES (FifH)Z2HEE 33,613 (9,460)

206 SANBASE CORPORATION LIMITED - ANNUAL REPORT 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEME
A BRI

31. CASH FLOWS INFORMATION (continued) . REREXRER (&)

(b) Reconciliation of financing activities (b) METEZ2AMGX
This section sets out an analysis and the movements IREFE 5 T B E R B £20245F 22023
of liabilities from financial activities during the years FANALFERNCEE:

ended 31 March 2024 and 2023:

Lease liabilities

HEAE

HKD’000

FET

At 1 April 2022 20224 A1H 3,568
Cash flows ReRE (2,889)
Additions (Note 14(i) NE (HEE140)) 1,274
Finance costs B 75 AR 103
Exchange translation differences fERIREEE (32)
At 31 March 2023 202353 H31H 2,024
At 1 April 2023 R2023F4H1H 2,024
Cash flows RER=E (2,216)
Additions (Note 14(i)) NE (Baz140)) 4,245
Finance costs BF 75 AR 114
Exchange translation differences EHBRE=RE (46)
At 31 March 2024 R2024F3H31H 4,121
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

TEHEHE

Results

Revenue
Profit/(loss) before income tax

Income tax (expense)/credit

(Loss)/profit attributable to the
owners of the Company
for the year

Total comprehensive (loss)/income
attributable to the owners of
the Company for the year

Assets and Liabilities

Total assets
Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity attributable to the owners of FRAR AHA A

the Company for the year

i Restated

4
Year ended 31 March
HZE3AMBLEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 20234 20224 20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD’'000
FET FET FET FET FET
(Restated)
(&&E5)
(Note 2)
(Hzt2)
WA 428,077 517,599 413,122 481,286 638,030
B P S a7
(E518) 1,749 4,128 (6,833) (953) 28,062
R (AX) /& (1,030) (1,547) (413) 1,393 (6,321)
FRARBER A
ML (E1B) & F
(1,369) 751 (5,735) 397 16,224
FARDEHEE A
fEnEmE (R
hERF (1,133) 750 (5,626) 810 16,133
EERAE
As at 31 March
M3H31H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
2024 20234 20224 20214 20204
HKD’000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000 HKD'000
FET FET FET FET FET
(Restated)
(&&E5)
(Note 2)
(Hiat2)
EERE 266,360 334,481 287,042 265,409 370,858
BERE 122,376 190,328 144,893 116,204 218,653
BEFTE 143,984 144,153 142,149 149,205 152,205
FElE = 136,925 137,184  136,434* 142,484 141,791
* K E 5
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